Volume XVI, August 2019

**ISSN 2277-5218** 



## A Multidisciplinary Research Journal

Double-blind Peer Reviewed UGC CARE Listed Journal (Multidisciplinary Group D)





Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women Sector 36-A, Chandigarh

#### Patron

Dr Punam Suri Padma Shri Awardee Hon'ble President DAV College Managing Committee New Delhi

#### **Editor-in-Chief**

Dr Nisha Bhargava

#### **Editors**

Dr Neha Soi Dr Sagarika Dev Dr Mamta Ratti

#### **Subject Editors**

Dr Minakshi Rathore Dr Sarita Chauhan Dr Akanksha Tripathi Dubey Dr Bindu Dogra Dr Neetu Dr Shefali Dhiman Dr Gagandeep Kaur Dr Ritu Khosla Ms Mandeep Kaur Chawla Dr Sunaina Jain Dr Amandeep (Eco)

#### **Advisory Board**

Professor Amrik Sohal Department of Management Monash University, Australia

Professor Arun K. Grover Professor Emeritus Panjab Engineering College & Former Vice Chancellor Panjab University, Chandigarh

Professor Bhim S. Dahiya President The Shakespeare Association, India & Former Vice Chancellor, Kurukshetra University, Kurukshetra

Professor Deepti Gupta Dean Alumni Relations & Chairperson, Department of English and Cultural Studies Panjab University, Chandigarh

Professor Lisa Hopkins Professor of English and Head of Graduate School Sheffield Hallam University, UK

Professor Nima Rezaei, MD, PhD Professor of Clinical Immunology School of Medicine Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

Professor Pritam Singh, D Phil (Oxford) Department of Accounting, Finance and Economics Oxford Brookes Business School, UK

Professor Ronki Ram Shaheed Bhagat Singh Professor Department of Political Science Panjab University, Chandigarh

Professor R. S. Ghuman Chair Professor, Nehru SAIL Chair & Head Panchayati Raj Unit Centre for Research in Rural and Industrial Development (CRRID) Chandigarh

# NEW HORIZONS A Multidisciplinary Research Journal

# Double-Blind Peer Reviewed UGC CARE Listed Journal (Multidisciplinary Group D)

Volume XVI, August 2019



Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women Sector 36-A, Chandigarh Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women, Chandigarh, established in 1968, is a premier institution for women's education in North India. *New Horizons*, ISSN: 2277-5218, is a double-blind peer reviewed multidisciplinary research journal. It is published annually by the college and has been in circulation since 2005. The objective of the journal is to provide a critical forum/interface for diverse fields of thought and facilitate academic discussions.

#### **Submissions**

We invite authors to contribute research papers using predominantly the Harvard System. Title of the paper must be associated with complete affiliation of all the authors. Papers must be sent with a 150-300 word abstract, a 50 word bio-note of the author(s) and a certificate declaring that the work is an original piece of unpublished work.

#### For Languages, Social Sciences and Commerce:

• Length of the paper: 2500-5000 words approximately

# For Physics, Chemistry, Zoology, Botany, MFT, Computer Sciences and Psychology:

- Papers should be written in suitable sub-headings like Introduction, Methodology, Result and Discussion, Conclusion etc. Other than full papers, short research communications and reviews are also invited
- Certificate regarding all ethical issues also should be attached

For detailed guidelines visit www.newhorizonsjournal.com

Submissions and enquiries to be sent to: newhorizonsmcm@gmail.com

# **NEW HORIZONS** A Multidisciplinary Research Journal

#### Volume XVI, August 2019 ISSN: 2277-5218

#### Double-blind Peer Reviewed UGC CARE Listed Journal (Multidisciplinary Group D)

# Contents

1.	The Shadow of Politics in Arabic Children's Literature Prof Nisreen Anati, Amani Allouh and Tahani Allouh	01-17
2.	Implementation of Total Quality Management: Parameters for Suc Sanjiv Gupta and Prof Nilesh Arora	ccess 18-38
3.	ਈਕੋ–ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਵਿਧੀ ਦੇ ਮੂਲ ਸਰੋਕਾਰ Harmail Singh	39-50
4.	Microfinance, a Strategic Tool for Financial Inclusion Dr Praseeda Challapalli and A. Dineshwar	51-68
5.	Satire as a Weapon of Ridicule and Veiled Critique of Human Relationships in Praveensinh Chavda's <i>Hon'ble Minister Jagubha</i> . <i>Dr Sapna Dogra</i>	i 69-80
6.	Poetry of Protest: A study of the Translations of Faiz's Prison Poet Dr Ritu Sharma	ery 81-92
7.	The Role of Visual and Haptic Sense in Influencing Impulsive Buying Behaviour <i>Disha Sharma</i>	93-111
8.	Reaffirming Right to Life: A Sociological Study of the Safety Concerns of School Children in Chandigarh, India Dr Minakshi Rana	112-125

9.	Employee Engagement and its Relationship with Organizational Effectiveness: Revisiting Literature <i>Kamakshi Malik and Prof Rakesh K. Wats</i>	126-138
10.	Consumer Buying Behaviour towards Mobile Phone Attributes: A Study of Young Population of Tricity Dr Kiran Jindal	139-153
11.	Developing a Skilled Workforce for GST Practices Kritika Tekwani and Dr Rinku Raghuvanshi	154-162
	Note on Contributors	163-164
	Editorial Policies	165-167
	Subscription Order Form	

1

#### The Shadow of Politics in Arabic Children's Literature

Prof Nisreen Anati Dept of Language and Literature and Amani Allouh and Tahani Allouh Graduate Students, Curriculum and Instruction Program Community College of Qatar College of Education-Qatar University, Qatar

This study examines the presentation of political issues in picture books for Arab children, specifically issues related to the Arab Spring. In addition, it investigates whether such historical events have influenced the rate of production of Arabic literary texts. A growth in both quality and quantity is noticeable, and is attributable to generous administrative enticements like translation grants and book awards. Globalization and media interest also play a role in the promotion of multicultural literature, including Arabic literature. Many of the pre-selected Arab children's books analyzed here present political issues in a symbolic way, encouraging young Arab readers to be hopeful and strong amidst their war-torn environments.

Keywords: Arabic children's literature, Arab Spring, politics of war

#### Introduction

Like any other literature, Arabic children's literature has been influenced by the political, social, and historical events in the region. Arabic children's literature refers to picture books that deal with contemporary issues relevant to Arab children. This study highlights the factors that may have affected the content and rate of production of literary books for Arab children in the last decade, particularly in the Middle East, post the Arab Spring. Additionally, it aims to describe the manner and mode of presenting political reality in books written for young Arab readers during or post the Arab Spring. The Arab Spring erupted quietly in 2010 following a brewing storm of economic, political, civil and social problems in the region. It is made up of a succession of uprisings that arose autonomously, beginning in Tunis on December 17, 2010, and quickly igniting in Egypt, Libya, Yemen and finally Syria on March 18, 2011 (Jamshidi, 2014: 8-14). This paper reflects on the following research questions:

- What is the manner and mode of presenting political reality in Arabic picture books?
- Are Arab Spring inspired political events presented in Arabic children's books?
- What factors contributed to the increase in production of Arabic children's literary books? Did the Arab Spring play a role in this?

### Arabic Children's Literature

While some critics contend that Arabic children's literature has existed inconclusively, meaning thereby that it was not settled or developed in a certain form, others affirm that the appearance of children's literature in Arabic-speaking countries was influenced by 17<sup>th</sup> century Europe, as well as the start of translation of literature into Arabic. Biqa'ei (2003) claims that Arabic literature is in fact a direct outcome of the pervasiveness of children's literature in both France and Europe in the 17<sup>th</sup> century and acknowledges Ahmed Shawqi, Al Tahtawi, and Mohammad Ali as the key figures in the creation of Arabic children's literature.

On the other hand, Al Kilani (1998) believes that Arabic children's literature originated through Islam as narrators borrowed their content from the holy Qur'an, which comprised of stories of prophets and ancient nations. Al Faisal (2001) alternatively believes that Arabic children's literature started as rhyming poetry as opposed to the genre of fiction.

According to Al Kilani the concept "children's literature" had not been defined clearly until 1920s. The period between 1920s and 1970s witnessed a scarcity of literature for children with an exception to the contributions of Egyptian author Kamel Kilani. Hi works include comic stories for children, adaptations from *The Arabian Nights*, Indian stories, translations from Shakespeare, and many other stories like *Gulliver's Travels* and *Robinson Crusoe*. His input also includes scientific fiction and rediscoveries, old Arab stories rewritten for children and much more (Mdallel, 2004). The genre then developed swiftly between 1970 and 2000. By then, several high quality literary works had become available in the Arab world. These works were inspired by the enterprises, adventures and sufferings caused by the hard living conditions in the Arab world.

Despite the difference in the origins of formal children's literature for Arabs and Europeans, the style of literary writing is similar. The Arab World followed in the footsteps of the European educational system after colonization (Mdallel, 2013). While Arabic children's literature has matured in terms of form, its production and distribution remain stunted. Lindsey (2013) hypothesized that the scarcity of quality books within the Arabic culture was the main reason for the lack of popularity of Arabic literature globally. However, readers and critics of Arabic literature have noticed a growing interest in the writing of Arabic literature in the past decade (Qualey, 2010; Holland, 2011; Anati, 2012; Lindsey, 2013; Simon, 2015). Those who have been keeping track of the generation rate of translated literary works, such as Banipal Magazine, have witnessed a similar rapid growth. For example, Büchler and Guthrie report that nearly 300 texts in various genres (poetry, fiction, short stories, memories and essays) were produced in the last 20 years(2011: 20). Likewise, the review of literature conducted for this study revealed that book entries for popular Arabic children's awards have more than doubled in the past few years, for example, Etisalat's first cycle included fewer than 20 books whereas in its latest cycle, ten years later, it includes 166 book entries.

Several reports indicate that the number of Arabic fiction books, in their original language as well as in English translation, has increased, although theories regarding the reasons for this growth differ. Some argue that there is a kind of reawakening taking place in the Arab World, particularly in the oil-rich Arabian Gulf states such as Qatar, UAE, Saudi Arabia, and Kuwait (Qualey; Holland; Lindsey, 2013; Anati, 2019). Others attribute the increased attention to the globalization phenomenon. Holland and Simon see it as a two-way interest between the West and the East, asserting that circulating translated literature can help cultures better understand and appreciate each other, thereby fostering cultural exchange. A third group looks at this growth from a different angle, assuming that the historical events that have occurred during the last couple of decades (particularly the Palestinian Nakba; the September 11, 2011, attacks in the US; the Gulf Wars; and the Arab uprisings in the Middle East) and the media buzz covering such circumstances, played a role in grabbing writers' attention and inspiring them to write about such events (Büchler and Guthrie, 2011; Anati, 2019). A detailed description of the main factors that influenced the growth of Arabic children's literature is given as follows.

#### Arab Literary Incentives and Reawakening

Since 2007, several interior administrative initiatives have been launched to accelerate the production of quality literature in Arabic. This reawakening stems from an inner Arabic cultural influence and has nothing to do with outer forces. Arab scholars and linguists emphasize the need to return to one's Arabic roots, authenticity and pride in Arabic language.

Some reports contend that Arabic writing has not got more consideration worldwide because of the shortage of books created within the Arabic culture. As indicated by Lindsey, the U.N.- supported "Arab Human Development Report painted a bleak picture in 2003 of the Arab cultural and academic landscape" (1). It labeled translation in Arabic nations as 'chaotic and static'. Although Arabic organizations censured the U.N. report, they acted in response to it. Additional efforts have been made since 2007 in the region to promote the production of authentic Arabic literature. Most notably, several Arabic regions have announced generous book prizes, established new publishing houses, organized literary festivals and book fairs, and facilitated print and writing workshops. Additionally, some regions have created new literary translation programs.

For example, Qatar built a Translation and Interpreting Institute in Qatar Foundation. In Abu Dhabi, an initiative called *Kalima* has led to the translation of 330 general information books into Arabic so far. In consort with the undertakings to translate reputable works from other languages into Arabic, there is also a push toward translating both Arabic fiction into Western tongues in order to widen the scope of these works.

Moreover, a number of local distinguished prizes have been devoted solely to children and young adult Arabic literature. In 2010, the Anna Lindh Euro-Mediterranean Foundation announced a prestigious book award called *Reading Here, There, and Everywhere*, which invites Arab authors to produce high quality Arabic children's literature. Likewise, *The Etisalat Prize* for Arabic children's literature, announced in 2010 by the UAE National Chapter of the International Board on Books for Young People (UAEBBY), provides an additional incentive to authors in the Arab World. A variety of other literary prizes have been instituted to further promote interest in Arabic children's literature like the *Kitabi/My book* 

*Prize*; the *Sharjah Children's Book Award*; and the *Sheihk Zayed Award* for creative writing and children's literature.

Besides the Arabian Gulf prizes, there exist several influential prizes in different Middle Eastern countries such as Egypt and Jordan. *Suzanne Mubarak's* Award for children's literature invites creative and talented people to contribute to the emergence of a new generation of children's books that can engage children and encourage them to read. Lebanon offers several awards as well, including the *Lebanese Child Award*; the *IBBY-LebanonBeirut World Book CapitalAward* for the best book published in the last three years in Lebanon; and the Arab Thought Foundation's *ARABI 21 Award*. Jordan's *Abdul Hameed Shuman's Award for Children's Books* is another Middle Eastern endeavor aimed at encouraging the production of quality children's literature. According to Pulitzer Prize finalist Dave Eggers, "there's a kind of renaissance taking place among young Arab writers...we need their voices more than ever before" (as quoted in Holland, 2011:1).

#### **Political and Historical Events**

Essoulami mentioned notable political events and conflicts that correlate with the increase of Arabic literature (2009: 1). The first and most influential event is the establishment of the state of Israel in 1948 and ensuing wars, civil struggles and the Gulf War, the development of a politicized Islam, and the oil explosion. These events include, most recently, civil uprisings that have occurred in several Arabic countries starting from Tunisia in 2011 followed directly by the Egyptian Revolution.

The literary surge in the Arab World includes a number of new titles that were created after the Gulf War and the September 11 attacks in the United States, and the surge is expected to continue as a result of the Arab Spring. As I mentioned in a previous article, when I was an Arabic language lecturer in an American university at the time, I noted that study of the Arabic language in the U.S. was "overlooked" prior to events on September 11, 2001 (Anati, 2010: 179). After the September 11 attacks, however, interest in Arabic books and language increased. In the years following 9/11, Western readers were progressively interested in literature from the Middle East, a tendency that was to some degree driven by the international achievement of the top of the line Arabic novel *The* 

*Yacoubian Building*. In today's world, multicultural literature is indeed desired more than ever before. According to Millar, "hearing another's story has the potential to deflate our self-importance, making room for other perspectives" (2014: 31).

With the international media spotlight turned on the Arab World, Westerners have been more interested than ever in reading books from Arabic regions. As a result of war inside Syria, for example, "there are some great Syrian books that are getting attention, like Khalifa's *In Praise of Hatred* and Sirees's *The Silence & The Roar*" (Qualey, 2010). Notwithstanding the interest in literature being connected with the news broadcast, Qualey claims, "the surge in interest also means the professionalization of more translators, more publishers who are getting Arabic readers on board, and a general tuning-in to the fact that Arabs write books" (as quoted in Lindsey, 2013: 3).

The English-language international news stations have concentrated formerly on Iraq, and more recently, on Syria, Egypt, Palestine, Yemen, Tunisia, and Libya, and the result of this attention is that Westerners' curiosity about Arab cultures remains high (Holland, 2011). Even violent terrorist attacks that occurred in Europe, such as shootings and bombings in France, inspired some authors to write stories to raise awareness of the pressure practiced against Muslims in Europe. One example is Faiza Guene's young adult novel *Kiffe-Kiffe Tomorrow* (2006), which paints a portrait of Muslims living in France. Moreover, instability in the Middle East has led to the migration of many of its residents (Suleiman, 2000: 3). In fact, extraordinary numbers of refugees, settlers, and immigrants all through the Middle East have already merged with the substantial and lively Arabic communities in Europe and America.

### Presenting Political Reality in Arabic Picture Books

All books reviewed for this paper were published between 2011 and 2017. Selected titles were derived from the Etisalat winning children's picture books and the Sheikh Zayed shortlisted picture books. These are among the most notable prizes for children's literature in the Arabic world. The winning and shortlisted picture books for both prizes are commonly acknowledged by teachers, educators, librarians and other cultural critics as being vastly dependable books. The chosen books were selected by researchers based on their discussion of Arabic cultural subjects, age-appropriateness and availability.

This study is based on a total of 26 Arabic books including seven award-winning picture books from Etisalat; one book representing each year/cycle from 2011 to 2017. As for the Sheikh Zayd collection, 19 books involving the entries of the shortlisted picture books per year, were reviewed for the present study. Due to space constraint, three shortlisted titles will be analysed in depth; *The Bee-Eater* (2015), *Looking for Ghannam, the Falcon* (2015), and *Fest in a Jug* (2014). actoppositionviolencepeople areacountrypower

The texts mentioned above are explored by means of content analysis; it is described as an appropriate method of analysis as it is "used to interpret meaning from the content of text data and, hence, adhere to the naturalistic paradigm" (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005: 127). Furthermore, content analysis offers a subjective, methodical procedure used for unfolding content, and it "provides new insights, increases researcher's understanding of particular phenomena, and informs practical actions" (Krippendorff, 2013: 24). Data analysis procedure involved a couple of stages, "initialization" and "reflection." In the first phase, the researchers would read and reread sections and books, highlight anything considered important information. Generally, they answer questions such as:

- What is the manner of presenting the book's message?
- What is the mode of presenting the political reality?
- ✤ What is the text's general theme?
- ✤ What is the text's setting?

By exploring the association between literature and politics produced for young readers during the Arab Spring, the content analysis of a collection of Arabic winning and shortlisted picture books suggests that the manner of presenting political issues in children's literature often portray political elements in a symbolic manner. Some stories discuss common themes such as celebrating a feast (e.g., Eed fi ibreq/ *Fest in a Jug*) or losing of a bird (e.g., Albahth 'an Al Saqr Ghannam/*Looking for Ghannam, the Falcon*) or chasing an animal (e.g., Ta'er al Warwar/*The bee-eater*). However, these same stories, if read symbolically, can imply the miserable living conditions in war-torn Arab countries.

The following three books, shortlisted in the Sheikh Zayed Book Award for children's books may be used to further differentiate between symbolic and literal meanings.

## The Bee-Eater/طير الوروار/by Hassan Abdallah:

This story describes a small bird that is shot and falls in front of three young boys



Figure 1 The Bee-Eater

who chase it before it hides amidst the bushes. The boys then accidentally cause a huge fire that burns the area down. The literal message of this story is to educate children the value of animal welfare and the protection of the environment. However, at the symbolic level, a reader can connect the life of this weak bird to the lives of injured Arab children, as a result of violent attacks in the region. The book may also symbolize the ways in which "fire" was used fiercely to kick children out of their homeland.

*Fest in a Jug عيد في ابريق/ by Nouf Alosaimi:* 



Figure 2 Fest in a Jug

In *Fest in a Jug*, the book tells the story of a Muslim girl who starts to learn about the sacred holiday celebrated by Muslims, *Eid Aladha*. The main character, Samaa, resides in a large children's orphanage, she habitually holds a tiny colored jug that she imaginatively uses to hide herself into when she is upset. The girl decides to travel to her grandmother's house to celebrate *Eid Aladha*, and thinks of bringing the feast back in her pitcher to share with her companions in the orphanage. Symbolically, Sama's story represents the dream of thousands of refugee children who became orphans during the war, and who wish to escape their miserable lives in the refugee camps to celebrate their holidays with their relatives.

Looking for Ghannam, the Falcon / البحث عن الصقر غنام by Lina Hawyan:



Figure 3 Ghannam, the Falcon

Furthermore, *Looking for Ghannam, the Falcon*, is a story about a lost falcon in the desert, but the story also symbolizes the feelings of many children who lost their parents during the wars and found themselves, like Sabah (the book's main character), all alone in the desert or in the sea. The story reminds the readers of poignant death of a Syrian baby Ilan, who was found lying face-down on a beach near a Turkish resort on September 2, 2015.

As Dünges (2011) asserts, other Arabic picture books "uplift the reader" and make more personal statements that "have less to do with the actual politics of the revolution and more to do with the future of the Arab children" (173). Books such as *Hulagu Goes to School, The Oppressed Princess*, and *The Heart of the City* reinforce Dünges's statement.

It is apparent from the content analysis of the chosen texts that most Arab writers of young children's fiction are inspired by the political events in the region. At the same time, they aim to empower young Arabic readers to stay strong mentally and

emotionally in war-torn environments. In this collection of winning picture books, heroic protagonists and appealing drawings softly tackle tough circumstances, allowing youngsters, who find themselves entangled in harsh situations, to seek relief by identifying themselves with the characters of these picture books.

Following is an in-depth discussion of seven Etisalat's winning picture books to further demonstrate how Arab writers have tackled difficult, yet critical, issues in an empowering and uplifting way.

Fly O Kite/هايري يا طيره by Amani Al Ashmawi, 2011:



Figure 4 Fly O Kite

After the death of her parents, nine-year-old Zahraa moves to live with her father's cousin in a remote village in Alexandrea, Egypt. Although her uncle Salah and his wife, Zainab, are very nice to her, she finds it difficult to adapt to her new life and never stops mourning her parents. She spends the first week doing nothing, and says that she cried and cried endlessly. After meeting a boy called Abdulrahman though, her life quickly changed for the better as he teaches her how to cope with her loss. Abdulrahman suggests her to write her feelings on a kite and then release it into the sky. This art therapy described above is a creative outlet for Arab children struggling with the harsh circumstances of their lives. Creative mediums such as drawing and writing give these children a free and non-threatening space to deal with their emotional and psychological issues.

Creatures on the Ceiling/كائنات سقفالغرفة/by Nabiha Mheidly, 2012:



Figure 5 Creatures on the Ceiling

Eight-year old, Kareem lives in poverty and views something (not identified in the story) that keeps him from falling asleep. He learns how to turn the spotted, peeling ceiling in his bedroom into various creatures with whom he interacts until he falls asleep. One night, Kareem could not see any of the creatures on the ceiling. He feels upset that his father had completely painted the room. He is disappointed because he will no longer be able to spend happy times with his imaginary friends. Finally, he thinks of another idea to help himself have peaceful sleep. He decides to invest his imagination and creative thinking in writing stories about the visionary creatures.

Kareem's story is dedicated to youngsters who have lived in poverty and undergone or witnessed a traumatic event. In general, this story seems to suggest that despite having limited resources, simple and novel ideas can be incorporated to make life easy-going and happy. It inspires young children to discover themselves by recording their thoughts and ideas on paper. The story creates hope for poor children by emphasizing the lesson that small ideas can make great people. Sharing texts similar to this may aid Arab youngsters riddled with personal difficulties to find constructive escapes and inventive resolutions to overcome their personal sorrows. When You Get Angry/ عندما تغضب by Duniazad Al Sa'di, 2013:



Figure 6 When You Get Angry

Hady (the Arabic word for calm, paradoxically), is the name of a boy who is always angry, stressed and poorly behaved. He breaks his toys, hits other kids, and screams all day. Whenever he tries a tactic to cool down, things get even worse until one day, while sitting at his desk full of anger and frustration, he snatches a handful of coloring pencils and begins drawing in all directions; this drawing strategy makes him completely calm. He discovers that singing and writing about the things that bother him or scare him are a powerful stress-relieving therapy. *When You Get Angry* is another story which enables Arab youngsters to deal with stress and anger, which has snowballed in the recent times due to the traumatic life conditions in their Arabic war-torn countries.

My Mom Likes Fattoush/ أمي تحب الفتوش by Eva Kuzma, 2014:

Figure 7 My Mom Likes Fattoush

This book describes what it means to be generous to others in need, even at your own expense. The little girl and narrator of this story wonders why her mother never indulges in her favorite dish, *fattoush* and why her plate is always empty. The sacrifice of this super generous mother, giving her portion of food to her guests, represents the openhandedness of Arab women and the role they undertake in supporting one another in the face of poverty and hardships. This book educates Arab children to appreciate the meaning of sacrifice and community in their own neighborhoods. The story ends with the young narrator realizing that her mother loves *fattoush* but she loves her family and neighbors even more.

Me and Mah/ أنا و ماه by Ibtehaj Al Harthi, 2015:



Figure 8 Me and Mah

This book celebrates life and explains the phenomenon of death to children. In the beginning, the little boy Azzan and his grandmother "Mah" do things together and clearly share a close bond. Suddenly though, Mah dies and Azzan struggles to cope up with the loss. He asks his mother questions like "Is Mah asleep now?" The rest of the book is a dialogue between Azzan and his mother, who tries to answer his questions honestly and sensitively. She advises her son Azzan to remember his grandmother by doing the things they loved to do together and to honor her memory. The book suggests that caregivers should try to help children see how tragedy can move us to action and accentuate our appreciation for the lost person or object in a respectful manner. Creating a book about children's psychology can encourage discussions about death between Arab youngsters and their guardians, caretakers or parents. It can likewise enable Arab readers to work through their feelings of perplexity and grief.

by Nabiha Mheidli, 2016: احم احم مررنى من فضلك /by Nabiha Mheidli, 2016



Figure 9 Excuse Me Give Way

This book imparts a lesson that human respect can be secured and a healthy community can be accomplished if human rights are ensured and duties are met with. It opens discussion around the following questions : What does living in a group mean? In the event that we live, would we be able to do whatever we want? Is there something we, as Arab community, would like to change right now? Karkar, a little active monkey helping other animals on the neighboring seashore, is not at all pleased with the behavior of some irresponsible citizens who often block the path. These other animals force him to pause and ask them to give way, saying each time 'Excuse me, give me way.' In contrast, good-behaving animals apologize, allowing him to cross the road. His friend Zakzak offers him a trumpet to alert pedestrians ahead of time to save him time and effort. Although Karkar gives it a go and the idea works well as planned, he still feels unhappy. Ultimately, he realizes he is missing an important social emotional aspect. He is no longer meeting everyone, shaking hands with, or chatting with any of his neighbors. At the end, he decides to return the trumpet to Zakzak and continues to tolerate any unkind behavior for the sake of the unity of his beloved community. This book has a clever and effective message about how to handle conflict and set a good example. The book generally aims at teaching children the true meaning of loyalty to one's community and being tolerant, kind, and polite to everyone.

Two Homes Instead of One/ لي بدل البيت بيتان by Lorca Sbeity, 2017:



Figure 10 Tow Homes Instead of One

This book deals with a social/psychological problem that many children in today's societies encounter. It tells the story of six-year old Adam, whose parents always fight and eventually get divorced. Adam remains positive and happily states that he has two homes instead of one. The author emphasizes that young children take tough news in their stride as long as situation is discussed with them in an honest and friendly manner. Although the story of Adam discusses the issue of separation as a result of parents' divorce, it also plumbs the feeling of children after being deprived of one of their parents, which might be similar to the feeling of children who lose their parents in war or in prison. Reading such stories will make young readers more aware of proper ways of treating other children like Adam in an amiable manner and not ostracizing them.

## Conclusion

It is noted that literature written for contemporary children mirrors the diversity of the society it originates from. According to Stover, "the issues with which the characters in books wrestle are of significance in our ever-changing world" (1996: 5). The content analysis of the Etisalat and Sheikh Zayed winning and shortlisted Arabic picture books investigated in this study reveal that a number of Arabic picture books discuss common subjects such as good manners, friendship, family, celebrations, etc., that can be found in literature written for young children irrespective of culture or religion And yet these same stories, if read metaphorically, also reflect the miserable living conditions in war-torn Arabic cities.

In other words, the political content pertaining to the uprisings shows a morbid, gloomy reality of war, although these themes are often represented symbolically in the Arabic picture books. Notably, a great deal of such books suggest, in myriad ways, various simple but at the same time creative strategies to empower and uplift young readers to live peacefully in the midst of the chaos of their war-torn countries. Through the discussion above, the present study concludes that the recent rise in the readership and number of Arabic picture books, whether in their original language or in English translation, is tied to current political happenings such as the Arab Spring.

#### Works Cited

- Anati, N. (2010) 'Teaching through the conflict: Examining the value of culturally authentic Arabic young adult literature,' Janet, A (ed.) Young Adult Literature and Adolescent Identity Across Cultures and Classrooms: Contexts for the Literary Lives of Teens, New York: Routledge: 63-80.
- ---. (2012) 'Arabic young adult literature in English,' *Arab World English Journal*, 3(2), http://www.awej.org/images/AllIssues/Volume3/Volume3Number2June2012/8.pdf, Accessed on 7 September 2018: 168-93.
- ---. (2019) 'The influence of the Arab Spring on Arabic YA literature,' *Children's Literature in Education*, 50(3), doi: 10.1007/s10583-9326, Accessed on 3February 2020: 223-39.
- Alqudsi, T. (1988) The History of Published Arabic Children's Literature as Reflected in the Collections of Three Publishers in Egypt, 1912-1986, Austin: University of Texas.
- Al Faisal, S. (2001) الترجمة للطفل العربي [Translation for Arab children], Kuwait: Al Majles Alwatani Lilthaqafa Wa Alfonoun Wa Aladaab.
- Al Kilani, N. (1998) أدب الأطفال في ضعب و الأسبسيالام [Children's Literature in Light of Islam], Beirut: Mu'assat Al Resallah.
- Biqa'ei, E. (2003)(قصص الأطفال (ماهيتها, اختيار ها, كيف نرويها) [Children's Stories: What are they, How to Choose them, and How to Tell them], Beirut: Dar Alfiker Al Lubnani.
- Büchler, A., and Guthrie. (2011) 'Literary Translation from Arabic into English in the United Kingdom and Ireland, 1990-2010,' http://docplayer.net/24119041-Literary-translationfrom-arabic-into-english-in-the-united-kingdom-and-ireland.html,Accessed on 23 October 2017.
- Dünges, P. (2011) 'Arabic children's literature today: Determining factors and tendencies,' *Modern Language Association*, 126 (1), doi: 10.1632/pmla.2011.126.1.170, Accessed on 10 December 2018: 170-81.
- Essoulami, S. (2009) 'The press in the Arab World: 100 years of suppressed freedom,'*Al-bab*, http://al-bab.com/arab-media-historical-background, Accessed on 20 March 2018.
- El Kholy, N. (2006) 'Arab World,' in Jack, Z. (ed.) *The Oxford Encyclopedia of Children's Literature*, Oxford: Oxford UP.
- Guene, F. (2006) Kiffe-Kiffe Tomorrow, Wilmington: Mariner Books.
- Holland, J. (2011) 'Arabic literature in translation,' *The National*, November 27, http://www.thenational.ae/arts-culture/books/arabic-literature-in-translation, Accessed on 11 August 2017.

- Hsieh, H., and Shannon, S. (2005) 'Three approaches to qualitative content analysis,' *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(9), doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687, Accessed on 15 September 2018: 1277-88.
- Jamshidi, M. (2014) The Future of the Arab Spring, New York: Elsevier.
- Johnson, A. (2012) 'Science fiction for young adults expands in the UAE,' The National, 5 March, http://www.thenational.ae/arts-culture/books/science-fiction-for-young-adults-expandsin-the-uae, Accessed on 20 October 2017.
- Krippendorff, K. (2013) Content Analysis: An Introduction to its Methodology, USA: SAGE Publications.
- Lindsey, U. (2013) 'A potential renaissance for Arabic translation,' Arabist, June 14, https://www.al-fanarmedia.org/2013/06/a-new-dawn-for-arabic-translation/, Accessed on 8 February 2017.
- ---. (2014) 'The novel after the Arab Spring,' *The New Yorker*, May 8, http://www.newyorker.com/books/page-turner/the-novel-after-the-arab-spring, Accessed on 20 October 2017.
- Millar, L. D. (2014) 'Building Bridges with Cultural Identity Literature,' The ALLAN Review, 41(3): 31-38.
- Mdallel, S. (2003) 'Translating Children's Literature in The Arab World: The State of the Art,' META, 48(2): 298-306.
- ---. (2004) 'The Sociology of Children's Literature in the Arab World,' *The Looking Glass: New Perspectives on Children's Literature*, 8(2), http://bravo.lib.latrobe.edu.au/ojs/index.php/tlg/article/view/177/176, Accessed on 17 October 2017.
- Qualey, L. (2010) 'I declare: The emergence of Arabic young-adult lit,'Arablit, December 7, http://arablit.org/2010/12/07/i-declare-the-emergence-of-arabic-young-adultlit/#comments, Accessed on 14 March 2017.
- Simon, G.A. (2015) 'Poetry and the Arab Spring,' PhD diss., City University of New York.
- Suleiman, M. (2000) 'Teaching about Arab Americans: What social studies teachers should know,' https://archive.org/stream/ERIC\_ED442714/ERIC\_ED442714\_djvu.txt, Accessed on 14 May 2017.
- Stover, T. L. (1996) Young Adult Literature: The Heart of the Middle School Curriculum, Portsmouth, NH: Boynton/Cook Publishers.

# Implementation of Total Quality Management: Parameters for Success

2

Sanjiv Gupta Research Scholar, University School of Business Chandigarh University, Gharuan and Prof Nilesh Arora University School of Business, Chandigarh University, Gharuan

Indian manufacturing companies competing with the world's best face the constant challenge of keeping the organization dynamic. Organizational evolution is difficult to achieve without a well-managed strategy. The adoption of quality management practices is one such strategy that has been seen to be effective. This study traces the implementation of Quality Management philosophy in the Indian manufacturing industry and the parameters required for its success. The authors focus on three factors- Management Commitment, Training & Education and Continuous Improvement and through the data collected establish their impact on the Successful Implementation of TQM. The authors use the survey method to understand the factors that guarantee the success of TQM in the automobile industry. At the micro level, the findings will facilitate successful TQM practices for all stakeholders while the implications at the macro level are directed towards a manufacturing organization desiring to achieve organizational growth through TQM.

*Keywords:* Total Quality Management, Management Commitment, Training & Education, Continuous Improvement, Success Factors

#### Introduction

In recent years, the business environment has been subjected to numerous technological, social and economic changes. Increasing competition, advances in technological input, constantly increasing demands and aspirations of the consumers, new trade agreements and barriers have ushered in many a new strategy of conducting business. Total Quality management (henceforth TQM) is one such strategy. TQM integrates various operations of a business so that the organization grows to offer new and better products in the market. TQM is a multi dimensional strategic methodology based on input from many experts who have devoted their careers to optimizing quality in business. Flynn et al. (1994) state that TQM is a

management philosophy that helps the organization to improve its business performance continuously, which is based on leadership, vision and plan statement, evolution, process control and improvement, quality system improvement, employee participation, recognition and reward, education and training, and customer focus. A large number of organizations carrying out different types of business in different working environments have attempted to implement TQM at various stages of their business. New startups, those growing a business with new technology and old businesses using old technology, have implemented TQM at some stage or the other. Abusa and Gibson (2013) argue that many multi-national companies have been able to boost their organizational performance by effectively adopting the practices of TQM. Organizational growth is tabulated through the key indicators that include customer performance, employee performance, financial performance, operational performance and environmental performance. Some of the efforts have been successful as their business has grown while others have not been very successful and could not get the desired results expected from of this philosophy. On one side called the 'Soft' side, TQM is associated with the concept of management commitment, process management, training and development and continuous improvement; on the other side, called the 'hard' side; it is associated with quality improvement techniques (Vouzas and Psyhogios, 2007). In order to implement TQM successfully, the soft side, being the long term issues must be adhered to according to the implementation plan. This should be ably supported by the hard side (Lagrosen and Lagrosen, 2005).

Various researchers have identified some critical success factors for the successful implementation of TQM (Munizu, 2011). Oza and Shiroya (2015) have identified top management commitment, customer focus, education and training, supplier quality management as critical for the implementation of TQM. Karla and Pant (2013) identified policy and strategic plan, quality leadership and customer focus and satisfaction as the success factors. Aletaiby et al. (2017) found that Customer focus, Training and Development, Continuous improvement, Top management commitment and Quality culture are the success factors in implementing TQM in the Iraqi Oil industry. Gherbal et al. (2012) identified five constructs which lead to the successful implementation of TQM. These are: organization commitment, communication to improve quality, training and development, employee involvement and recognition and work environment and organizational culture.

However, according to Alsaidi (2014), the perfect implementation of TQM standards in many oil companies in the Middle East is lower than expected though all required measures have been taken. Studies have been carried out by many scholars to establish a link between various factors and the implementation of TQM but the study lacks in the context of Indian manufacturing companies, especially Automobile companies. Since the business environment and legal laws in India are different from other countries, and Indian organizations have adopted this methodology, a study needs to be conducted to establish the success factors in implementing it. The researcher has tried to fill the gap in the literature by carrying out a case study on select Indian automobile companies by examining the relationship between the various success factors and TQM implementation.

The empirical study has been conducted in three organizations that have successfully implemented TQM. All these organizations have won various awards at the national and international level including the coveted Deming Prize. The study has been carried out to establish the correlation between various success factors – Management Commitment, Training & Education, Continuous improvement and Successful Implementation of TQM.

The paper begins with the literature review of the Total Quality Management methodology as explained by the Quality gurus, followed by various researches carried out wherein various success factors of the implementation of TQM have been discussed. Though different authors have found different factors, three factors which are common to a large number of research studies have been reviewed. After a brief review of the three success factors (Independent Variables) and TQM implementation (Dependent Variable), the hypotheses of the research study are stated. Data analysis and research findings follow the hypothesis. The paper concludes with the practical implications of the research findings and conclusions established.

#### **Review of Literature**

### **Origin of the Total Quality Management concept**

Total quality is an approach designed to improve the effectiveness and flexibility of an organization. This is possibly only when each stakeholder develops an attitude of improvement in his/her field of operation. Teamwork, involvement, ownership and communication are the key words of this methodology. Total quality can be achieved by infusing this culture in each employee of the organization. During the study of literature on TQM, five distinct areas of research emerged. These are: Total Quality management implementation and Frameworks, Use of Tools and Technique of TQM, Benefit obtained from TQM, ISO 9000 and related literature, Obstacles to TQM implementation (Dev, 2016).

Frias (2015) analyzed the critical factors which affect the implementation of TQM in the U.A.E. The result showed that management commitment is one of the success factors in the implementation of TQM. Yusof et al. (2003) investigated the extent of implementation of TQM in the Chinese industry. Better performance was shown by those companies who adopted TQM than those who did not adopt this methodology. Majority of the companies felt that their employee engagement has improved after implementation of TQM. Rahman (2001) studied the relationship between Success factors and TQM implementation in SMEs in Western Australia. It was reported that 'leadership', 'people', 'process', quality, services' and 'customer focus' are all significantly correlated with TQM implementation.

## Review of literature on obstacles to TQM implementation:

Instead of implementing Total Quality Management as a complete methodology, the organizations have adopted partial approach for its implementation. Some of the obstacles in its implementation are listed below.

### Lack of Management commitment

A key factor in implementation of TQM is the role of the top management team in creating a conducive organizational climate, values, behavior and culture (Crosby, 1979; Deming, 1986; Ishikawa, 1985). The absence of the commitment of senior management towards TQM implementation leads to a casual approach by the employees (Wilkinson et al., 1992).

### Lack of Training & Development

Many organizations consider the training of their employees, suppliers and other stakeholders as a cost rather than an investment (Dale and Cooper, 1994). (Ngwenya, 2016), states that if TQM is to be implemented, training and development of employees in the domain of their operation must be carried out at regular intervals. He is of the view that unless the employees are well versed in the

skills required for carrying out their work, improvement shall be short lived.

### Lack of Employee Empowerment:

Ngwenya (2016) states that TQM methodology encourages the management to delegate responsibility to teams and individuals while retaining authority and disciplinary control over employees. Wilkinson et al. (1992) state that any organization where the working environment is dominated by individualism rather than team spirit, the managers and employees will choose to serve their personnel interest rather than that of the company.

### Lack of Customer Focus:

According to Femi (2015), misunderstanding the concept of customer satisfaction, lack of knowledge about the benefits of customer loyalty and non realization of advantages of improvement in areas that add little or no value to the customer can also lead to TQM failure. Singh et al. (2012) identified obstacles in the implementation of Total Quality Management (TQM). The authors concluded that for the successful implementation of this methodology, the obstacles can be overcome through committed leadership, continuous improvement, better internal communication and improved employee involvement through training.

Different authors have stated different success factors for the successful implementation of TQM such as strong and committed leadership, change in culture through training and education of employees, customer focus and quality culture through continuous improvement. To carry out the empirical examination of the Success Factors (SF) that affects the implementation of TQM in an organization, the following factors were identified. The measurement statements of each factor were identified which were based on the various studies and the author's hands-on experience of implementing TQM. The impact of SF was studied using the three factors that are the Independent Variables (IV), namely:

- Management Commitment (MC)
- Training & Education (TE)
- Continuous Improvement (CI)

#### Management Commitment

The top management leadership performs the basic role of setting up the Quality Management (QM) objectives, provides necessary resources, formulates strategies for their implementation and reviews the implementation of the strategies (Mustafa, 2012). Management Gurus such as Deming (1986) and Feigenbaum (1982) have emphasized that the commitment of the Management plays a very vital role in implementing QM Strategies. Ahire and Ravichandran (2001) have stated that while successfully implementing TQM for enhancing the performance of the organization, the commitment of the top management is a primary factor. Chowdhury and Das (2007) have concluded in their study that the top management's commitment creates value for the organization. They hold that even in the companies which follow the TQM Methodology, the commitment of top management varies. In some companies it might be high and in some companies it might be low.

#### Training and Education

The rapid growth of technological innovation, development of new technology and improved processes has made training and education an essential part of organizations (Diaz, 2002). Research studies also conclude that the present market situation demands continuous up gradation of employee skills and capabilities. Learning helps in the acquisition of these capabilities and regular training helps the employees to use these capabilities for the organization's growth. Vermeulen and Crous (2000) have stated that the best way to infuse quality into an organization is to train its employees. The best structure is the top-down approach. This helps in understanding the TQM approach and shows management commitment to bring about a change by implementing QM process. Toni (2014) has stated that Training and Education is a powerful tool for the development of employees. It is an important factor to improve the various business parameters of the organization. Hence, it must be planned in a systematic way so as to enable the employees to implement QM methodology in a disciplined manner.

#### Continuous improvement

Continuous improvement is the ongoing improvement of products, services or processes through incremental and break through improvements. These efforts can seek "incremental" improvement over time or "breakthrough" improvement all at

once. Lahidji and Tucker (2016) state that since the 1980's continuous improvement has been a basic principle of the Quality Management system. The most widely accepted Quality Standard ISO 9000 also mandates Continuous Improvement as one of the essential ingredients. However, they observe that there is widespread support in the literature for the idea that continuous improvement is often lacking even in quality systems tuned to external standards such as the ISO. Though an ISO standard detects nonconformance, it does not lay emphasis on the improvement component as is being done in other awards like the Baldrige Award. The integration of improvement in standards as laid down in the Baldrige criteria shall help further improvements (Kartha, 2004).

### **TQMImplementation**

The implementation of TQM has been an important aspect in the growth of an organization. Bazrkar and Iranzadeh (2017) state that TQM focuses on continuous improvement so as to meet customer aspirations and provides superior value to the customer. Topalovic (2014) finds that the management of growing organizations is focusing on the implementation of TQM but there is no one way to implement it. The detailed implementation varies from business to business, but there are certain parameters which help implement TQM smoothly.

### Theoretical Framework

The Theoretical framework that has been drawn is shown in Figure 2.1. The framework indicates the dependence of TQM Implementation on the applicable parameters.



## Hypothesis

TQM plays a significant role in improving organizational health. If adopted in the true spirit, it can help in the growth of the organization at a faster pace. However, there are various obstacles which prevent the successful implementation of TQM in organizations. Similarly, there are many factors which help the organization to implement TQM successfully. The theoretical framework perceives that if these parameters are made a part of daily management, TQM can be implemented successfully.

## Management Commitment – TQMImplementation

Before strategizing to implement TQM, the management must commit to participate in the implementation process. Provision of resources in the form of infrastructure / manpower / software should be the top priority of the management. Review of the progress and adopting alternate routes in case of deviation from the set targets at regular intervals should be part of the process while implementing TQM. If the commitment is visible, the engagement of the employees will automatically improve. Hence the first hypothesis is:

H1: Management Commitment has a positive influence on the successful Implementation of Total Quality Management

## $Training \ and \ Education-TQM Implementation$

TQM methodology brings new challenges for the employees. Few of the areas may not have been explored by the employees earlier. To understand the new processes, training and education becomes an inseparable part of implementing TQM. Policy deployment which talks of objectives, strategy and action plan needs to be understood. The process of its implementation also requires a fair amount of training. Theoretically speaking, without training and education, it is very difficult to implement TQM successfully. Hence the second hypothesis is

H2: Training & Education is positively correlated to the successful implementation of TQM

## $2.4.3\ Continuous\ Improvement-TQMImplementation$

Organizational growth is possible only if all the business parameters are improved

on a continuous basis. Continuous improvement is achieved through Kaizen process, effective solution to any reported problem, continuous up gradation of processes, be it production, marketing or HR. Improvement in product quality helps the organization to improve customer satisfaction and grow. Holskog (2013) has stated that the management must motivate employees to learn. But it is necessary to take a long time perspective with an underlying understanding of people's natural need for achieving goals or goal orientation. Hence the third hypothesis is:

H3: Continuous Improvement has a positive influence on the successful implementation of TQM

### **Research Methodology**

The objective of this study is to examine the relationship between the three Critical Parameters and the successful implementation of TQM.

### Scope of Study

The study has been carried out on the following three organizations

- ✤ CEAT Ltd
- ✤ Ashok Leyland Houser unit II (ALH2)
- Mahindra Powerol(MP)

The aim of this study is to develop a relationship between the Implementation of TQM (Dependent Variable) and its parameters that determine success (Independent Variable). After a detailed review of the available literature on Total Quality Management and the various parameters of success, in consultation with practitioners and the author's personal experience, a set of items was developed to measure SF and TQM

## Instrument Development and Data Collection

The aim is to develop a tool for measuring the effect of the identified parameters on the successful implementation of TQM. To achieve this goal, a set of questionnaires was developed. To formulate the questionnaire, questions were adopted from the pool developed by Hunt (1993). The selected questions were related to the variables under study. Some of the questions were combined with questions developed by Terziovski (1999) who had tried to identify the relationship between TQM and other operational parameters. The draft questionnaire was examined by the industry experts and their comments were incorporated into the final version.

Survey method using structured questionnaire was used to collect primary data from the employees of the organizations. To ensure that each employee gets an equal chance of getting selected for the survey, the Random Sampling Technique was used. This helped to rule out systematic bias. The risk was further reduced by stratifying the sample so that employees from each area of operation and from all hierarchy levels are included in the survey.

The 5-point Likert scale was used to capture the perception of the respondents. The scale ranged from 1 to 5 indicating [1] as strongly disagrees and [5] as strongly agree. For a neutral perception, [3] was indicated. Only the employees who had been a part of pre and post era of implementing TQM were part of the survey. An average of 75 employees from each organization was requested to fill in the questionnaire. About 35 respondents responded to the survey. Since the perception of the individual was studied, hence the unit of analysis was one.

### **Research Instrument**

SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 22 was used to analyze the data. A preliminary analysis was conducted to ensure that there is no violation in normality, equality of variances and linearity. Reliability analysis has been done by calculating Cronbach's coefficient alpha value. Pearson Correlation and Multiple Regression analysis has been carried out to further analyze the data and verify the hypothesis

### **Data Analysis and Research Findings**

## **Reliability Analysis**

To determine the reliability of the measurement Cronbach's coefficient alpha value has been calculated. There are 15 items in each variable. The overall value of Cronbach's alpha for all independent variables is more than 0.775, which shows that the constructs are reliable to measure the customer satisfaction. The Alpha value of the dependent variable 'Implementation of TQM' is 0.788, which is in an

acceptable range.

**Descriptive Statistics for Independent and dependent Variables**: Results of Descriptive Statistics of independent and dependent variables and their characteristics in three organisations were as under.

*CEAT Ltd.:* The results show that the mean of the SF dimensions ranged from (4.07) to (4.17). Management Commitment (MC) has the highest mean (4.17) while Continuous Improvement has the lowest mean (4.07). It has a minimum score of (2) and maximum score of (5).

Ashok Leyland Houser Unit 2: Here too, the mean varies between 4.09 (TE) and 4.19 (CI) for the independent variables

*Mahindra Powerol (MP):* The mean value of the variables for the data collected from MP lies between 4.14 (TE) and 4.37(MC)

All the variables have a mean value more than the midpoint of the scale (Scale 1-5). This is true for all the three organizations. The Standard Deviation which is used to study the extent of spread is also less than one.

## Correlation Analysis and Multiple Regressions Analysis

Correlation analysis is a statistical measure of establishing relationship and its direction between two variables.

## Testing of Hypothesis

The hypothesis was tested by using the correlations and multiple regression analysis for establishing the relationships between various Success Factors (independent variables) and TQM Implementation (dependent variables).

Correlation Test results between SF and TQM are shown in Table 4.1, 4.2, 4.3.

*CEAT Ltd.:* A Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient was calculated to assess the relationship between the Customer Satisfaction and Quality improvement practices. The values or 'r' and 'p' shows a positive a strong, positive correlation between Implementation of TQM and Success Factors.

		Management Commitment	Training & Education	Continuous Improvement
	Pearson Correlation	.588	.595	.672
Customer Satisfaction	Sig.(2-tailed)	.029	.015	.025
	N	33	33	33

\*Correlation is significant at .05 level (2 - tailed)

Table 4.1: Correlation Test between QM variables and CS (CEAT)

Ashok Leyland Hosur Unit II: Similar analyses for Ashok Leyland Hosur Unit II gave the following results.

		Management Commitment	Training & Education	Continuous Improvement
	Pearson Correlation	.595	.614	.569
Customer Satisfaction	Sig.(2-tailed)	.013	.017	.022
	Ν	35	35	35

Table 4.2: Correlation Test between QM variables and CS (ALH2)
Image: Control of the second seco

This data also shows a positive relation between Implementation of TQM and Management Commitment, Training & Education and Continuous improvement.

*Mahindra Powerol:* The data collected from the respondents of Powerol gave the following results

		Manægement Commitment	Training & Education	Continuous Improvement
	Pearson Correlation	.657	.534	.678
Customer Satisfaction	Sig.(2-tailed)	.023	.018	.012
	Ν	35	35	35

Table 4.3: Correlation Test between QM variables and CS (MP)

This data also shows a positive relation between TQM implementation and other Success factors. The analysis of all the three respondent companies shows that there is a positive relationship between Implementation of TQM and implementation of Success Factors.

The result of correlation analysis indicates that there is a strong relationship between the independent and dependent variables. However, it does not identify the most significant variable for these relationships. To find the most significant relationship, multiple regression analysis was conducted between SF variables and TQM. To determine the importance of each independent variable and its impact on dependant variable, stepwise Multiple Regression analysis was used. Multiple regression analysis was conducted between SF (MC, T & E, and CI) as they are the independent variables and TQM which is a dependent variable.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R square	Standard Error of estimate	R square change
1	.588a	.345	.344	.322	.345
2	.654b	.427	.425	.306	.082
3	.679c	.461	.459	.276	.034

CEAT Ltd.:

a. Predictors: (Constant), MC

b. Predictors: (Constant), MC, TE

c. Predictors: (Constant), MC, TE, CI

d. Dependent Variable: TQM

Table 4.4: Results of Multiple regression analysis between QM Variables and CS (CEAT)
Table 4.4 shows that  $R^2$  adjusted value of 0.459 reveals that all the three factors proposed in this study, i.e. Management Commitment, Training & Education and Continuous Improvement, show 45.9% of the variance in Implementation of TQM as a dependent variable.

Ashok Leyland Houser Unit 2:

Model	R	R Square	e Adjusted R square Standard Error of estimate		R square change
1	.595a	.354	.352	.312	.354
2	.643b	.413	.411	.334	.059
3	.722c	.521	.519	.276	.108

a. Predictors: (Constant), MC

b. Predictors: (Constant), MC,TE

c. Predictors: (Constant), MC, TE, CI

d. Dependent Variable: TQM

Table 4.5: Results of Multiple regression analysis between QM Variables and CS (ALH2)

 $R^2$  adjusted value of 0.519 indicates that all these three factors explain 51.9% of the variance in TQM as a dependent variable in ALH2 (Table 4.5).

Mahindra Powerol:

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R square Standard Error of estimate		R square change
1	.657a	.431	.428	.408	.427
2	.713b	.508	.515	.337	.077
3	.778c	.605	.603	.314	.097

a. Predictors: (Constant), MC

b. Predictors: (Constant), MC,TE

c. Predictors: (Constant), MC,TE,CI

d. Dependent Variable: TQM

Table 4.6: Results of Multiple regression analysis between QM Variables and CS (MP)

Table 4.6 reveals that at Mahindra Powerol, the relation between independent and dependent variable is similar.  $R^2$  adjusted value of 0.603 indicates that all these three factors explain 60.3% of the variance in TQM as a dependent variable.

Summary of the results of the hypothesis												
	CEAT					Al	LH2		МР			
	Т	Sig	Beta	Result	Т	Sig	Beta	Result	Т	Sig	Beta	Result
Management Commitment	8.123	.002	.251	А	8.234	.002	.322	А	8.387	.002	.311	А
Training & Education	7.543	.001	.232	А	7.759	.001	.311	А	7.231	.001	.245	А
Continuous Improvement	6.865	.001	.227	А	8.544	.001	.345	А	7.682	.001	.267	А

Table 4.7: Results of Hypothesis

Table 4.7 indicates the three independent variables were found to contribute to the DV in all the three organizations under study.

Analysis of CEAT reveals that Management Commitment has the strongest contribution (B= .251, Sig = .002, R<sup>2</sup> adj = .344) which explained that it contributes 34.4% variation in dependent variable i.e. Implementation of TQM. Training & Education along with MC follows the Management Commitment (B= .232, sig = .001, R<sup>2</sup> adj = .425) explains 42.5% variation in TQM. The third variable is Continuous Improvement (B= .227, Sig = .001, R<sup>2</sup> adj = .459) which with MC and TE explains 45.9% of the variation in dependent variable.

Data analysis of ALH2 also reveals that Continuous Improvement along with MC and TE contributes ( $R^2 adj = .519$ ) 51.9% variation in TQM. The second contributor is Management Commitment contributes ( $R^2 adj = .352$ ) 35.2% of the variation. Third variable, Training & Education along with MC contributes ( $R^2 adj = .411$ ) 41.1% in the TQM.

Upon analyzing the data of MP, it has been found that the most significant variable is Management Commitment, which contributes 42.8% of the variation in dependent variable. Continuous Improvement is the second variable which along with Management Commitment and Training & Education contributes 60.3% in variation. Training & Education along with MC follows ( $R^2$  adj =.515) which

contributes 51.5% variation in TQM implementation.

Table 4.7 also shows the T Value, Significance, Beta Value and the decision.

H1: Management Commitment has a positive influence on successful Implementation of Total Quality Management

The above analysis proves that Management Commitment in all the three organisations have a positive impact on Implementation of Total Quality Management. Hence H1 hypothesis is accepted.

H2: Training & Education is positively correlated to the successful implementation of TQM

From the above analysis, it is concluded that Training & Education is positively correlated to Implementation of Total Quality Management in all the three organisations. Hence H2 hypothesis is accepted.

H3: Continuous Improvement has a positive influence on successful implementation of TQM

In a similar way, the data shows that Continuous Improvement also has a positive influence on implementation of TQM. Hence H3 hypothesis is also accepted.

Studying the data in detail, it is observed that though all the three variables have a positive effect on DV, yet the contribution of each of them varies from organization to organization. In CEAT Ltd. and Mahindra Powerol, Management Commitment plays the most vital role, where as in Ashok Leyland Houser Plant 2, the most significant factor is Continuous Improvement. However, the contribution of each factor is also different in each organization.

# **Discussion and Conclusion**

The manufacturing sector plays a vital role in the economic growth of a country. After the liberalization, when the Indian organizations were confronted by the demanding customer, implementation of TQM was an obvious choice. However, implementation of TQM has to be carried out carefully around overcome various obstacles. In this context, finding some parameters for success becomes imperative. In this study, the authors have analyzed the relationship among three factors which can play a positive role in the TQM implementation. Once the authors understood the ramifications of this paradigm, they turned their focus towards the impact of these factors on the implantation of TQM.

Management commitment – The three organizations have embarked on the journey of implementing TQM with complete commitment from the management. CEAT implemented TQM by following a Quality Based Management system. They were committed towards the formation of mission and vision and then strategizing to achieve them. The management of ALH2 planned the implementation by involving employees in the formation of short term and long term objectives. The management of MP was committed towards improving customer satisfaction by improving the product quality, improving the production process and launching new products in the market.

Training & Education – Training and Education was an important factor while implementing TQM in these three organizations. CEAT embarked on the training programme after finding the gaps between the required and present state for each employee. Similarly ALH2 deployed the strategy of imparting training in two ways - Technical and Managerial. In some areas the process was also outsourced.MP followed the process of educating all the stakeholders including the employees of suppliers.

Continuous Improvement- All the three organizations have shown improvement in all operational parameters. CEAT followed the strategy of implementing Kaizen in all fields and involved the workmen in improving and solving daily work problems. ALH2 formed Quality Circles to improve the processes and had set objectives for the improvement of all parameters. MP carried out improvements on the call from the field, customers, development team and quality team. MP feels that the production of Zero Defect components and end products will lead to the successful implementation of TQM.

Since most of the organizations under study are focused on implementing TQM on a sustainable basis, the three parameters of success are seen to act as catalyst to achieve the objective. Though the procedure followed by each organization for the implementation is different, the end results are almost similar. During the study, the authors also came across some interesting facts. While the top management and the senior management level officers were eying the successful implementation of TQM, the mid level team members were eying the individual rewards that would come with its implementation. The workers were keen to get recognized in public life, improve their self esteem by getting respect from others. All in all, the winds of change were impacting everyone. This is seen as the general trend in every organization. The findings of this study are similar to the findings of studies made by Karuppusami and Gandhinathan (2006; 372-385) in the manufacturing sector.

# Implications

One can establish both theoretical and managerial implications from the study. From the theoretical perspective, the results are consistent with the theories and the available literature.

The findings bear practical implications for the implementation of TQM. In this dynamic business environment, the Indian industry is facing stiff competition not only from the developed countries but also from developing countries. The organizations need to adopt the TQM methodology to ensure organizational growth and then sustain the growth pattern. For successful implementation, the organizations must consider the three parameters for success stated above. For successful implementation, the organization must encourage management commitment, training and education and continuous improvement.

The study is very useful for managers who wish to successfully implement TQM and win in this competitive world. Since these guidelines help to understand the parameters for success their adherence shall lead to the successful implementation of TQM.

# Scope for future study

This study was carried out on three organizations of the automobile sector. To substantiate the findings, further research can be carried out with the non-automobile manufacturing industries. The effect of these three parameters on the implementation of TQM in some other automobile companies can be studied and a realistic model can be drawn. Further studies can be carried out considering other parameters that may have an effect on the implementation process. Future research needs to encourage the development of sound theoretical models and instruments in order to guide the industry.

#### Works Cited:

- Abusa, F. M. and Gibson, P. (2013) 'TQM implementation in developing countries: A case study of the Libyan industrial sector,' *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 20 (5): 693-711.
- Ahire, S.L. and Ravichandran, T. (2001) 'An innovation diffusion model of TQM implementation,' *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 48 (4): 445-64.
- Aletaiby. A.; Kulatunga, U. and Pathirage, C. (2017) 'Key Success Factors of Total Quality Management and Employees Performance in Iraqi Oil industry,' http://usir.salford. ac.uk/43863/, Accessed on 4 January 2019: 668-79.
- Alsaidi, A. (2014) 'Benefits of Total Quality Management in mechanical working in oil companies in Libya,' *International Journal of Engineering Research and Social Technology*, 3(4): 241-47.
- Bazrkar, A.; Iranzadeh, S. and Farahmand, N.F. (2017) 'Total quality model for aligning organization strategy, improving performance, and improving customer satisfaction by using an approach based on combination of balanced scorecard and lean six sigma,' *Cogent Business and Management*, 14(1), DOI:10.1080/23311975.2017.1390818.
- Chowdhury, M.; Paul, H. and Das, A. (2007) 'Global Journal of Flexible Syst. Management,' https://doi.org/10.1007/BFO3396517, Accessed on 4 January 2019.
- Crosby, P.B. (1979) 'Quality Is Free: The Art of Making Quality Certain, New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Dale, B. G. and Cooper, C. L. (1994) 'Introducing TQM: the role of senior management,' Management Decision, 32(1), 20-26.
- Dev, S. (2016) 'A Study of Quality Management Practices in Electronics Industry of Northern India, http://hdl.handle.net/10603/171865, Accessed on 14 June 2019.
- Díaz, J.E.C. (2002) 'Importance of Training, Learning and Education for Total Quality Management (TQM) Implementation, http://acacia.org.mx/busqueda/pdf/2i.pdf, Accessed on 23 June 2019.
- Deming, W.E. (1986) Out of the Crisis, MA: Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge.
- Feigenbaum, A.V. (1982) 'Quality and business growth today,' *Quality progress*, 15(11): 22-25.
- Femi, O.T. (2015) 'Barriers and Benefits of Total Quality Management in the Nigerian Construction Industry: A Review,' *International Journal of Engineering Works*, 2(1): 7-13.
- Flynn, B.B.; Schroeder, R.G. and Sakabara, S. (1994) 'A framework for Quality Management research and associated measurement instruments,' *Journal of Operation Management*, 1(11): 339-66.
- Frias, M. and Al-sabek (2015) 'Critical factors affecting the implementation of Total Quality Management in Construction industry in U.A.E,' *Global Journal of Human Social*

*Science*, 5(5).

- Gherbal, N.; Shibani, A.; Saidani, M. and Sagoo, A. (2012) 'Critical Success Factors of Implementing Total Quality Management in Libyan Organizations,' Paper presented at International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management, Istanbul, Turkey, July 3-6 (26 July 2019).
- Holtskog, H. (2013) 'Continuous Improvement beyond the Lean understanding,' Forty Sixth CIRP Conference on Manufacturing Systems 2013,www.sciencedirect.com, Procedia CIRP 7,9,Accessed on 4 June 2019: 575-79.
- Hunt, V. D. (1993) *Managing for Quality Integrating Quality and Business Strategy*, IL: Irwin Professional Publishing.
- Ishikawa, K. (1985) What is Quality Control? Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Karla, N. and Pant, A. (2013) 'Critical Success Factors of Total Quality Management in the Indian Automotive Industry,' *International Journal of Economy, Management and Social Science*, 2 (8): 620-25.
- Kartha, C. (2004) 'A comparison of ISO 9000:2000 quality system standards, QS9000, ISO/TS 16949 and Baldrige criteria,' *The TQM Magazine*, 16(5): 331-40.
- Karuppusami, G. and Gandhinathan, R. (2006) 'Pareto analysis of critical success factors of total quality management: A literature review and analyses, *The TQM Magazine*, 18(4): 372-85.
- Mustafa, A. and Bon, A.T (2012) 'Role of top management leadership and commitment in total quality management in service organization in Malaysia: A review and conceptual framework,' *Elixir Human Resource management*, 51: 11029-33.
- Lahidji, B. and Tucker, W. (2016) 'Continuous Quality Improvement as a Central Tenet of TQM: History and Current Status,' *Quality Innovation*, 20(2): 157-68.
- Lagrosen, Y. and Lagrosen, S. (2005) 'The effects of quality management a survey of Swedish quality professionals, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 25 (10): 940-52.
- Munizu, M. (2011) 'Critical Total Quality Management in Manufacturing Companies: A case study in Makassar,' *Journal of Economics, Business and Accountancy*, 14 (2): 175-218.
- Ngwenya B, Sibanda V. and Matunzeni T (2016) 'Challenges and benefits of total quality management (TQM) implementation in manufacturing companies: A case study of delta beverages, in Zimbabwe,' *International journal* Original Res, 2(6): 296-307.
- Oza, H.S, Darshana and Shiroya, S. (2015) 'Critical Success Factors for TQM In Manufacturing Sectors: A secondary Data Analysis,' *International Journal in Management and Social Science*, 3(10): 214-29.

- Rahman, S-UR. (2001) 'Total quality management practices and business outcome: Evidence from small and medium enterprises in Western Australia,' *Total Quality Management*, 12(2): 401-10.
- Singh, I.; Ahuja, M.; Mandeep, K. and Kanwarpreet, S. (2012) 'An evaluations of the synergic implementation of TQM and TPM paradigms on business performance,' *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 62 (1): 66-84.
- Terziovski, M. and Samson, D. (1999) 'The link between total quality management practice and organizational performance,' *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 16 (3): 226-37.
- Toni. N. (2014) 'Role of Training & Education In Traditional TQM, https://prezi.com/ k8uxofpfs0mq/role-of-training-education-in-traditional-TQM-organization, Accessed on 12 September 2019.
- Topalovi, S.(2014) 'The implementation of Total Quality Management in order to Improve Production Performance and Enhancing the level of Customer Satisfaction,' *Procedia Technology*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protcy.2015.02.145, Accessed on 16 Sept 2019.
- Vermeulen, W. and Crous, M. (2000) 'Training and education for TQM in the commercial banking industry of South Africa,' Managing Service Quality: An International Journal, 10(1), 61-67, https://doi.org/10.1108/09604520010307058, Accessed on 4 August 2019.
- Vouzas, F. and Psyhogios, A.G. (2007) 'Assessing managers awareness of TQM,' *The TQM Magazine*, 19(1): 62-75.
- Wilkinson, A.; Marchington, M.; Ackers, P. and Goodman, J. (1992) 'Total Quality Management and employee involvement,' *Human Resource Management Journal*, 2(4): 1-20.
- Yusof, S. M. (2003) 'Total quality management advancement and critical success factors for implementation in manufacturing small and medium sized enterprise (SMEs),' *Final Report for RMC: VOT.*: 71663.

# ਈਕੋ–ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਵਿਧੀ ਦੇ ਮੂਲ ਸਰੋਕਾਰ

ਹਰਮੇਲ ਸਿੰਘ ਸਹਾਇਕ ਪ੍ਰੋਫ਼ੈਸਰ ਸਕੂਲ ਆਫ਼ ਓਪਨ ਲਰਨਿੰਗ ਪੰਜਾਬ ਯੂਨੀਵਰਸਿਟੀ, ਚੰਡੀਗੜ੍ਹ

ਸਾਹਿਤ ਨਿਰੰਤਰ ਗਤੀਸ਼ੀਲ ਹੈ। ਇਸ ਨੂੰ ਸਮੇਂ ਦੀਆਂ ਇਤਿਹਾਸਕ, ਭੌਤਿਕ ਸਥਿਤੀਆਂ, ਵਿਚਾਰਧਾਰਕ ਲਹਿਰਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਦਰਸ਼ਨ ਪ੍ਰਣਾਲੀਆਂ ਪ੍ਰਭਾਵਿਤ ਕਰਦੀਆਂ ਹਨ। ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਦੀ ਲੰਬੀ ਪਰੰਪਰਾ ਰਹੀ ਹੈ। ਸਮੇਂ ਸਮੇਂ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਦੀਆਂ ਨਵੀਆਂ ਵਿਧੀਆਂ ਵੀ ਵਿਕਸਿਤ ਹੰਦੀਆਂ ਹਨ। ਵਰਤਮਾਨ ਸਮੇਂ ਮਨੱਖ ਕਦਰਤ ਅਤੇ ਸਮਾਜ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਟੱਟ ਕੇ ਅਲਹਿਦਗੀ ਅਤੇ ਇਕੱਲਤਾ ਵਾਲਾ ਜੀਵਨ ਜਿਉਂ ਰਿਹਾ ਹੈ। ਪੰਜੀਵਾਦੀ ਵਿਵਸਥਾ ਅਤੇ ਖ਼ਪਤ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਦੇ ਵਿਸ਼ਵ ਵਿਆਪੀ ਹੋਣ ਕਰਕੇ ਧਰਤੀ ਦੇ ਸੰਸਾਧਨਾਂ ਉੱਪਰ ਦਬਾਓ ਦਿਨ-ਬ-ਦਿਨ ਵਧ ਰਿਹਾ ਹੈ। ਜਿਸ ਕਰਕੇ ਜੀਵ ਮੰਡਲ ਦੀ ਜੈਵ-ਵਿਭਿੰਨਤਾ ਖ਼ਤਮ ਹੋ ਰਹੀ ਹੈ। ਹਵਾ, ਪਾਣੀ, ਮਿੱਟੀ ਪਲੀਤ ਹੋ ਰਹੇ ਹਨ ਅਤੇ ਗਲੋਬਲ਼ ਤਪਸ਼ ਵਧਣ ਕਾਰਨ ਮੌਸਮ ਤਬਦੀਲੀ ਦੇ ਰੂਪ ਵਿੱਚ ਵੱਡੇ ਸੰਕਟ ਦਰਪੇਸ਼ ਹਨ।ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਸੰਕਟ ਨੇ ਮਨੱਖ ਸਿਰਜੇ ਵਰਤਾਰਿਆਂ ਅਤੇ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਦੀ ਧਰਤੀ ਉੱਪਰ ਹੋਂਦ ਉੱਪਰ ਹੀ ਸਵਾਲ ਖੜੇ ਕਰ ਦਿੱਤੇ ਹਨ। ਇਸ ਦਾ ਪ੍ਰਗਟਾਵਾ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਵਿੱਚ ਹੋ ਰਿਹਾ ਹੈ। ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਸੰਕਟ ਦੇ ਇਤਿਹਾਸਕ ਅਤੇ ਮੁਲ ਵਿਚਾਰਧਾਰਕ ਕਾਰਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਨਿਸ਼ਾਨਦੇਹੀ ਕੀਤੀ ਜਾ ਰਹੀ ਹੈ। ਇਸਦਾ ਹੱਲ ਵਰਤਮਾਨ ਜੀਵਨ ਜਾਚ ਦੀ ਸਮਝ ਅਤੇ ਇਸਦੇ ਆਲੋਚਨਾਤਮਕ ਮੁਲਾਂਕਣ ਰਾਹੀ ਇਸ ਨੂੰ ਈਕੋ-ਚੇਤਨਾ ਦੀ ਸਮਝ ਰਾਹੀਂ ਸੇਧ ਦੇਣ ਵਿੱਚੋਂ ਤਲਾਸ਼ਿਆ ਜਾ ਰਿਹਾ ਹੈ। ਇਸ ਪ੍ਰਗਟਾਵੇ ਦੇ ਵਿਭਿੰਨ ਪਾਸਾਰਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣ ਲਈ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਵਿਧੀ ਵਿਕਸਤ ਹੋ ਰਹੀ ਹੈ। ਇਸ ਖੋਜ ਪੇਪਰ ਵਿੱਚ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਵਿਧੀ ਦੇ ਵਿਭਿੰਨ ਪਾਸਾਰਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣ ਦਾ ਯਤਨ ਕੀਤਾ ਜਾਵੇਗਾ।

ਮੁਲ ਸ਼ਬਦ: ਈਕੋ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ, ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ

# ਈਕੋ–ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸ਼ਬਦੀ ਅਰਥ :

ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ (Ecocriticism) ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਦੀ ਉਹ ਪਹੁੰਚ ਵਿਧੀ ਹੈ ਜਿਸ ਵਿਚ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਦੀ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਸੰਗ ਵਿਚ ਪੜਚੋਲ ਕੀਤੀ ਜਾਂਦੀ ਹੈ । ਈਕੋ ਸ਼ਬਦ ਈਕੋਲਾਜ਼ੀ (Ecology) ਤੋਂ ਲਿਆ ਗਿਆ ਹੈ । ਜਰਮਨੀ ਦੇ ਜੀਵ ਵਿਗਿਆਨੀ ਅਰਨਸਟ ਹੈਕਅਲ (Ernst Haeckel) ਨੇ 1866 ਈਸਵੀ ਵਿੱਚ ਯੂਨਾਨੀ ਸ਼ਬਦ (Oikos) ਤੋਂ ਜਿਸਦਾ ਅਰਥ ਘਰ, ਰਹਿਣ ਦੀ ਥਾਂ ਜਾਂ ਅਵਾਸ ਸੀ, ਤੋਂ ਜਰਮਨ ਸੰਕਲਪ (Okologie) ਬਣਾਇਆ ਜਿਸ ਲਈ ਅੰਗਰੇਜ਼ੀ ਵਿਚ (Ecology) ਸ਼ਬਦ ਘੜਿਆ ਗਿਆ ਜੋ ਕਿ ਕੁਦਰਤੀ ਅੰਤਰ-ਸਬੰਧਤਾਵਾਂ (Interdependences) ਦਾ ਵਿਗਿਆਨਕ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਹੈ (Arnold and Guha, 1995:1-2)।

ਜੀਵਨ ਦੇ ਵਿਭਿੰਨ ਰੂਪ (ਜੀਵ-ਜੰਤੂ,ਪੇੜ੍ਹ-ਪੌਦੇ) ਆਪਸ ਵਿਚ ਅਤੇ ਆਪਣੇ ਸਾਂਝੇ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਨਾਲ ਸਬੰਧਿਤ ਹੁੰਦੇ ਹਨ। ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਉਹਨਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਪੈਦਾ ਕਰਨ ਅਤੇ ਰੂਪ ਪ੍ਰਦਾਨ ਕਰਨ ਵਿਚ ਖ਼ਾਸ ਭੂਮਿਕਾ ਨਿਭਾਉਂਦਾ ਹੈ ।ਉਹ ਵੀ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਉੱਤੇ ਪ੍ਰਭਾਵ ਪਾਉਂਦੇ ਹਨ ।ਈਕੋਲਾਜ਼ੀ ਜੀਵਨ-ਰੂਪਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਉਹਨਾਂ ਦੇ ਸਮੁੱਚ ਅਤੇ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਨਿਖੇੜ ਕੇ ਪ੍ਰਯੋਗਸ਼ਾਲਾਵਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਕਰਨ ਦੀ ਵਿਧੀ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਤੀਕਰਮ ਵਜੋਂ ਸਾਹਮਣੇ ਆਈ ਸੀ। ਇਸ ਵਿਚ ਖੇਤਰੀ ਕਾਰਜ (Field-Work) ਨੂੰ ਅਧਾਰ ਬਣਾਇਆ ਜਾਂਦਾ ਹੈ ।ਜੰਤੂ-ਵਿਗਿਆਨ, ਪੌਦਾ-ਵਿਗਿਆਨ,ਭੂ-ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਅਤੇ ਜਲਵਾਯੂ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਇਸ ਦੀਆਂ ਪ੍ਰਮੁੱਖ ਸ਼ਾਖਾਵਾਂ ਹਨ। ਇਹ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਉਸ ਸਮੇਂ ਘੜਿਆ ਗਿਆ ਸੀ, ਜਦੋਂ ਪੱਛਮੀ ਮਲਕਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਤੇਜ਼ ੳਦਯੋਗਿਕ ਵਿਕਾਸ ਨਾਲ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਦਾ ਨਕਸਾਨ ਹੋਣਾ ਸ਼ੁਰੂ ਹੋਇਆ। ਇਸ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਦੀ ਘਾੜਤ ਪਿੱਛੇ ਜੀਵ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਖ਼ਾਸ ਕਰਕੇ ਚਾਰਲਸ ਡਾਰਵਿਨ ਦੇ ਵਿਕਾਸਵਾਦੀ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਅਤੇ ਮੈਂਡਲ ਦੇ ਜੈਨੇਟਿਕਸ ਦੇ ਸਿਧਾਂਤਾਂ ਦਾ ਯੋਗਦਾਨ ਹੈ।ਦੁਸਰਾ ਉਸ ਸਮੇਂ ਅਮਰੀਕਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਪ੍ਰੇਅਰੀ ਘਾਹ ਦੇ ਮੈਦਾਨਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਮੱਕੀ ਅਤੇ ਕਣਕ ਦੀਆਂ ਫ਼ਸਲਾਂ ਬੀਜਣ ਦੇ ਨਤੀਜੇ ਵਜੋਂ ਹੋਏ ਜੈਵ-ਵਿਭਿੰਨਤਾ ਦੇ ਨਕਸਾਨ ਦਾ ਪ੍ਰਤੀਕਰਮ ਪੈਦਾ ਹੋ ਰਿਹਾ ਸੀ । ਇਸ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਕਈ ਵਿਸ਼ਿਆਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਕੀਤੀ ਜਾਂਦੀ ਰਹੀ ਹੈ । ਸੰਸਾਧਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਸੰਕਾਲ ਦੇ ਖੇਤਰ ਵਿੱਚ ਇਸ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਪ੍ਰਮੱਖਤਾ ਨਾਲ ਹੋਈ ਹੈ ।1920 ਵਿੱਚ ਅਮਰੀਕਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤਿਕੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਸੁਸਾਇਟੀ ਦੀ ਸਥਾਪਨਾ ਹੋਈ । 1960 ਤੱਕ ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਵਿੱਚ ਵਰਣਾਤਮਕ ਸੈਲੀ ਦਾ ਦਬਦਬਾ ਰਿਹਾ।ਇਸ ਤੋਂ ਬਾਅਦ ਇਹ ਵਿਸ਼ਾ ਸਲਾਹਕਾਰੀ ਵਿਸ਼ੇ ਵਜੋਂ ਵਿਕਸਿਤ ਹੋਣਾ ਸ਼ਰ ਹੋਇਆ । ਰਾਚੇਲ ਕਾਰਸਨ ਨੇ ਸਾਹਿਤਕ ਸ਼ੈਲੀ ਵਿਚ ਲਿਖੀ ਪਸਤਕ ਸਾਈਲੈਂਟ ਸਪਰਿੰਗ ਵਿੱਚ ਅਮਰੀਕਾ ਵਿਚ ਖੇਤੀਬਾੜੀ ਵਿਚ ਵਰਤੇ ਜਾਣ ਵਾਲੇ ਕੀਟਨਾਸ਼ਕਾਂ ਦੇ ਮਨੱਖੀ ਸਿਹਤ ਅਤੇ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਤੇ ਪੈਣ ਵਾਲੇ ਮਾੜੇ ਪ੍ਰਭਾਵਾਂ ਨੂੰ ੳਜਾਗਰ ਕੀਤਾ ਸੀ । ਇਸ ਪੁਸਤਕ ਨੇ ਕੀਟਨਾਸ਼ਕ ਬਣਾਉਣ ਵਾਲੀਆਂ ਕੰਪਨੀਆਂ ਅਤੇ ਸਰਕਾਰ ਵਿਰੁੱਧ ਲੋਕ ਲਹਿਰ ਖੜ੍ਹੀ ਕਰ ਦਿੱਤੀ ਸੀ । ਰਾਚੇਲ ਕਾਰਸਨ ਦੀਆਂ ਲਿਖਤਾਂ ਨਾਲ ਇਸ ਵਿਸ਼ੇ ਨੇ ਆਪਣੇ ਨੈਤਿਕ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਨੂੰ ਵਿਕਸਤ ਕੀਤਾ।ਪੁਰ ਸੱਠਵਿਆਂ-ਸੱਤਰਵਿਆਂ 'ਚ ਇਹ ਲਹਿਰ ਆਪਣੀਆਂ ਸਮਕਾਲੀ ਲਹਿਰਾਂ (ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦ ਜਾਂ ਵਿਦਿਆਰਥੀ ਲਹਿਰ) ਵਾਂਗ ਪ੍ਰਮੁੱਖਤਾ ਗ੍ਰਹਿਣ ਨਾ ਕਰ ਸਕੀ ।ਜਦ ਇਸ ਵਿਸ਼ੇ ਖੇਤਰ ਵਿੱਚ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਅਤੇ ਜੈਵ-ਵਿਭਿੰਨਤਾ ਨੂੰ ਨੁਕਸਾਨ ਪਹੁੰਚਾਉਣ ਵਾਲੀਆਂ ਨੀਤੀਆਂ ਦਾ ਖੰਡਨ ਹੋਣਾ ਸ਼ੁਰੂ ਹੋਇਆ ਤਾਂ ਇਸ ਨੂੰ ਖੱਬੇ –ਪੱਖੀ ਲੋਕਾਂ ਦਾ ਹਥਿਆਰ ਆਖ ਕੇ ਇਸ ਦਾ ਭੰਡੀ –ਪ੍ਰਚਾਰ ਵੀ ਕੀਤਾ ਜਾਣ ਲੱਗ ਪਿਆ। ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਵਿੱਚ ਪ੍ਰਜਾਤੀਆਂ ਦੇ ਲੱਛਣਾਂ ਦਾ ਅਧਿਐਨ ,ਉਹਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਸਥਾਨ ਅਨੁਸਾਰ ਵੰਡ ਕਰਕੇ , ਵਿਭਿੰਨ ਕਾਲਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਅਨੁਕੂਲਣ ਨੂੰ ਅਧਾਰ ਬਣਾ ਕੇ ਕੀਤਾ ਜਾਂਦਾ ਹੈ ।ਅਜਿਹਾ ਕਰਦੇ ਸਮੇਂ ਅਲੰਕਾਰਕ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਕਾਰਨ ਇਸ ਨੂੰ ਸਮੁੱਚਤਾਵਾਦੀ ਅਤੇ ਸਥਿਰ ਮੰਨਣ ਦੀ ਗਲਤ ਧਾਰਨਾ ਵੀ ਪੈਦਾ ਹੋ ਜਾਂਦੀ ਹੈ ।ਜਦ ਕਿ ਸੱਚਾਈ ਇਹ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਇਹ ਵਿਸ਼ਾ ਖੇਤਰ ਅ-ਲਕੀਰੀ ਅਤੇ ਟੁੱਟਵੇਂ ਕ੍ਰਮ ਵਿੱਚ ਚਲਦਾ ਹੈ।ਬਸਤੀਵਾਦੀ ਦੌਰ ਵਿੱਚ ਇਸ ਵਿਸ਼ੇ ਵਿੱਚ ਬਣਾਈਆਂ ਗਈਆਂ ਗ਼ਲਤ ਧਾਰਨਾਵਾਂ ਦੀ ਪੁਨਰ ਪੜਚੋਲ ਕਰਕੇ ਉਹਨਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਮੁੜ ਨਵਿਆਉਣ ਦੇ ਕਾਰਜ ਸ਼ੁਰੂ ਹੋਏ ਹਨ।ਬਸਤੀਵਾਦੀ ਦੌਰ ਵਿੱਚ ਨਸਲੀ ਵੱਖਰਤਾ ਨੂੰ ਨਸਲੀ ਦਰਜੇਬੰਦੀ ਅਨੁਸਾਰ ਚੰਗੀ ਨਸਲ /ਮਾੜੀ ਨਸਲ ਦਾ ਵਿਖੇੜਾ ਖੜ੍ਹਾ ਕਰਨ ਦੇ ਯਤਨ ਬਸਤੀਵਾਦ ਨੂੰ ਜਾਇਜ਼ ਠਹਿਰਉਣ ਲਈ ਕੀਤੇ ਗਏ ਸਨ (Glotfelty and Fromm, 1996:69)।

ਜਦੋਂ ਈਕੋਲਾਜ਼ੀ ਦੀ ਆਪਸੀ ਨਿਰਭਰਤਾ ਅਤੇ ਅੰਤਰ-ਸਬੰਧਿਤਤਾ ਦੀ ਸਮਝ ਨੂੰ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਵਿਚ ਵਰਤਿਆ ਗਿਆ ਤਾਂ ਇਸ ਨੂੰ (Ecocriticism) ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਕਿਹਾ ਗਿਆ।ਸਾਹਿਤ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਦੇ ਖੇਤਰ ਇਸ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਦੀ ਪਹਿਲੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ 1978 ਈਸਵੀ ਵਿਚ ਵਿਲੀਅਮ ਰਿਉਕਰਟ ਨੇ ਆਪਣੇ ਇਕ ਲੇਖ (Literature and Ecology: An Experiment in Ecocriticism) ਵਿਚ ਕੀਤੀ ਸੀ।ਉਹ ਈਕੋਲਾਜ਼ੀ ਦੇ ਸੰਕਲਪਾਂ ਰਾਹੀਂ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣ ਦੇ ਅਰਥਾਂ ਵਿਚ ਇਸਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਕਰ ਰਿਹਾ ਸੀ।ਉਸ ਮੁਤਾਬਕ ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਦਾ ਪਹਿਲਾ ਨਿਯਮ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਹਰ ਇੱਕ ਚੀਜ਼ ਹਰੇਕ ਹੋਰ ਚੀਜ਼ ਨਾਲ ਜੁੜੀ ਹੋਈ ਹੈ ।ਕਵਿਤਾ ,ਕਵੀ ਅਤੇ ਚੌਗਿਰਦੇ ਵਿਚਕਾਰ ਅੰਤਰਕਿਰਿਆ ਚਲਦੀ ਰਹਿੰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਕਵਿਤਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਕਵੀ ਦੀ ਕਲਪਨਾ ਦੁਆਰਾ ਊਰਜਾ ਭਰੀ ਹੁੰਦੀ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਪਾਠਕ ਜਾਂ ਪਾਠਕਾਂ ਦੇ ਸਮੂਹ ਵਿੱਚ ਸੰਚਾਰਿਤ ਹੁੰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਕਵਿਤਾ ਮਹਿਜ਼ ਆਨੰਦ ਹੀ ਨਹੀਂ ਦਿੰਦੀ ਸਗੋਂ ਇਹ ਸਿਰਜਣਾ ਦਾ ਸੰਚਾਰ ਅਤੇ ਸਮੁਦਾਇ ਦਾ ਨਿਰਮਾਣ ਵੀ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਰਿਊਕਰਟ ਕਵਿਤਾ ਨੂੰ ਅਜਿਹਾ ਪੌਦਾ ਮੰਨਦਾ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਊਰਜਾ ਨੁੰ ਸੋਖਣ ਅਤੇ ਸੰਚਾਰਨ ਦਾ ਮਹੱਤਵਪੂਰਨ ਕੰਮ ਕਰਦਾ ਹੈ।ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਦੀ ਸਮਝ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਦੀ ਨਿੱਜੀ ਹਸਤੀ ਨੂੰ ਉਸ ਹੋਂਦ ਨਾਲ ਜੋੜਦੀ ਹੈ, ਜਿਸਦੀ ਉਸ ਦੀ ਨਿੱਜੀ ਹੋਂਦ ਨੂੰ ਬਣਾਉਣ ਵਿੱਚ ਮਹੱਤਵਪੂਰਨ ਥਾਂ ਹੁੰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਮਨੁੱਖ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੇ ਨਿਯਮਾਂ ਤੋਂ ਮੁਕਤ ਨਹੀਂ ਹੈ ਪਰ ਉਸਨੇ ਆਪਣੇ ਸੁਤੰਤਰ ਹੋਣ ਦਾ ਭਰਮ ਪਾਲ ਕੇ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੇ ਨਿਯਮਾਂ ਦੀ ਉਲੰਘਣਾ ਕਰਨੀ ਸ਼ੁਰੂ ਕਰ ਦਿੱਤੀ ਹੈ।ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਵਿੱਚ ਸਹਿਹੋਂਦ ਬਣਾ ਕੇ ਰਹਿਣ ਲਈ ਸਾਨੂੰ ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤਿਕੀ ਨਜ਼ਰੀਆ ਸਿਰਜਣ ਦੀ ਲੋੜ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਖ਼ਤਰਿਆਂ ਨੂੰ ਮੁਖਾਤਿਬ ਹੋਵੇ।ਅਸੀਂ ਸ਼ਬਦ ਰਾਹੀਂ ਜਿੰਦਗੀ ਜਿਉਂਦੇ ਹਾਂ,ਸ਼ਬਦ ਦੀ ਸ਼ਕਤੀ ਸਾਡੀ ਚਾਲਕ ਹੈ ਪਰ ਅਸੀਂ ਲਗਾਤਾਰ ਸ਼ਬਦ ਦੀ ਸ਼ਕਤੀ ਨੂੰ ਕੰਟਰੋਲ ਕਰਨ ਦੇ ਸਮਰੱਥ ਨਹੀਂ ਹਾਂ। ਅਸਲ ਸ਼ਕਤੀ ਰਾਜਨੀਤਕ ,ਆਰਥਿਕ ਅਤੇ ਤਕਨਾਲੋਜੀ ਵਿੱਚ ਨਿਹਿਤ ਹੈ।ਇਸ ਲਈ ਅਸਲ ਸ਼ਕਤੀ ਵੱਲ ਕੇਂਦਰਿਤ ਈਕੋ-ਨਜ਼ਰੀਏ ਦੀ ਲੋੜ ਹੈ ਅਤੇ ਪੁਰਾਣੀ ਕਿਸਮ ਦੇ ਪੱਛਮੀ ਨਜ਼ਰੀਏ ਦੀ ਵਿਰਚਨਾ ਵੀ ਕਰਨੀ ਪਵੇਗੀ (Glotfelty and Fromm, 1996:105-123)।

ਹੁਣ ਇਸ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਤੇ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਦੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸਬੰਧਾਂ ਦੇ ਵਿਸਤ੍ਰਿਤ ਅਰਥਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਹੋਣ ਲੱਗ ਪਈ ਹੈ । ਲਾਰੈਂਸ ਬਿਉਲ ਲਿਖਦਾ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਕਵੀ-ਆਲੋਚਕ ਗੈਰੀ ਸਨਿਡਰ ਵਾਂਗ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਇਸਦੇ ਅਗੇਤਰ ਈਕੋ ਦੇ ਸ਼ਬਦੀ ਅਰਥਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਇਸਦੇ ਰੂਪਕੀ ਵਿਸਥਾਰ ਨੂੰ ਧਿਆਨ ਵਿੱਚ ਰੱਖ ਕੇ ਕਰਨੀ ਚਾਹੀਦੀ ਹੈ । ਰੂਪਕ ਵਜੋਂ ਇਸਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਨੂੰ ਹੋਰਨਾਂ ਖੇਤਰਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਊਰਜਾ ਦੇ ਵਟਾਂਦਰੇ ਅਤੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸੰਬੰਧਾਂ ਦੇ ਅਰਥਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਵੀ ਵਿਸਥਾਰਿਆ ਜਾ ਸਕਦਾ ਹੈ, ਇਹ ਖੇਤਰ ਤਕਨੀਕੀ ਆਧਾਰਿਤ ਸੰਚਾਰ ਸਿਸਟਮ ਵੀ ਹੋ ਸਕਦੇ ਹਨ ਅਤੇ ਸੋਚਣ ਅਤੇ ਬਣਤਰ ਦੀ ਈਕੋਲਾਜ਼ੀ ਦੇ ਅਰਥਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਵੀ (Buell, 2005:13)।

ਅਮਰੀਕਨ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਵਿਚ ਈਕੋਕ੍ਰਿਟੀਸਿਜ਼ਮ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਪ੍ਰਚੱਲਿਤ ਹੈ, ਜਦਕਿ ਯੂਰਪੀ ਦੇਸ਼ਾਂ ਵਿਚ ਗਰੀਨ ਸਟੱਡੀਜ਼ ਜਾਂ ਗਰੀਨ ਕਲਚਰਲ ਸਟੱਡੀਜ਼ ਸੰਕਲਪਾਂ ਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਵੀ ਕੀਤੀ ਗਈ ਹੈ। ਇਹਨਾਂ ਤੋਂ ਇਲਾਵਾ ਈਕੋ ਕਾਵਿ-ਸ਼ਾਸਤਰ, ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣਿਕ ਸਾਹਿਤਕ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਵੀ ਵਰਤੇ ਜਾਂਦੇ ਹਨ। ਪਰ ਈਕੋ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਨੂੰ ਤਰਜ਼ੀਹ ਦੇਣ ਅਤੇ ਸਥਾਪਿਤ ਕਰਨ ਬਾਰੇ ਚਰਚਾ ਵੀ ਕੁਝ ਪੁਸਤਕਾਂ ਵਿਚ ਕੀਤੀ ਗਈ ਹੈ। ਪਹਿਲਾ ਕਾਰਨ ਤਾਂ ਈਕੋ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਨੂੰ ਅਗੇਤਰ ਵਜੋਂ ਵਰਤ ਕੇ ਹੋਰ ਸ਼ਬਦ ਘੜਨੇ ਅਤੇ ਵਰਤਣੇ ਆਸਾਨ ਹਨ। ਦੂਸਰਾ ਈਕੋ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਅੰਤਰ-ਸਬੰਧਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਵਧੇਰੇ ਢੁਕਵੇਂ ਰੂਪ ਵਿਚ ਪੇਸ਼ ਕਰਦਾ ਹੈ, ਜਦਕਿ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਨੂੰ ਭੌਤਿਕ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਤੋਂ ਨਿਖੇੜਨ ਦੇ ਅਰਥ ਪ੍ਰਗਟ ਕਰਦਾ ਹੈ। ਇਸ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਦੀ ਘਾੜਤ ਤੋਂ ਪਹਿਲਾਂ ਵੀ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਅਤੇ ਸਮੁੱਚੇ ਚੌਗਿਰਦੇ ਦੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸਬੰਧਾਂ ਬਾਰੇ ਕੁਝ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਪੁਸਤਕਾਂ ਮਿਲਦੀਆਂ ਹਨ। ਰੇਮੰਡ ਵਿਲੀਅਮਜ਼ ਦੀ 'ਦ ਕੰਟਰੀ ਐਂਡ ਦ ਸਿਟੀ' (*The country and the city*) ਅਤੇ ਅਨੇਟੇ ਕਲੌਡਨੀ ਦੀ 'ਦ ਲੇਅ ਆਫ਼ ਦ ਲੈਂਡ' (*The Lay of the Land*) ਪ੍ਰਮੁੱਖ ਹਨ। ਹਿੰਦੀ/ ਪੰਜਾਬੀ ਵਿੱਚ ਈਕੋਲਾਜ਼ੀ ਲਈ ਤਾਂ ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤਿਕੀ/ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਸੰਕਲਪਾਂ ਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਕੀਤੀ ਜਾਂਦੀ ਹੈ। ਪਰ ਈਕੋਕ੍ਰਿਟੀਸਿਜ਼ਮ ਲਈ ਹਿੰਦੀ ਵਿਚ ਪਰਿਆਵਰਣ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸ਼ਬਦ ਮਿਲਦਾ ਹੈ। ਪੰਜਾਬੀ ਵਿਚ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਜਾਂ ਵਾਤਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਕਿਹਾ ਜਾ ਸਕਦਾ ਹੈ।ਪਰ ਅਸੀਂ ਈਕੋਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਹੀ ਵਰਤ ਰਹੇ ਹਾਂ ਕਿਉਕਿ ਮਨੁੱਖ,ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਤੇ ਪ੍ਰਕਿਰਤੀ ਦੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸਬੰਧਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਪ੍ਰਗਟ ਕਰਨ ਲਈ ਇਹ ਵਧੇਰੇ ਢੁਕਵਾਂ ਜਾਪਦਾ ਹੈ।

# ਈਕੋ–ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਦੀਆਂ ਪਰਿਭਾਸ਼ਾਵਾਂ:

ਚੇਰਿਲ ਗਲੌਟਫੇਲਟੀ (Cheryll Glotfelty) ਅਨੁਸਾਰ, "ਈਕੋ–ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਤੇ ਭੌਤਿਕ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਦੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸੰਬੰਧਾਂ ਦੇ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਨੂੰ ਕਿਹਾ ਜਾਂਦਾ ਹੈ । ਈਕੋ–ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਉਵੇਂ ਹੀ ਧਰਤੀ –ਕੇਂਦਰਿਤ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਦੀ ਪਹੁੰਚ ਹੈ ਜਿਵੇਂ ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦੀ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਲਿੰਗ ਚੇਤਨਾ ਅਨੁਸਾਰ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਅਤੇ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਦੀ ਪੜਚੋਲ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ ਅਤੇ ਮਾਰਕਸਵਾਦੀ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਟੈਕਸਟ ਦੀ ਪੜ੍ਹਤ ਲਈ ਉਤਪਾਦਨ ਦੇ ਸਾਧਨਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਆਰਥਿਕ ਜਮਾਤ ਦੀ ਚੇਤਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਲਿਆਉਂਦੀ ਹੈ" (Glotfelty and Fromm, 1996: XVIII)।

ਗਲੀਨ ਏ. ਲਵ (Gleen A. Love) ਅਨੁਸਾਰ, " ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਟੈਕਸਟ ਅਤੇ ਉਸਦੇ ਭੌਤਿਕ ਆਲੇ-ਦੁਆਲੇ ਦੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸੰਵਾਦ ਅਤੇ ਇਹਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਅੰਤਰ-ਸਬੰਧਤਾ ਉਪਰ ਵਿਚਾਰ ਕਰਕੇ ਮਨੁੱਖੀ ਚੇਤਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਉਚੇਰੇ ਪੱਧਰ ਵੱਲ ਵਿਕਸਿਤ ਕਰਨ ਵੱਲ ਅਗਰਸਰ ਹੈ। ਕੁਦਰਤੀ ਹਾਲਾਤ ਦੇ ਵੇਰਵੇ ਅਤੇ ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਦੇ ਸਿਧਾਂਤਾਂ ਬਿਨਾ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਅਤੇ ਅਧਿਆਪਨ ਸੀਮਿਤ ਕਾਰਜ ਹੈ" (Love, 2003:16)।

ਗਰੈਗ ਗਰਾਰਡ (Greg Garrard) ਅਨੁਸਾਰ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸਾਰੇ ਮਨੁੱਖੀ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰਕ ਇਤਿਹਾਸ ਵਿੱਚ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਅਤੇ ਗੈਰ-ਮਨੁੱਖਾਂ ਦੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸਬੰਧਾਂ ਦਾ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਹੈ, (ਇਸ ਵਿੱਚ) 'ਮਨੁੱਖ' ਦੇ ਸੰਕਲਪ ਦੀ ਆਪਣੀ ਆਲੋਚਨਾਤਮਕ ਪੜਚੋਲ ਵੀ ਕੀਤੀ ਜਾਂਦੀ ਹੈ (Garrard, 2012:5)।

ਰਿਚਰਡ ਕੇਰਿਜ਼ (Richard Kerridge) ਅਨੁਸਾਰ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਕ ਕਈ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰਕ ਸਪੇਸਾਂ 'ਚ,ਵਾਪਰ ਰਹੀ,ਕੁਝ ਹਿੱਸਾ ਲੁਕੀ ਹੋਈ ਬਹਿਸ ਨੂੰ ਸਪੱਸ਼ਟ ਦੇਖਣ ਲਈ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣਿਕ ਵਿਚਾਰਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਪੇਸ਼ਕਾਰੀਆਂ ,ਜਿੱਥੇ ਵੀ ਮਿਲਣ ਨੂੰ ਲੱਭਣਾ ਚਾਹੁੰਦਾ ਹੈ।ਜ਼ਿਆਦਾਤਰ ,ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਕ ਟੈਕਸਟ ਅਤੇ ਵਿਚਾਰਾਂ ਦਾ ਮੁਲਾਂਕਣ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਸੰਕਟ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਤੀ ਉਹਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਤਰਕਸੰਗਤਤਾ ਅਤੇ ਉਪਯੋਗਤਾ ਦੇ ਹਵਾਲੇ ਨਾਲ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਨ (Garrard, 2012:4)।

# ਈਕੋ–ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਦਾ ਸਰੂਪ:

ਉਪਰੋਕਤ ਚਰਚਾ ਤੋਂ ਸਪੱਸ਼ਟ ਹੁੰਦਾ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਦੀ ਅਜਿਹੀ ਅੰਤਰ-ਅਨਸ਼ਾਸ਼ਨੀ ਵਿਧੀ ਹੈ ਜਿਸ ਵਿੱਚ ਸਾਹਿਤਿਕ ਕਿਰਤਾਂ ਦਾ ਮਨੱਖ ਦੇ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਅਤੇ ਗੈਰ-ਮਨੁੱਖਾਂ ਨਾਲ ਸਬੰਧਾਂ ਦੇ ਹਵਾਲੇ ਨਾਲ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਕੀਤਾ ਜਾਂਦਾ ਹੈ। ਸ਼ੁਰੂਆਤੀ ਦੌਰ ਵਿਚ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਕਾਂ ਨੇ ਸਭਿਆਚਾਰਕ ਅਧਿਐਨ,ਉੱਤਰ-ਆਧਨਿਕਤਾ ਅਤੇ ਉੱਤਰ-ਸੰਰਚਨਾਵਾਦ ਆਦਿ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਸਿਧਾਂਤਾਂ ਦਾ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਕੀਤਾ। ਸਭਿਆਚਾਰਕ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਦੇ ਸਮਰਥਕ ਵਿਦਵਾਨ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਸੰਕਟ ਨੂੰ ਉੱਤਰ-ਆਧੁਨਿਕਵਾਦੀਆਂ ਦਾ ਸਿਰਜਿਆ ਭਰਮ ਸਮਝਦੇ ਸਨ ।ਉੱਤਰ-ਸੰਰਚਨਾਵਾਦੀ ਹਰ ਵਰਤਾਰੇ ਨੂੰ ਭਾਸ਼ਾਈ ਘਾੜਤ ਮੰਨ ਕੇ ਅਸਲ ਦੀ ਕਿਸੇ ਨਿਸ਼ਚਿਤ ਹੋਂਦ ਤੋਂ ਇਨਕਾਰੀ ਹਨ । ੳਹਨਾਂ ਬਾਰੇ ਕੇਟ ਸੋਪਰ ਵਿਅੰਗ ਕਰਦਾ ਹੈ ਕਿ ''ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਦੀ ਓਜੋਨ ਪਰਤ ਵਿੱਚ ਛੇਕ ਨਹੀ ਹੋਇਆ ,ਅਸਲ ਚੀਜ਼ ਪਲੀਤ ਅਤੇ ਨਸ਼ਟ ਹੋ ਰਹੀ ਹੈ ,ਭਾਵੇਂ ਅਸੀਂ ਚਿਹਨਕ ਪੱਧਰ ਤੇ ਆਪਣੀ ਵਿਰਚਨਾਤਮਕ ਸਮਝ ਨੂੰ ਜਿੰਨਾ ਮਰਜ਼ੀ ਸੁਧਾਰ ਲਈਏ"। ਮਾਰਕਸਵਾਦ ਨੂੰ ਵੀ ਕਲਚਰ-ਕਦਰਤ ਦੀ ਦਵੈਤ ਕਰਨ ਵਾਲਾ ਸਮਝ ਕੇ ਇਸਦਾ ਵੀ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਕੀਤਾ ਗਿਆ। ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਤੀਕਰਮ ਵਜੋਂ ਪੇਸ਼ ਕਰਨ ਦੇ ਯਤਨ ਕੀਤੇ ਗਏ (Waugh, 2006:530-43)। 1992 ਈਸਵੀ ਵਿੱਚ ਪੱਛਮੀ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਐਸੋਸ਼ੀਏਸ਼ਨ (W.L.A.) ਦੀ ਮੀਟਿੰਗ ਵਿਚ ਐਜ਼ਲੇ (Association for the Study of Literature and Environment) (ASLE) ਨਾਮ ਦੀ ਸੰਸਥਾ ਸਕੌਟ ਸਲੌਵਿਕ ਦੀ ਪਧਾਨਗੀ ਹੇਠ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਅਤੇ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਦੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸਬੰਧਾਂ ਦੇ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਕਰਨ ਦੇ ਮੁਕਸਦ ਨਾਲ ਹੋਂਦ ਵਿਚ ਆਈ 11993 ਈਸਵੀ ਵਿਚ ਪੈਤਰਿਕ ਮਰਫ਼ੀ ਨੇ (Interdisplinary Studies in Literature and Environment (ISLE) ਨਾਮ ਦਾ ਖੋਜ-ਜਨਰਲ ਇਸ ਕਾਰਜ ਲਈ ਸ਼ੁਰੂ ਕਰਕੇ ਇਸ ਕਾਰਜ ਨੂੰ ਵਿਧੀਵਤ ਰੂਪ ਵਿਚ ਸੰਗਠਿਤ ਕੀਤਾ। ਇਸ ਵਿੱਚ ਈਕੋ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ, ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ, ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੀ ਸਮਝ, ਮਨੁੱਖ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੀ ਦਵੈਤ ਆਦਿ ਮਸਲੇ ਵਿਚਾਰੇ ਜਾਣੇ ਆਰੰਭ ਹੋਏ । ਈਕੋਆਲੋਚਕਾਂ ਨੇ ਅਮਰੀਕਾ ਵਿਚ ਕਦਰਤ ਬਾਰੇ ਲਿਖੀਆਂ ਰਚਨਾਵਾਂ, ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦੀ ਲਿਖਤਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਰੋਮਾਂਚਿਕ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਨੂੰ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਵਸਤੂ ਬਣਾਇਆ ਸੀ।ਉਦਯੋਗਿਕ ਵਿਕਾਸ ਦੇ ਨਕਾਰਾਤਮਕ ਪ੍ਰਭਾਵਾਂ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਤੀਰੋਧ ਵਜੋਂ ਗੈਰ-ਉਦਯੋਗਿਕ ਮੁਲ ਅਮਰੀਕਨ ਕਾਲੇ ਲੋਕਾਂ ਦੇ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਦੇ ਅਧਿਐਨ ਵੀ ਸ਼ੁਰੂ ਹੋਏ। ਜਿਸ ਰਾਹੀਂ ਗੋਰੇ ਲੋਕਾਂ ਦੇ ਉਸਾਰੇ ਉਦਯੋਗਿਕ ਪੁੰਜੀਵਾਦ ਦਾ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਕਰਨ ਵਾਲੇ ਪ੍ਰਵਚਨ ਸਾਹਮਣੇ ਆਏ ।ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਨਿਆਂ ਲਹਿਰ ਨੇ ਪੂੰਜੀਵਾਦੀ ਵਿਕਾਸ ਮਾਡਲ ਦੇ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਅਤੇ ਗਰੀਬ ਵਿਰੋਧੀ ਹੋਣ ਦੇ ਖ਼ਾਸੇ ਨੂੰ ਉਭਾਰਿਆ।ਉਹਨਾਂ ਨਸਲ, ਲਿੰਗ,ਜਮਾਤ ਅਤੇ ਨਵ-ਬਸਤੀਵਾਦ ਦੇ ਮਸਲਿਆਂ ਨੂੰ ਈਕੋ-ਚੇਤਨਾ ਰਾਹੀਂ ਸਮਝਣਾ ਸ਼ੁਰੂ ਕਰ ਦਿੱਤਾ (Waugh,2006:530-43)।

ਹੁਣ ਈਕੋਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਦਾ ਸਿਧਾਂਤਕ ਪੱਖ ਉੱਭਰ ਕੇ ਸਾਹਮਣੇ ਆ ਰਿਹਾ ਹੈ।ਵਾਈਟ ਲਿਨ ਅਪਣੇ ਇਕ ਲੇਖ (Historical Roots of Ecological Crisis) ਵਿਚ ਪੱਛਮੀ ਮਨੱਖ-ਕੇਂਦਰਿਤ ਈਸਾਈਅਤ ਦੇ ਦਰਸ਼ਨ ਨੂੰ ਵਿਸ਼ਵ ਵਿਆਪੀ ਈਕੋਲਾਜੀਕਲ ਸੰਕਟ ਦੀ ਜੜ੍ਹ ਮੰਨਦਾ ਹੈ।ਉਸਦਾ ਵਿਚਾਰ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਖ਼ਾਸ ਕਰਕੇ ਪੱਛਮੀ ਇਸਾਈ ਮਤ ਅਤੇ ਯਹੂਦੀ ਮਤ ਵਿਚ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਅਤੇ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਵਿਚ ਦਵੈਤ ਕੀਤਾ ਗਿਆ ਹੈ। ਇਸ ਵਿੱਚ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਨੂੰ ਉੱਤਮ ਨਸਲ ਮੰਨਦੇ ਹੋਏ, ਉਸਨੂੰ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੀ ਲੱਟ ਕਰਨ ਦਾ ਵਿਸ਼ੇਸ਼ ਅਧਿਕਾਰ ਪ੍ਰਦਾਨ ਕੀਤਾ ਗਿਆ ਹੈ। ਉਸ ਅਨਸਾਰ ਸਾਇੰਸ ਅਤੇ ਤਕਨੀਕੀ ਵਿਕਾਸ ਸਾਨੂੰ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਸੰਕਟ ਵਿੱਚੋਂ ਨਹੀਂ ਕੱਢ ਸਕਦਾ, ਜਿੰਨਾਂ ਚਿਰ ਅਸੀਂ ਨਵਾਂ ਧਰਮ ਨਹੀਂ ਅਪਣਾਓਂਦੇ ਜਾਂ ਪਰਾਣੇ ਧਰਮ ਬਾਰੇ ਨਵਾਂ ਨਹੀਂ ਸੋਚਦੇ। ਇਸ ਦੇ ਬਦਲ ਵਜੋਂ ਉਹ ਜ਼ੈਂਨ-ਬੱਧਵਾਦ ਦਾ ਬਦਲ ਦੇਖਦਾ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਸਭ ਧਰਮਾਂ ਤੋਂ ਵੱਧ ਪ੍ਰਕਿਰਤੀ ਪੱਖੀ ਪਹੰਚ ਰੱਖਦਾ ਹੈ ਪਰ ਉਸਦਾ ਮੰਨਣਾ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਇਸ ਪੂਰਬੀ ਬਦਲ ਨੂੰ ਪੱਛਮ ਲਈ ਅਪਣਾਉਣਾ ਵਿਵਹਾਰਕ ਨਹੀਂ ਹੋਵੇਗਾ। ਉਹ ਸੇਂਟ ਫਰਾਂਸਿਸ ਦੇ ਵਿਚਾਰਾਂ ਨੂੰ, ਜਿਸਨੇ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਦੀ ਬਾਦਸ਼ਾਹੀ ਦੇ ਮੁਕਾਬਲੇ ਰੱਬ ਦੇ ਪੈਦਾ ਕੀਤੇ ਸਾਰੇ ਜੀਵਾਂ ਦਾ ਲੋਕਤੰਤਰ ਸਥਾਪਿਤ ਕਰਨ ਦਾ ਯਤਨ ਕੀਤਾ ਸੀ, ਨੂੰ ਪੱਛਮ ਲਈ ਢੁਕਵਾਂ ਮੰਨਦਾ ਹੈ (Glotfelty and Fromm, 1996 : 3-14)। ਗਹਿਨ ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤਿਕੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਮਨੁੱਖਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਗੈਰ-ਮਨੱਖਾਂ ਦੀ ਆਪਣੇ ਆਪ ਵਿੱਚ ਕੀਮਤ ਹੋਣ ਵਿੱਚ, ਗੈਰ-ਮਨੱਖਾਂ ਦੀ ਮਨੱਖਾ ਦੇ ਨਜ਼ਰੀਏ ਤੋਂ ਇਲਾਵਾ ਸਤੰਤਰ ਕੀਮਤ ਦੀ ਧਾਰਨਾ ਹੈ। ਇਹ ਮਨੱਖ ਦੀ ਕੇਂਦਰਤਾ ਦੀ ਬਜਾਇ ਈਕੋ-ਕੇਂਦਰਤਾ ਜਾਂ ਬਾਇਓ-ਕੇਂਦਰਤਾ ਦੀ ਹਮਾਇਤ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਮਨੱਖਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਗੈਰ-ਮਨੱਖਾਂ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਫੱਲਿਤ ਹੋਣ ਲਈ ਮਨੁੱਖਾਂ ਦੀ ਆਬਾਦੀ ਸੀਮਿਤ ਹੋਣੀ ਚਾਹੀਦੀ ਹੈ।ਇਹ ਸਿਰਫ਼ ਵਿਕਾਸਸ਼ੀਲ ਮੁਲਕਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਹੀ ਨਸੀਅਤ ਨਹੀਂ ਸਗੋਂ ਵਿਕਸਿਤ ਮਲਕਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਵੀ ਲੋੜ ਤੋਂ ਵੱਧ ਖ਼ਪਤ ਕਰਨ ਤੋਂ ਹੋੜਦੀ ਹੈ।ਇਹ ਪੱਛਮੀ ਦਰਸ਼ਨ ਅਤੇ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਵਿੱਚ ਮਿਲਦੀ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਅਤੇ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਨੂੰ ਨਿਖੇੜਨ ਵਾਲੀ ਦਵੈਤਵਾਦੀ ਧਾਰਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਸੰਕਟ ਦਾ ਮੂਲ ਕਾਰਨ ਮੰਨਦੀ ਹੈ (Garrard, 2012)।

ਸੂਈਐਲਨ ਕੈਮਪਬੈਲ ਨੇ ਆਪਣੇ ਲੇਖ (The Land and the Language of Desire) ਵਿਚ ਉੱਤਰ ਸੰਰਚਨਾਵਾਦ ਅਤੇ ਗਹਿਨ ਪ੍ਰਸਥਿਤਿਕੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਦੇ ਸਾਂਝੇ ਤੱਤ ਪਹਿਚਾਨਣ ਦਾ ਯਤਨ ਕੀਤਾ ਹੈ।ਉਹ ਦੋਵਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਇਤਿਹਾਸਕ ਅਤੇ ਸਮਕਾਲੀ ਮੰਨਦੀ ਹੈ। ਉਸ ਮੁਤਾਬਕ ਪਹਿਲੀ ਸਾਂਝ ਤਾਂ ਇਹ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਦੋਵੇਂ ਪੱਛਮੀ ਮਾਨਵਵਾਦ (ਮਨੁੱਖ–ਕੇਂਦਰਤਾ) ਦਾ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਨ। ਦੂਸਰਾ ਉਹ ਦਰਜਾਬੰਦੀ ਪੈਦਾ ਕਰਨ ਵਾਲੇ ਸੰਕਲਪਾਂ ਦਾ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਨ ਜਿਵੇਂ ਚੰਗਾ–ਬੁਰਾ, ਪਾਗਲਪਣ–ਤਾਰਕਿਕ, ਮਨੁੱਖ–ਪਸ਼ੂ, ਕੁਦਰਤ–ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ, ਆਦਮੀ–ਔਰਤ ਆਦਿ।ਤੀਜਾ ਦੋਵੇਂ ਵਸਤੂਨਿਸ਼ਠਤਾ ਨੂੰ ਚੁਣੌਤੀ ਦਿੰਦੇ ਹਨ, ਉਹਨਾਂ ਮੁਤਾਬਕ ਕੋਈ ਵੀ ਚੀਜ਼ ਵਸਤੂਗਤ ਨਹੀਂ ਹੁੰਦੀ।ਇਸ ਗੱਲ ਦੀ ਪ੍ਰੋੜਤਾ ਲਈ ਉਹ ਸਾਪੇਖਤਾ ਦੇ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਅਤੇ ਕੁਆਂਟਮ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਨੂੰ ਵਰਤਦੇ ਹਨ।ਚੌਥਾ ਉਹ ਕਿਸੇ ਕੇਂਦਰੀ ਅਰਥ ਜਾਂ ਕੀਮਤ ਨੂੰ ਮੰਨਣ ਦੀ ਥਾਂ ਸਬੰਧਾਂ ਦੇ ਨੈਟਵਰਕ ਵਿਚ ਯਕੀਨ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਨ। ਨੈਟਵਰਕ ਹੀ ਸਾਨੂੰ ਬਣਾਉਂਦਾ ਹੈ।ਬਚਪਨ ਵਿਚ ਅਸੀਂ ਆਪਣੇ ਸਵੈ ਦੀ ਪਛਾਣ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਦੇ ਨੈਟਵਰਕ ਵਿਚ ਆਉਣ ਤੇ ਹੀ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਾਂ, ਭਾਵ ਸਵੈ ਦੇ ਪੈਦਾ ਹੋਣ ਨਾਲ ਹੀ ਅਸੀ ਮਾਂ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਸਾਂਝ ਗਵਾ ਲੈਦੇ ਹਾਂ।ਇਸ ਘਾਟੇ ਵਿਚੋਂ ਹੀ ਇੱਛਾ ਪੈਦਾ ਹੁੰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਏਥੇ ਉਸਦਾ ਮਤ ਹੈ ਕਿ "ਸਾਰੀ ਇੱਛਾ ਮਨੁੱਖੀ ਹੀ ਨਹੀਂ ਹੈ,ਅਸੀ ਸਿਰਫ਼ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਅਤੇ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਦੇ ਨੈਟਵਰਕ ਨਾਲ ਹੀ ਸਬੰਧ ਨਹੀਂ ਰੱਖਦੇ ਸਗੋਂ ਧਰਤੀ (Land) ਦੇ ਨੈਟਵਰਕ ਨਾਲ ਵੀ ਸਬੰਧਿਤ ਹਾਂ" (Glotfelty and Fromm, 1996)।

ਟਿਮੋ ਮਾਰਾਨ ,ਪਰਸ ਦੀ ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਦੀ ਧਾਰਨਾ, ਜੋ ਸੋਸਿਊਰ ਦੇ ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਵੱਖਰੀ ਹੈ, ਦੇ ਆਧਾਰ ਤੇ ਨਵੀਂ ਧਾਰਨਾ ਪੇਸ਼ ਕਰਦਾ ਹੈ। ਪਰਸ ਮੁਤਾਬਕ ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹ ਉਹ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਕਿਸੇ ਚੀਜ਼ ਲਈ ਕਿਸੇ ਸੰਦਰਭ ਵਿੱਚ ਕਿਸੇ ਖਾਸ ਸਮਰੱਥਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਵਰਤਿਆ ਜਾਂਦਾ ਹੈ।ਇਸ ਤਰ੍ਹਾਂ ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਅੰਦਰੂਨੀ ਤੌਰ ਤੇ ਜ਼ਿੰਦਗੀ ਨਾਲ ਵੀ ਜੁੜਿਆ ਹੁੰਦਾ ਹੈ।ਮਨੁੱਖੀ ਕਲਚਰ ਇਕੱਲਾ ਹੀ ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹਾਂ ਦਾ ਪ੍ਰਬੰਧ ਨਹੀਂ ਇਸਦੇ ਬਾਹਰ ਹੋਰ ਵੀ ਸਾਡੇ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਵੱਖਰੇ ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹਾਂ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਬੰਧ ਹਨ।ਮਨੁੱਖ ਦੇ ਅੰਦਰੂਨੀ ਜੈਵਿਕ ਕੋਡ ਅਤੇ ਬਾਹਰੀ ਜੈਵਿਕ ਅਜੈਵਿਕ ਨਾਲ ਸੰਬੰਧਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਸਿਰਜਿਤ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਲਿਖਤਾਂ ਵਿੱਚੋਂ ਖੋਜਣ ਦੀ ਵਿਧੀ ਨੂੰ ਉਹ ਜੈਵ –ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਕਹਿੰਦਾ ਹੈ।ਉਸ ਮੁਤਾਬਕ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਅਤੇ ਗੈਰ ਮਨੁੱਖਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਸਮਾਨਤਾ ਹੈ, ਉਹਨਾਂ ਦੀਆਂ ਸੰਚਾਰ ਪ੍ਰਣਾਲੀਆਂ ਵੱਖਰੀਆਂ ਹਨ ਪਰ ਉਹਨਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਸੰਚਾਰ ਦੀਆਂ ਸੰਭਾਵਨਾਵਾਂ ਹਨ। ਮਨੁੱਖ ਕੋਲ ਸੁਗੰਧ ਰੰਗ ਵਰਗੀਆਂ ਗੈਰ ਭਾਸ਼ਾਈ ਸੰਚਾਰ ਜੁਗਤਾਂ ਹਨ।ਮਨੁੱਖੀ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਵਿਚਲੇ ਮੈਟਾਫਰਾਂ ਦੀ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਨਾਲ ਸਿੱਧੀ ਸਾਂਝ ਹੁੰਦੀ ਹੈ ਜਿਵੇਂ ਗਿਰਗਿਟ ਵਾਂਗੂੰ ਰੰਗ ਬਦਲਣਾ।ਮਨੁੱਖੀ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਦੇ ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹਾ ਦੀ ਕਾਰਜਸ਼ੀਲਤਾ ਅਤੇ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੀ ਕਿਰਿਆਸ਼ੀਲਤਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਵੀ ਸਾਂਝ ਹੈ। ਜੇਕਰ ਨੇਚਰਕਲਚਰ ਦੀ ਦਵੈਤ ਖ਼ਤਮ ਹੋਵੇਗੀ ਤਾਂ ਟੈਕਸਟ ਅਤੇ ਸੰਸਾਰ ਦੇ ਸੰਬੰਧਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਕੁਦਰਤੀ ਸੰਸਾਰ ਵੀ ਸ਼ਾਮਿਲ ਕਰਨਾ ਪਵੇਗਾ। ਟੈਕਸਟ ਵਿੱਚ ਪੇਸ਼ ਹੋਏ ਕੁਦਰਤੀ ਸੰਸਾਰ ਰਾਹੀ ਵਿਸ਼ੇਸ਼ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਦੇ ਲੋਕਾਂ ਦੇ ਮਨ ਦੀ ਘਾੜਤ ਪਿੱਛੇ ਕੰਮ ਕਰਦੀ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੇ ਚਿੰਨ੍ਹ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣਾ ਪਵੇਗਾ (Garrard, 2014: 260-70)। ਈਕੋ-ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦ ਦੀ ਧਾਰਨਾ ਮਰਦ ਅਤੇ ਔਰਤ ਦੇ ਲੈਗਿੰਕ ਦਵੈਤ ਦਾ ਖੰਡਨ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ। ਈਕੋ-ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦ ਇਸ ਤਰ੍ਹਾਂ ਦੀ ਦਵੈਤ ਨੂੰ ਧੌਂਸ ਦਾ ਤਰਕ ਮੰਨਦੀ ਹੈ। ਕਿਉਕਿ ਇਹ ਤਰਕ ਔਰਤ ਨੂੰ ਕੁਦਰਤ, ਪਦਾਰਥ, ਭਾਵੁਕਤਾ ਨਾਲ ਸਬੰਧਿਤ ਕਰਦਾ ਹੈ ਅਤੇ ਮਰਦ ਨੂੰ ਕਲਚਰ ,ਗੈਰ-ਪਦਾਰਥਕ, ਤਾਰਕਿਕ ਅਤੇ ਸੁਖ਼ਮ ਨਾਲ ਸਬੰਧਿਤ ਕਰਦਾ ਹੈ । ਕੁਝ ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦੀ ਈਕੋ-ਚੇਤਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਰਵਾਇਤੀ ਨਾਰੀ ਚੇਤਨਾ ਮੰਨਦੀਆਂ ਹਨ।ਉਹ ਔਰਤ ਦੀ ਅਧਿਆਤਮਕਤਾ ਨੂੰ ਔਰਤ ਦੀ ਜੈਵਿਕਤਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਤਲਾਸ਼ਦੀਆਂ ਹਨ।ਪਰ ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦੀ ਔਰਤਤਵ ਨੂੰ ਜੈਵਿਕ ਲਿੰਗ ਮੰਨਣ ਦੀ ਥਾਂ ਲਿੰਗ ਨੂੰ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰਕ ਘਾੜਤ ਮੰਨਦੀਆਂ ਹਨ।ਪਰ ਇਹ ਵੀ ਧੁੰਦਲੀ ਤਸਵੀਰ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਉਸਦੇ ਜੈਵਿਕ ਤੌਰ ਤੇ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਨਾਲ ਨੇੜਤਾ ਦੇ ਹਾਂ ਪੱਖੀ ਹੋਂਦ ਨੂੰ ਨਕਾਰਦਾ ਹੈ। ਇਹ ਵੀ ਉਸ ਦੀ ਹੋਂਦ ਨੂੰ ਪਿਤਰ ਸੱਤਾ ਦੀ ਘਾੜਤ ਤੱਕ ਸੀਮਿਤ ਹੀ ਮੰਨਦਾ ਹੈ।ਸਾਨੂੰ ਔਰਤ ਮਰਦ ਦੀ ਵੱਖਰੀ ਹੋਂਦ ਨੂੰ ਵੀ ਮੰਨਣਾ ਪਵੇਗਾ ਅਤੇ ਇਹਨਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਇੱਕ ਦੂਜੇ ਦੇ ਪੂਰਕ ਵਜੋਂ ਸਮਝਦੇ ਹੋਏ, ਮਰਦ ਦੀ ਦਾਬੇ ਵਾਲੀ ਸੱਤਾ ਦਾ ਆਲੋਚਨਾਤਮਕ ਵਿਸ਼ਲੇਸ਼ਣ ਵੀ ਕਰਨਾ ਪਵੇਗਾ। ਰੈਡੀਕਲ ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦ ਦੇ ਨਿਰਧਾਰਨਵਾਦ ਦਾ ਵੀ ਈਕੋ-ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦ ਵਿੱਚ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਕੀਤੀ ਗਈ ਹੈ। ਵਾਲ ਪਲੰਮਵੁਡ ਨੇ ਕਿਹਾ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਆਦਮੀ/ਔਰਤ, ਮਨੱਖ/ਕਦਰਤ, ਤਰਕ/ਭਾਵਨਾ ਦਾ ਸਿਰਫ਼ ਵਖਰੇਵਾਂ ਹੀ ਮਨੱਖ-ਕੇਂਦਰਤਾ/ਮਰਦ-ਕੇਂਦਰਤਾ ਦੀ ਸਮੱਸਿਆ ਪੈਦਾ ਨਹੀਂ ਕਰਦਾ ਸਗੋਂ ਇਸ ਮਾਡਲ ਦਾ ਮਾਲਕੀ ਵਾਲਾ ਪੱਖ ਜੋ ਪ੍ਰਭਾਵਸ਼ਾਲੀ ਯੂਰਪੀ-ਅਮਰੀਕਨ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਦੀ ਵਖਰੇਵੇਂ ਤੋਂ ਅਗਾਂਹ ਵਿਰੋਧੀ ਅਤੇ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਦੇ ਵਧੀਆ ਹੋਣ ਦੀ ਸੋਚ ਵਿੱਚੋਂ ਪੈਦਾ ਹੁੰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਇਹ ਧਰੁਵੀਕਰਨ ਅਤੇ ਪੱਕੀ ਵੰਡ ਅਕਸਰ ਇਹਨਾਂ ਦੇ ਆਪਸੀ ਸਹੀ ਸੰਬੰਧਾਂ ਤੋਂ ਇਨਕਾਰੀ ਹੋ ਜਾਂਦੀ ਹੈ।ਵਾਲ ਪਲੰਮਵੁਡ ਨੇ ਰੇਨੇ ਡੇਕਾਰਟ ਦੇ ਸਮੇਂ ਤੋਂ ਸ਼ੁਰੂ ਹੋਈ ਮਨ/ਸਰੀਰ ਦੀ ਦਵੈਤ ਦਾ ਖੰਡਨ ਕੀਤਾ ਹੈ।ਮਨ ਨਾਲ ਤਰਕ ਜੋੜ ਕੇ ਅਤੇ ਅਗਾਂਹ ਚੇਤਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਅਤੇ ਪਸ਼ੂਆਂ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਵੱਖਰੇਵੇਂ ਦੀ ਬਜਾਇ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਦੇ ਵਧੀਆ ਹੋਣ ਦਾ ਤਰਕ ਸਿਰਜਿਆ ਗਿਆ। ਪਸ਼ੂਆਂ ਨੂੰ ਮਨ ਵਿਹੁਣੇ ਸਰੀਰ ਅਤੇ ਮਸ਼ੀਨਾਂ ਹੀ ਸਮਝਿਆ ਗਿਆ। ਉਸਨੇ ਤਰਕ ਅਤੇ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਵਿਚਕਾਰ ਲਿੰਗ ਆਧਾਰਿਤ ਦਵੈਤ ਦਾ ਖੰਡਨ ਕੀਤਾ । ਉਹ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਜਾਂ ਤਰਕ ਨੂੰ ਰੱਦ ਨਹੀਂ ਕਰਦੀ ਪਰ ਉਹ ਉਹਨਾਂ ਦਰਸ਼ਨਾਂ ਦਾ ਖੰਡਨ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਤੇ ਤਰਕ ਨੂੰ ਇੱਕ ਦੂਜੇ ਦੇ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਵਿੱਚ ਖੜਾ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਨ। ਉਹ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੀਆਂ ਸਮਾਨਤਾਵਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਵਖਰੇਵਿਆਂ ਦੀ ਪਛਾਣ ਦੀ ਹਮਾਇਤੀ ਹੈ। ਤਰਕ ਨੂੰ ਇਸ ਦੀ ਮਰਦਾਨਗੀ ਵਾਲੀ ਪਛਾਣ ਤੋਂ ਬਚਾ ਕੇ ਅਸੀਂ ਧਰਤੀ ਦੇ ਜੀਵਾਂ ਦੀ ਕਦਰ ਕਰ ਸਕਦੇ ਹਾਂ। ਸਾਨੂੰ ਦੂਜਿਆਂ ਦੇ ਦੁਜੇਪਣ ਅਤੇ ਸਾਡੀ ਧਰਤੀ ਨਾਲ ਸਾਂਝ ਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣਾ ਚਾਹੀਦਾ ਹੈ (Plumwood, 2003)।

ਇਹ ਪੁਜੀਸ਼ਨ ਸੰਸਾਧਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਬਹੁਤਾਤ ਵਾਲੇ ਦਵੈਤਵਾਦੀ ਅਤੇ ਆਰਥਿਕ ਤਰਕ ਨਾਲ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਨੂੰ

ਪਹਿਲ ਦੇਣ ਵਾਲਿਆ ਦੋਵਾਂ ਦੇ ਤਰਕ ਨੂੰ ਖ਼ਾਰਜ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਆਮ ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦੀ ਅਤੇ ਗਹਿਨ ਈਕੋਲਾਜੀ ਦੇ ਅਦੈਵਤਵਾਦ ਜੋ ਅਰਾਜਨੀਤਿਕ ਪਹੰਚ ਬਣ ਜਾਂਦਾ ਹੈ, ਦੀ ਵੀ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਈਕੋਨਾਰੀਵਾਦ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਨਿਆਂ ਉੱਪਰ ਗਹਿਨ ਈਕੋਲਾਜੀ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਵੱਧ ਜ਼ੋਰ ਦਿੰਦਾ ਹੈ।ਸਾਨੂੰ ਵਿਕੇਂਦਰਿਤ ਗਲੋਬਲ ਲਹਿਰ ਦੀ ਲੋੜ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਆਮ ਹਿੱਤਾਂ ਆਧਾਰਿਤ ਹੋਵੇ ਅਤੇ ਬਹਭਿੰਨਤਾ ਦਾ ਜ਼ਸ਼ਨ ਮਨਾਵੇ ਜਿਹੜੀ ਦਾਬੇ ਅਤੇ ਹਿੰਸਾ ਦੇ ਸਾਰੇ ਰੁਪਾਂ ਦਾ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਕਰੇ। ਈਕੋ–ਨਾਰੀਵਾਦ ਅਜਿਹੀ ਲਹਿਰ ਹੈ। ਗਲੀਨ.ਏ .ਲਵ ਨੇ ਈਕੋਲਾਜੀ ਅਤੇ ਵਿਕਾਸਵਾਦੀ ਜੀਵ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਨੂੰ ਆਧਾਰ ਬਣਾ ਕੇ ਆਪਣੀ ਧਾਰਨਾ ਪੇਸ਼ ਕੀਤੀ ਹੈ।ਉਹ ਨਸਲਵਾਦੀ ਸਮਾਜਿਕ ਡਾਰਵਿਨਵਾਦ ਨੂੰ ਗ਼ਲਤ ਸਿੱਧ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ।ਉਹ ਨਵੀਂ ਅਣੁਵੰਸ਼ਿਕੀ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਰਾਹੀਂ ਸਪਸ਼ਟ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਮੂਲ ਰੂਪ ਵਿੱਚ ਮਨੱਖਾਂ ਦੀ ਜੈਵਿਕ ਸਾਂਝ ਹੈ। ਇਸ ਕਰਕੇ ਵਿਕਾਸਵਾਦੀ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਦੀ ਨਸਲਵਾਦੀ ਵਿਆਖਿਆ ਗ਼ਲਤ ਢੰਗ ਨਾਲ ਬਸਤੀਵਾਦੀ ਅਤੇ ਨਾਜ਼ੀਵਾਦੀ ਦੌਰ ਵਿੱਚ ਕੀਤੀ ਗਈ। ਜੈਵਿਕ ਤੌਰ ਉੱਪਰ ਮਨੱਖਾਂ ਵਿਚਲੀ ਸਾਂਝ ਵਖਰੇਵੇਂ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਜ਼ਿਆਦਾ ਹੈ। ੳਹ ਮਿਆਰੀ ਸਮਾਜਿਕ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਦੀ ਬੱਚੇ ਨੂੰ ਖ਼ਾਲੀ ਸਲੇਟ ਮੰਨਣ ਦੀ ਧਾਰਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਵੀ ਨਵੀਂ ਜੀਵ ਵਿਗਿਆਨਕ ਸਮਝ ਦੇ ਆਧਾਰ ਤੇ ਗ਼ਲਤ ਸਿੱਧ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ। ਕਦਰਤ ਬਾਰੇ ਸਮਝ ਭਾਵੇਂ ਮਨੱਖ ਦੀ ਘਾੜਤ ਹੰਦੀ ਹੈ ਪਰ ਇਹ ਘਾੜਤ ਮਨੱਖੀ ਦਿਮਾਗ਼ ਜਾਂ ਸਰੀਰਕ ਬਣਤਰ ਦੀ ਉਪਜ ਹੁੰਦੀ ਹੈ ਜੋ ਕਿ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਨਾਲ ਸੰਬੰਧਾਂ ਕਾਰਨ ਪੈਦਾ ਹੁੰਦੀ ਹੈ। ੳਹ ਤਰਕ ਅਤੇ ਵਿਗਿਆਨਿਕ ਵਿਧੀ ਦੀ ਅਤਿ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਦਾ ਵੀ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ ।ੳਸ ਮੁਤਾਬਕ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਜਟਿਲ ਹੈ ਪਰ ਇਸਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣ ਲਈ ਸਮੁੱਚਤਾਵਾਦੀ ਅਤੇ ਘਟਾਓਵਾਦੀ ਦੋਵਾਂ ਵਿਧੀਆਂ ਦੀ ਵਰਤੋਂ ਕੀਤੀ ਜਾ ਸਕਦੀ ਹੈ (Love, 2003)। ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਦੇ ਵਿਕਾਸ ਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣ ਲਈ ਲਾਰੈਂਸ ਬਿਉਲ ਨੇ ਇਸ ਦੀ ਪਹਿਲੀ ਧਾਰਾ ਅਤੇ ਦੂਜੀ ਧਾਰਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਵੰਡ ਕੀਤੀ ਹੈ।ਪਹਿਲੀ ਧਾਰਾ ਦੇ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਕ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਦਾ ਅਰਥ ਕਦਰਤ ਦੇ ਅਰਥਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਨ। ਉਹ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਦੇ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਉੱਪਰ ਪੈਂਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਭਾਵਾਂ ਦਾ ਮੁਲਾਂਕਣ ਕਰਦੇ ਸਨ।ਉਹ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦਾ ਜਸ਼ਨ ਮਨਾਉਣ ਦੀ ਵਿਚਾਰਧਾਰਾ ਨਾਲ ਜੁੜੇ ਹੋਏ ਹਨ। ਉਹ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਦੀ ਤਬਾਹੀ ਦਾ ਵਿਰੋਧ ਕਰਦੇ ਹੋਏ, ਰਾਜਨੀਤਿਕ ਯਤਨਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਵਿਗਿਆਨਕ ਸਾਖ਼ਰਤਾ ਰਾਹੀਂ ਕਦਰਤ ਦੇ ਨਕਸਾਨ ਦੀ ਭਰਪਾਈ ਕਰਨ ਦਾ ਯਤਨ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਨ ।ਉਹ ਧਰਤੀ ਅਤੇ ਜੈਵਿਕ ਭਾਈਚਾਰੇ ਨੂੰ ਬਚਾਉਣ ਲਈ ਸੰਘਰਸ਼ ਕਰਨ ਦੀ ਹਮਾਇਤ ਕਰਦੇ ਹਨ।ਪਰ ਮਨੁੱਖੀ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਅਤੇ ਕੁਦਰਤੀ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਵਿੱਚ ਲਕੀਰ ਖਿੱਚ ਕੇ ਵੰਡ ਨਹੀਂ ਕੀਤੀ ਜਾ ਸਕਦੀ ਇਸ ਪੱਖੋਂ ੳਹਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਕੀਤੀ ਜਾਂਦੀ ਹੈ। ਪਰ ਦੁਜੀ ਧਾਰਾ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਵਚਨ ਰਾਹੀਂ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਅਤੇ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਨੂੰ ਸੱਤਾ ਦੁਆਰਾ ਕੰਟਰੋਲ ਕਰਨ ਦੀਆਂ ਸੰਸਥਾਵਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣ ਵੱਲ ਰੁਚਿਤ ਹੈ।ਇਹ ਧਾਰਾ ਇੱਕ ਪਾਸੇ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਕੇਂਦਰਤਾ ਨੂੰ ਚੁਣੌਤੀ ਦਿੰਦੀ ਹੈ, ਦੂਜੇ ਪਾਸੇ ਈਕੋਲਾਜ਼ੀ ਦਾ ਇਤਿਹਾਸ ਸਮਝ ਕੇ ਇਸ ਦੇ ਰਾਹੀ ਕੰਟਰੋਲ ਕਰਨ ਦੀਆਂ ਸੰਸਥਾਵਾਂ ਦੀ ਰਾਜਨੀਤੀ ਨੂੰ ਸਹੀ ਦਿਸ਼ਾ ਦੇਣ ਵੱਲ ਵੀ ਅਗਰਸਰ ਹੈ। ਈਕੋ–ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਦੀ ਆਲੋਚਨਾਤਮਕ ਇਤਿਹਾਸਕਾਰੀ ਨੇ ਕੁਦਰਤ–ਕਲਚਰ ਦੀ ਸਾਂਝੀ ਧਾਰਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਵਿਕਸਿਤ ਕੀਤਾ ਹੈ । ਦੂਜੀ ਧਾਰਾ ਨੇ ਨਵੇਂ ਸਾਹਿਤ ਰੂਪਾਂ ਵੱਲ ਧਿਆਨ ਦੇ ਕੇ ਇਸਦੇ ਘੇਰੇ ਨੂੰ ਹੋਰ ਵਸੀਹ ਕੀਤਾ ਹੈ । ਇਸ ਧਾਰਾ ਨੇ ਉੱਤਰਬਸਤੀਵਾਦੀ ਪ੍ਰਵਚਨ ਨੂੰ ਸ਼ਾਮਿਲ ਕਰਕੇ ਇਸਦੇ ਐਂਗਲੋ– ਅਮਰੀਕਨ ਤੱਕ ਸੀਮਤ ਹੋਣ ਨੂੰ ਰੱਦ ਕੀਤਾ ਹੈ। ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਲਹਿਰ ਵਿੱਚ ਜਦ ਯੂਰਪੀ ਗੋਰੇ ਮਨੁੱਖ ਕੇਂਦਰਿਤ ਪ੍ਰਵਚਨ ਦਾ ਖੰਡਨ ਕੀਤਾ ਜਾਂਦਾ ਹੈ ਤਾਂ ਇਸ ਨੂੰ ਗੋਰੇ ਪ੍ਰਤੀ ਆਪਣੀ ਹੀਣਤਾ ਨਾਲ ਭਰੀ ਨਸਲਵਾਦੀ ਬਿਰਤੀ ਕਹਿ ਕੇ ਭੰਡਿਆ ਜਾਂਦਾ ਹੈ। ਜੋਨੀ ਐਡਮਸਨ ਨੇ "ਅਮਰੀਕਨ ਮੂਲ ਨਿਵਾਸੀ ਲੋਕਾਂ ਦੀਆ ਅਮਰੀਕਨ ਪੂੰਜੀਵਾਦੀ ਨਿਜ਼ਾਮ ਵਿਰੋਧੀ ਗਰੀਬਾਂ ਦੀਆਂ ਲਹਿਰਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਨਸਲਵਾਦੀ ਕਹਿਣ ਦੇ ਪ੍ਰਵਚਨ ਦਾ ਖੰਡਨ ਕੀਤਾ ਹੈ।ਉਹ ਇਹਨਾਂ ਲਹਿਰਾਂ ਅਤੇ ਇਹਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਪੇਸ਼ਕਾਰੀ ਕਰਦੇ ਨਾਵਲਾਂ ਦੇ ਹਵਾਲੇ ਨਾਲ ਇਹਨਾਂ ਦੇ ਪਾਰ ਰਾਸ਼ਟਰਵਾਦੀ ਖ਼ਾਸੇ ਜੋ ਪਛਾਣ ਦੀ ਰਾਜਨੀਤੀ ਦੇ ਨਾਲ ਨਾਲ, ਪਾਰਰਾਸ਼ਟਰੀ ਕਾਰਪੋਰੇਸ਼ਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਲੁੱਟ ਦੇ ਖਿਲਾਫ਼ ਲੋਕ ਰੋਹ ਨੂੰ ਉਭਾਰਦਾ ਹੈ। ਮੂਲ ਨਿਵਾਸੀ ਲੋਕਾਂ ਦਾ ਬ੍ਰਹਿਮੰਡ ਬਾਰੇ ਉਚਾਰ ਆਧੁਨਿਕ ਰਾਸ਼ਟਰ-ਰਾਜ ਦੇ ਨਜ਼ਰੀਏ ਨਾਲੋਂ ਬਹੁਪਰਤੀ ਹੈ" (Garrard, 2014:172-87)।

ਜੀਵ ਵਿਗਿਆਨੀ ਈ.ਓ.ਵਿਲਸਨ ਨੇ ਕਿਹਾ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਮਨੁੱਖੀ ਦਿਮਾਗ਼ ਦਾ ਸਭ ਤੋਂ ਵੱਡਾ ਕੰਮ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਅਤੇ ਮਾਨਵਿਕੀ ਵਿੱਚ ਸੰਬੰਧ ਸਥਾਪਿਤ ਕਰਨਾ ਰਿਹਾ ਹੈ ਅਤੇ ਰਹੇਗਾ। ਉਹ ਇਸ ਦਿਸ਼ਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਕੰਮ ਕਰਨ ਨੂੰ Consillience ਨਾਮ ਦਿੰਦਾ ਹੈ।ਇਹ ਇੱਕ ਅੰਤਰ-ਅਨੁਸ਼ਾਸਨੀ ਪਹੁੰਚ ਹੈ।ਪਰ ਉਹ ਭੌਤਿਕ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਨੂੰ ਇਸ ਵਿੱਚ ਪ੍ਰਮੁੱਖ ਸਥਾਨ ਦਿੰਦਾ ਹੈ। ਜੇਕਰ ਭੌਤਿਕ ਵਿਗਿਆਨਾਂ ਦੀ ਤਰਜ਼ੀਹ ਨੂੰ ਖ਼ਤਮ ਕੀਤਾ ਜਾਵੇ ਤਾਂ ਇਹ ਵਿਧੀ ਗਿਆਨ ਨੂੰ ਉਚੇਰੇ ਪੱਧਰ ਵੱਲ ਵਿਕਸਿਤ ਕਰੇਗੀ। ਬਰੂਨੋ ਲਾਤੂਅਰ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਨੂੰ ਕੁਦਰਤ ਅਤੇ ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਦਾ ਮਿਲਗੋਭਾ ਕਹਿੰਦਾ ਹੈ। ਉਹ ਨਾ ਵਿਗਿਆਨਕ ਤੱਥਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਪੂਰਨ ਸੱਚ ਮੰਨਦਾ ਹੈ ਤੇ ਨਾ ਹੀ ਤੱਥਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਮਾਨਵੀ ਘਾੜਤ ਕਹਿ ਕੇ ਛੁਟਿਆਉਂਦਾ ਹੈ, ਇਸ ਲਈ ਉਹ Factish (ਕਲਪਨਾ ਅਤੇ ਤੱਥਾਂ ਦਾ ਮਿਸ਼ਰਨ) ਸੰਕਲਪ ਘੜਦਾ ਹੈ। ਇਸ ਕਰਕੇ ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਨਾ ਸ਼ੁੱਧ ਵਿਗਿਆਨ ਹੈ ਨਾ ਹੀ

ਈਕੋ-ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਵਾਤਾਵਰਣ ਪ੍ਰਤੀ ਪ੍ਰਤੀਬੱਧਤਾ ਰੱਖਣ ਵਾਲੀ ਆਲੋਚਨਾ ਵਿਧੀ ਹੈ, ਭਾਵੇਂ ਇਸਦਾ ਝੁਕਾਅ ਕਿਸੇ ਵੀ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਵੱਲ ਹੋਵੇ। ਇਹ ਅਜਿਹੇ ਈਕੋ-ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਵੱਲ ਵਿਕਸਿਤ ਹੋ ਰਹੀ ਜੋ ਈਕੋ-ਸੱਭਿਆਚਾਰ ਦੀ ਜਟਿਲਤਾ ਨੂੰ ਸਮਝਣ ਦਾ ਯਤਨ ਕਰਦੀ ਹੈ। ਇਸਦੇ ਬਹੁਤ ਸਾਰੇ ਵਿਸ਼ਿਆਂ ਤੋਂ ਸੇਧ ਲੈਣ ਕਾਰਨ ਅੰਤਰ-ਅਨੁਸ਼ਾਸਨੀ ਸੁਭਾਅ ਦਾ ਧਾਰਨੀ ਹੈ। ਇਸ ਅੰਤਰ-ਅਨੁਸ਼ਾਸਨੀ ਸੇਧ ਕਾਰਨ ਇਸ ਨੇ ਸਾਹਿਤਿਕ ਸਿਧਾਂਤ ਵਿੱਚ ਸੁਧਾਰ ਅਤੇ ਉਸਦਾ ਵਿਕਾਸ ਕੀਤਾ ਹੈ।

#### ਸੰਦਰਭ ਸੂਚੀ

- Adamson, J. (2014) 'Cosmovisions: Environmental Justice, Transnational American Studies and Indigenous Literature,' Garrard, G. (ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Ecocriticism*, USA: Oxford UP: 172-87.
- Arnold, D. and Guha, R. (1995) Nature, Culture and Imperialism, New Delhi: Oxford UP: 1-2.
- Buell, L. (2005) The Future of Environmental Criticism (Environmental Crisis And Literary Imagination), USA: Blackwell.
- Campbell, S. (1996) 'The Land And The Language of Desire :Where Deep Ecology and Post-Structuralism Meet,' Glotfelty, C. and Fromm, H. (eds.) *The Ecocriticism Reader*, Athens, Georgia: University of Georgia Press: 124-36.
- Garrard, G., ed. (2012) Ecocriticism (The New Critical Idiom), Oxom: Routledge.
- Kerridge, R., ed. (2006) 'Environmentalism and Ecocriticism,' Waugh, P., *Literary Theory and Criticism: An Oxford Guide*, New York: Oxford UP: 530-43.
- Love, A.G. (2003) *Practical Ecocriticism: Literature, Biology and the Envirtonment*, London : University of Virginia Press.
- Lynn, W. Jr., ed. (1996) 'Historical Roots of Ecological Crisis,' Glotfelty, C. and Fromm, H. *The Ecocriticism Reader*, (Athens, Georgia): University of Georgia Press : 3-14.
- Maran, T., ed. (2014) 'Biosemiotic Criticism,' Garrard, G. *The Oxford Handbook of Ecocriticism,* USA: Oxford UP, 260-75.
- Plumwood, V. (2003) Feminism And The Mastery of Nature, USA: Routledge.
- Reukert, W., ed. (1996) 'Literature and Ecology: An Experiment in Ecocriticism,' Glotfelty, C. and Fromm, H. *The Ecocriticism Reader,* Athens: University of Georgia Press: 105-23.

### Microfinance, a Strategic Tool for Financial Inclusion

Prof Praseeda Challapalli Dept of Management Studies SRM Institute of Science and Technology (SRMIST) Vadapalani, Chennai and A. Dineshwar Manager Sales Lifestyle Finance, Bajaj Finance Ltd, Chennai

Microfinance is fast emerging as an income generation avenue conceived with the primary objective of providing such financial support to active poor customers who have the desire to generate income but are denied the opportunity to do so due to their low financial credibility. The present article aims to understand the role played by microfinance in bringing about financial inclusion and empowerment in the city of Chennai. Towards this aim the article adopts two lines of enquiry: a questionnaire is canvassed to understand the profile of the MF clients, their awareness of MF products, their saving and repayment patterns and finally their opinion of the microfinance investments and the institutions; and in depth interviews are conducted for the field officers to understand the growth of microfinance in the city of Chennai. The study was undertaken during the period of 2018-2019.

*Keywords:* microfinance, alternative sector, financial inclusion, non-banking financial company (NBFC), self-help group (SHG).

#### Introduction

Fight against poverty has been taken up by a number of humanitarian and socially conscious individuals who consider it the natural right of every human being to maintain a decent standard of life in the social system. The April 2018 Povcal net update on global poverty reports that there is an increase in the number of poor from 769 million to 783 million (Atomnov et al., 2018) indicating the need to ensure financial inclusion of the poor into the economic ambit of the society by extending financial services to generate greater economic security. This has emerged as the primary aim of public policy of every country, especially countries with higher ratio of below poverty line (BPL) population. Access to financial services enhance income generating capacity which cascades into larger economic benefits like

accumulation of assets, higher health standards, access to better educational facilities, housing, resulting in improved standard of life. The positive impact of increase in income or availability of the means by which income may be generated cannot be gainsaid in this context.

Microfinance is considered one such unique income generation avenue conceived with the primary objective of providing financial support to the active poor customers who have the desire to generate income but is denied of the opportunity to do so due to their low financial credibility. Studies conducted by Murdoch and Haley (2002) proved that microfinance is successful in reducing extreme poverty. Though there are studies that claim an opposite impact of Microfinance on the poor, the overwhelming positive evidences cannot be easily ignored. In this context the present article aims to understand the role played by microfinance in bringing about financial inclusion and empowerment in the city of Chennai. The present paper adopts the individual as the unit of measurement who according to Hulme (2000) is easily defined and identified despite some challenges of perceptual influences and methodological issues. Towards this aim the article adopts two lines of enquiry. A questionnaire is canvassed to understand the profile of the MF clients, their awareness of MF products, their saving and repayment patterns and finally their opinion of the microfinance investments and the institutions. Secondly, in depth interviews of field officers are conducted to understand the growth of microfinance in the city of Chennai. The article is designed to offer a definition of microfinance, followed by a delineation of the basic tenets of financial inclusion. Subsequently, an outline of the scenario of microfinance in India is given, followed by the purpose of the study and methodology, discussion regarding the study and conclusion.

# **Microfinance Defined**

Microfinance (MF) is a set of financial services extended to poor consumers, more particularly women in developing nations, consisting of small loans for petty business, savings, remittances and even insurance (Marr and Tubaro, 2013). The subsequent enhanced household security is expected to lead to decline in morbidity and mortality of the household members leading to modifications in socio political relations and structures (Hulme, 2000). The origins of MF can be traced back to Muhammad Yunus who conceived the idea of MF and mainstreamed it into the public policy of Bangladesh in 1970s leading to a paradigm shift in the lending philosophy and practices world over (Challapalli, 2018). The uniqueness of MF

lies in the fact that it does not require a traditional collateral for the grant of the loan as the clientele to which it caters do not possess the capacity to offer a collateral with financial value, and therefore the collateral is more a social collateral than financial (Brau and Woller, 2004). The MF movement has also been hailed as the 'democratization' of the credit market (Rahman, 1999 cross ref: Chowdhury, 2009) in making feeble the stranglehold of the fabled money lenders and smalltime pawn brokers. Micro finance thus has ushered in a reengineered process of thinking with regard to poor not being bankable and credit worthy (Mutua et al., 1996; cross ref Brau and Woller, 2004).

Delfiner and Peron (2007), categorize poor into poor without the capacity to generate income and economically active poor delineating poor who do not have the ability or the inclination to generate income and the economically active poor who desire and attempt to generate income. As microfinance works along with the government schemes to provide financial support to the poor and economically active poor it has been hailed as an instrument for poverty alleviation. Yet on the flip side the claim of microfinance as a poverty alleviation tool is fiercely debated between the normative theorists who claim its omnipotence and the others who questions its ability to unilaterally eradicate poverty (Gravesteijna et al., 2015). According to David Hulme and Paul Mosley (1996) the poor borrowers below the poverty line actually end up with less incremental income aftermath of the microcredit. Banerjee et al. (2009; crossvref: Chowdhury, 2009) claim that lack of basic education or experience in managing even a low-level business venture and the inherent fear of risk and loss of whatever little security they may have may be the reasons for the really poor staying away from micro credit. According to Yunis (2003) microcredit is the miracle cure for global poverty. But it can provide a sustainable option in if the twin factors of institutional outreach and institutional sustainability are focused upon (Yaron, Benjamin & Piprek, 1997; cross ref: Hulme, 2000).

The emergence of microfinance can be traced back to the institutional life cycle theory (De Souza-Shields, 2004; cross ref: Bogan, 2012) according to which, the NGOs and their social vision may be considered as precursors to the development of microfinance institutions. Microfinance may also be examined under the ambit of the social capital theory, which considers social capital to be an "aggregate of actual potential resources" (Hazelton and Kennan, 2000) accrued by the combined

synergy of the complex network of personal and organizational structures and social relationships are used to take financial decisions (Challapalli, 2018). The group-based approach of microfinance in allocating microcredit makes the group a microcosm of society in which the group members feel secure and embark upon the journey of microcredit. Microfinance is also approached from two dimensions representing two schools of thought of intended beneficiary and intermediary. Where the intended beneficiary school of thought revolves around the user of microcredit and its impact on the economic and social status of the beneficiary, the intermediary school on the other hand focuses on the operational issues of microfinance (Hulme, 2000). The present study tries to combine both the angles to gain an embedded understanding of both the dimensions.

### **Financial inclusion**

MF can also be brought under the ambit of financial inclusion specifically called "inclusive finance". The micro loans offered under microfinance have presently been extended to financial services and products way beyond the permits of traditional MF loans and justify to be referred to as inclusive financial instruments (Rhyne, 2009). The 2006 UN Report defined financial inclusion as a financial system that provides credit to all bankable individuals (Shankar, 2013). The differentiating factor of microfinance institutions lie in the fact that though they provide micro loans, they do not adhere to the basic tenets of bankability of clients. In fact, MF thought believes in quite the opposite, it offers financial support to clients who are unable to provide patent proof of bankability. Schwittay (2011) theorizes financial inclusion as "global assemblage" describing the concept in terms of "distinctive capacity for de-contextualization and re-contextualization; abstract ability and movement, across diverse social and cultural situations and spheres of life" (cross ref: Collier and Ong, 2005). The word de-contextualization refers to the transforming thought process which indicates the need to reengineer the existing financial structures to re-contextualize or create financial instruments that may not conform to the traditional financial theories as their abstract aim is to cater to the myriad needs of the emerging customer base and finally to rationalize the shifting comprehension of the concept of a bankable consumer. Microfinance is called one such new inclusive paradigm which has the ability to temper the existing financial markets to cater to the needs of the vast BOP market by developing poor friendly technologies and structures (ibid). The positive impact of MF in reducing

poverty is encouraging many governmental, non-governmental organizations and individual participants to support MFSs and their activities (Hermes and Lensik, 2011).

Theoretically financial inclusion may be considered to have emerged from the concept of "repressed entrepreneur paradigm" (Taylor, 2012) referring to a segment of society who are socio culturally denied access to finance in certain societies due to pre-ordained social structures (Leyshon and Thrift, 1995; cross ref: Shankar). These segments of society like "sudras" in India were not allowed to undertake business and were relegated only to menial manual labour thereby being denied of an opportunity to pit and test their skills in the entrepreneurial domain. Financial inclusion aims to bring such hitherto ignored or denied segments into the financial mainstream by providing customized credit opportunities like micro credit via micro-finance. Often with reference to the manmade inconsistencies in the distribution of resources and opportunities, financial inclusion is viewed from a moral lens as a mechanism which has the inherent ability to set right the wrong perpetuated as a part of the evolution of financial system and its grounded theory, when channeled through microfinance. Lack of formal financial services to the poor apprehends financial exclusion of a whole segment of society labeled poor and resulting in the vicious cycle of retarded growth of the country, increased poverty levels and increased levels of poverty among the already poor, which in turn perpetuates social exclusion (Aduda and Kalunda, 2012). This state according to Shankar (2013) leads to this excluded segment to deal primarily in cash, impacting their desire to save negatively and finally leading them into the clutches of the money lenders paying exorbitant interest rates. This population is also denied of an authentic credit history due to their recourse to unorganized financial sources leading to their exclusion from the financial databases of the country (Shankar, 2013). Financial inclusion therefore can serve not only as a measure to rope in the economically active poor into the precincts of financial and consequent social inclusion, but is also helps in bridging the gap between the rich and poor (Aduda and Kalunda 2012) and serves as a means to enhance the financial planning of the country (Mohan, 2006; cross ref: Shankar, 2013).

The discourse on finance also brings to the fore the classification of financially excluded sections into voluntary and non-voluntary exclusion (World Bank, 2008; cross ref: Shankar 2013). The category of voluntary financial exclusion may be

constituted of extremely poor category who decide not to participate in any financial activity due to lack of confidence (Ciravegna, 2005; cross ref: Hermes and Lenski, 2011), followed by those who are denied participation as they are often viewed as "bad credit risk" (Hulme and Mosley, 1996; Marr, 2004; cross ref: Hermes and Lenski, 2011) especially in case of group lending where the very poor may be excluded by the group as they may jeopardize the position of the whole group (Montgomery and Kurmanaleiva, 2003).

Financial inclusion according to Chibba (2009) offers incremental and complementary solutions to fight poverty, to promote inclusive development to realize the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). And yet it is rightly argued that there cannot be true financial inclusion in the absence of social inclusion which is simultaneously linked to poverty and its consequent issues like unemployment, poor skills, low income and lower standards of living (Kempson et al., 2000; cross ref: Aduda and Kalunda, 2012).

The financial institutions providing such inclusive financial services are also being referred to as alternative financial institutions which according to CAGP survey on commercial banks have developed products to reach out to the below the poverty line (BPL) market (ibid). With the aim of financial inclusion of the poorest of poor being projected by each government specifically in the developing nations, MF claims center stage courtesy its inclusive agenda. MF has the potential to emerge as a financial instrument providing "high octane blend" of economic social and environmental aspirations creating an unbeatable value proposition (Bugg-Levine and Emerson, 2011). Certain criticisms against MF are made with regard to its ability to really cater to the poorest of the poor which in reality is hampered by the inherent fear of risk of that category to participate in the financial area of income generation which is the essence behind every MF loan (Hermes and Lensink, 2011).

### **Microfinance in India**

Microfinance in India is dominated by the nongovernmental organizations (NGOs). The Indian Constitution declares India a "sovereign socialist secular republic," with the aim of achieving a welfare state. In pursuit of this objective successive Indian governments have placed focus on providing various state championed financial services and schemes for the poor and underprivileged.

Agriculture was made the focal point of the first five year plan as a priority sector, whereby the banks were directed to loan 40% of their funds to the priority sector to ensure financial self-sufficiency to the poor (Ghosh, 2005). The MFIs work on the same principle, but being non-governmental efforts these institutions work through the self-help groups. The MFIs are accredited with the development of new credit techniques that depended on group guarantees and household cash flow assessments in the place of traditional collaterals. The MFIs today have transformed into nonbanking financial institutions and are presently are being funded by private banks and shareholder equity. The microfinance sector in India operates through SHG and Bank Linkage program and Microfinance institutions.

The Malegam committee constituted by the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) in 2011studied the issues related to the MFI sector leading to the recognition of MF as a legitimate sector by the RBI. The RBI further has also recommended the formulation of Non-financial banking companies (NBFCs) to undertake microfinance operations.

EV	<b>EVOLUTION OF MFI SECTOR IN INDIA</b>						
PHASE	YEAR	EVOLUTION					
INITIAL PHASE	1974	Sewa Bank First form of microfinance					
	1984	NABARG trust for SHGs					
CHANGE	2002	SHG Loans on par with secured loans					
	2004	MFI lending treated as PSL					
GROWTH AND CRISIS	2006	Krishna crisis in Andhra Pradesh					
	2007	Entry of PE Players					
	2009	MFIN launched					
CONSOLIDATION	2010	SKS IPO, Andhra Crisis & Ordinance					
	2012	Malegam committee & RBI guidelines					
	2014	RBI gave Universal Banking license to Bandhan					
	2015	MUDRA bank launched; 8 MFIs granted SFB licenses by RBI					

Source: Earnest and Young Report on Microfinance, 2016

Table 1

As per MIFN Micrometer (2018) around thirty states inclusive of union territories have been covered by the MFIs wherein the northeastern states account for 44% of the total non-banking financial institutions followed by southern states with 20% and northern with 14% and central states with 11%. The microfinance sector structure in India is divided into MFIs and SGHs which are around 77 lakhs. The table given below shows the YoY change from the financial year 2017 to 2018 in the portfolio of the NBFIs.

Indicator	FY 17-18 March 2018	FY 16-17 March 2017	YoY change (%) (FY 17- 18 over FY 16-17)	Q3 FY 17-18 December 2017
Branches	10,077	8,032	25%	9,707
Employees	82,004	65,839	25%	77,897
Clients** (Cr)	2.53	2.02	25%	2.34
Loan accounts (Cr)	2.8	2.3	22%	2.6
Gross Loan Portfolio (Rs Cr)	48,094	32,039	50%	42,300
Loans disbursed (during the year, Cr)	2.68	2.14	25%	
Loan amount disbursed {during the year, Rs Cr}	59,629	39,986	49%	

Source- MIFN Micrometer 2018 Table 2

The table clearly shows that the NBFIs in India have recorded an approximate growth rate of 25% in almost all the areas and the gross loan portfolio has increased by 50%. Thus, the MFIs and the NBFCIs may be hailed as the rising alternate sector in the area of finance to usher in financial inclusion and economic empowerment.

The NABARD report on Status of Microfinance in India 2016-2017 shows that estimated families covered under the SHGs by March 2017 is around 1010 lakhs and the average amount of loan outstanding for SHGs is 127016.62 crores and the loans disbursed to SHGs during the same period is 204313.51. As per the report this may be due to the fact that 100 Scheduled Banks, 349 DCCBs, 27 State Rural Livelihood Missions and over 5000 NGOs are engaged in promoting the self-help groups SHGs). The report also focuses on the SHG and the Bank Linkage

programme (BLP). The linking of the SHGs to the banks is considered as the maturity stage for the SHGs as this allows the SHGs an opportunity to prove their credibility in financial terminology. The following is a presentation of the past three year's data of the SHG and Banks Linkage.

Years	No. of SHGs with savings Linkage (in lakhs)	Amount of savings outstanding (in crores)	No. of SHGs disbursed with loan (in lakhs)	Amount of loan Disbursed (in crores)	No. of SHGs with loan outstanding (in lakhs)	Amount of loan outstanding (in crores)
2014-2015	76.97	11.06	16.26	27.58	44.68	51.55
2015-2016	79.03	13.69	18.32	37.29	46.73	57.12
2016-2017	85.77	16.11	16.11	38.78	48.48	61.58

Source: NABARD report on Status of Microfinance in India 2016-2017

#### Table 3

The table shows a steady increase in the SHG savings with banks, though the number of SHGs with disbursed loans is comparatively low. And even to the SHGs which have been allotted loans the percentage of SHGs with loan outstanding is less than 50% which shows a good recovery rate. The SHGs BPL is therefore bound to make future forays into the world of microfinance. The report also reveals that the number of SHGs with the bank connect is highest and steadily growing over the past three years in the Southern states comprising of Tamil Nadu, Karnataka, Kerala, Andhra Pradesh and Telangana. The southern states also record higher savings. Given below is the Region Wise Distribution of SHGs with Savings Linkage.

Period	NE Region	North Region	Central region	Western region	Eastern Region	Southern Region
2014-15	4.34	4.69	10.62	12.23	19.81	48.32
2015-16	5.44	4.98	10.32	12.88	21.51	44.87
2016-17	5.28	5.33	9.89	13.30	22.77	43.43

Source: NABARD report on Status of Microfinance in India 2016-2017

Table 4

Often the poor are described as 'prudent fiscal subjects' who have a unique perception of risk and uncertainty leading them to develop an embedded approach and contingent towards their financial matter which here may be taken as repayment of loans (Phillips and Ilcan, 2007). Also in the words of Appadurai (2001) poor women join together to generate savings by motivating each other, yet as these savings do not generate large and quick resources the MFIs have to adopt the 'practice of patience' to provide this segment of population to empower themselves.

# Purpose and methodology of the study

The above given statistics present a very positive picture of the microfinance scenario in general and of the SHG and the BPL in specific. Therefore the present study aims to understand this trend with specific reference to the city of Chennai with an aim to gain closer insights into the causes and reasons of success of these MFIs.

# **Conceptual Model for the study**

Having introduced the microfinance ideology and the philosophy of financial inclusion, the study now tries to examine the relationship between the two using a conceptual model.



Figure 1

The study identifies Micro Finance Institution as the independent variable and Financial inclusion as the dependent variable. The role played by the MFIs in bringing about financial inclusion is primarily studied with reference to the city of Chennai. Various variables like awareness of MFI, savings patterns and repayment patterns are taken as variables impacting the primary relationship.

### **Objectives of the study**

- to identify the demographic profile of the incumbents involved in obtaining loans from the MFIs
- to examine the impact of the demographic factors like age, gender, type of family and sources of income on purpose of taking loans and their repayment
- to identify the awareness levels of the incumbents of the issues related to MFI loans
- to identify the most important factor impacting MFI loans.

# Microfinance in Tamil Nadu

The Tamil Nadu government has established Tamil Nadu Corporation for Development of Women as part of the rural development and Panchayat Raj development. *Mahalir Tittam* is a program designed to create developmental opportunities for women of Tamil Nadu through SHGs. The SHGs were designed to involve 12 to 20 women from the same socio economic profile who display voluntary desire to upgrade their own economic status. They are involved in regular meetings with compulsory attendance to enhance their savings habit. Each group is trained in thrift, savings and banking. Each group has to select a one animator and two representatives from themselves and with the help of the animator the group maintain their bank account.

As per Rural development and Panchayat Raj Development Department Website:

- Self Help Groups consist of 12-20 BPL women members in the age group 18-60 years residing in the same area.
- NGOs and PLFs affiliated with TNCDW undertake the formation of SHGs.
- They are trained to become cohesive as a group through regular meetings and encouraged to cultivate savings habit.
- Capacity Building Programmes such as SHG and A & R training are imparted to the Group members and within a period of six months.

- After a period of 6 months, SHGs are rated for Credit Linkage by a Committee consisting of Bankers, APOs, NGOs, Block level officer and PLF Representative.
- ✤ For the eligible Credit rated SHGS, credit facilities are largely made available through Banks, both for revolving fund and economic activity.
- ✤ Other sources of funding for Credit linkage are SGSY, TAHDCO, NABARD & SJSRY
- Under various Skill Training Programs, eligible SHG members are encouraged to start economic activities or undertake self employment.
- Efforts are made by TNCDW for marketing the products produced by SHGs wherever possible locally and for sale in exhibitions.

In order to enable all poor women living below poverty line to join and benefit from the Self-Help Group movement, the group formation is undertaken with special focus on NREGS women workers, urban slum dwellers and in Village Panchayats where SHG coverage is still inadequate. Hence, Tamil Nadu has the distinction of enrolling all women living below the poverty line into SHG movement.

### Discussion

Analysis of the demographic data collected shows that mostly women are the major participants of the microfinance activity and have weekly savings. 17.5% of the women have savings in bank account and 21% of the women have savings in the Post office. This finding corroborates the fact highlighted by Hermes and Lensik (2011) that linked the access to finance as a precondition for economic empowerment of women with possible spillover effect on social empowerment of the borrower. 62% of the respondents indicated that the purpose of savings was for non-personal factors such as lending to relatives, whereas only 45% of the respondents used the loan for consumption and buying machines for development or new start up business. The maximum loan amount lies between 30000-50000 rupees, which would have duration of two years.

An attempt was made to understand the relationship between age, gender and income on repayment of loan and purpose of loan using. The hypothesis adopted was:

- $H_{0:}$  Age of the respondents is independent towards the purpose of loan.
- $H_{0:}$  Age of the respondents is independent towards the repayment of loan
- $H_{0:}$  Multiple source of income is independent towards the purpose of loan.
- H<sub>0:</sub> Type of family is independent towards the purpose of loan
- $H_0$ . Type of family is independent towards the repayment of loan.

The studies reviewed so far have focused on the repayment of the loan issues, evaluation of MFIs, credibility and liability issues, barriers to MFIs and so on. The present paper has taken up the analysis of the various demographic variables in relation to aspects like purpose of loan and repayment of loan whereby an attempt is made to understand the need of the MFI participants for which they take loans, their awareness levels of the MFI and the banking procedures which makes them knowledgeable borrowers, and the most important factor that urges towards taking a loan. The study by far focuses on understanding the stakeholder perception of the MFI processes. The chi-square test results (p=0.730) indicate that age of the respondents is independent towards the purpose of loan indicating that the reason for taking a loan by the incumbents of SHGs is not impacted by age. Mostly loans are being taken for myriad reasons without any consideration for age. This may suggest a trend where the purpose of taking a loan may be unique to each individual. This may even call for tailoring the loan requirements based on individual needs. Similar trend is noticed in relation to the chi-square value of p=0.339, which accepts the null hypothesis of the age of the respondents being independent towards the repayment of loan. Here it may be noted that as the repayment rate of micro loans as cited in most studies is positive it may be assumed that a culture of repayment has developed in the incumbents and has no impact of age. On the other hand, the null hypothesis is rejected (p=0.038) in relation to sources of income and the purpose of taking a loan implying that multiple source of income is dependent towards the purpose of loan. The result is logical to the extent that individuals with more sources of income may have different reasons for taking a loan. It has been said that extension of credit may in fact create new needs or at least promote the desire for new needs (Peebles, 2010; Strathern, 1992; cross ref: Schwittay, 2011). In relation to sources of income and repayment of loan also the null hypothesis is rejected with p=0.000 indicating that multiple source of income is having an influence on the repayment of loan. Here it may be inferred that loan

repayment may be directly related to multiple sources of income. Existence of multiple sources of loans suggests a considerably more affluent borrower who might in the process discourage the less affluent borrower. The MFIs therefore have to adopt flexi loans and different patterns of repayment to cater to the differences of income within the poor themselves.

Even in the null hypothesis concerning "type of the family is dependent towards the purpose of loan," the  $H_0$  is rejected (p=0.022), implying that type of family is basically interpreted as nuclear and joint or extended family has an impact on the purpose for which the loan is taken. But similar pattern is not seen in the type of family and the repayment of loan where the null is accepted with a p value of 0.336. This aspect may therefore be adopted by the in granting and fixing repayment schedules for the borrower thereby reducing the supply side barriers (Shankar, 2013).

The factor analysis identifies that the major factor impacting the MFI is that of 'loan details'. The respondents were of the opinion that there is a need to create a standardized system for aspects like loan amount to be sanctioned and the duration to be implemented by the MFIs for every loan provided. Such procedure creates confidence in the bank and enhances user trust. The second factor identified is that of bank performance which focuses on areas like loan disbursement and loan repayment banking which are significantly important for any financial institution MFI or otherwise. The third and fourth factors are banking procedures and outcomes respectively. All factors indicate that the respondents who are primarily the users of the loans are more focused on the banks adopting systematic procedures and unbiased policies. Most of the respondents have pointed out that many individuals are denied access to the loans due to a number of procedural aspects like lack of an identity proof, address proof, inability to attend the meetings regularly (ibid). Focus on these aspects is needed to make micro finance more users friendly.

The MFIs should develop monitoring cells to monitor the usage of loan taken. The MFIs need to concentrate on rural penetration to ensure distributed development. Lack of transparency in interest rates is one of the criticisms against the MFIs which need to be addressed.

Towards this end the NABARD has initiated projects in the states of Tamil Nadu and Maharashtra by introducing mobile, tablet and PC based accounting in 100

SHGs to allow the beneficiaries to track their transactions in their local language electronically. The initiative is also helpful in enabling MFIs, banks and the NABARD to generate relevant reports and help the SGHs to increase their efficiency and reduce the cost of their operations (IBEF Report, 2013).

# Conclusion

A number of financial institutions like the Citigroup, JP Morgan, Barclays and Deutsche bank have expanded their portfolios to include MF products making MF a good market (Schwittay, 2011). The portfolio is expanding beyond loans and moving towards products like savings and insurance suggesting a way to escape the 'tyranny of emergency' faced by most users (Appadurai, 2001: 30). Yet as this suggests the trend of these financial institutions in providing pure credit products, as purpose of taking an MF loan to be more personal than entrepreneurial, the NABARD places stress on the need to build capacity which should be the ultimate focus on any MF loan. The MF has presently emerged as an alternative financial instrument with a reasonable favorable risk profile and has been successful in "banking the unbankable" (Swanson, 2007; cross ref: Challapalli, 2018).

The rationale of microfinance is based on the assumption that financial aid initiatives will motivate human behaviour to achieve desired outcomes which may result in the individual indulging in microenterprise activities leading to either positive or negative income variations (Hulme, 2000). Some of the measures that can be undertaken to enhance the efficiency of microfinance by minimizing the transaction costs, correlating the repayment schedules to the income and savings of the borrower and reengineering the product to the specific needs of this segment of borrowers (Wright, 2000; cross ref: Morduch and Haley, 2002).

The microfinance sector as of today requires an effective regulatory system to scrutinize the utilization of the loan in view of its personal use rather than to be put into business use. Creating proper awareness on the ways and means to involve in economic activity can be taken up by the government and SHG partnership by involving major business schools like the IIM Ahmedabad which has an experienced Entrepreneurship incubation cell.

### Works Cited

Aduda, J. and Kalunda, E. (2012) 'Financial Inclusion and Financial Sector Stability with reference to Kenya: A Review of Literature,' *Journal of Applied Finance & Banking*, 2(6): 95-120.

Appadurai, A. (2001) 'Deep democracy: Urban governmentality and the horizon of politics,' *Environment and Urbanization* 13(2): 23-44.

Atomonov et al. (2018) Povcal Net Update – What's New, SELDAC -03, CPI, World Bank Group.

- Banerjee, A.; Duflo, E.; Glennerster, R. and Kinnan, C. (2009) 'The Miracle of Microfinance? Evidence from a Randomised Evaluation,' Department of Economics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) Working Paper.
- Brau, J. C. and Woller, G. M. (2004) 'Microfinance: A comprehensive review of the existing literature,' *Journal of Entrepreneurial Finance*, JEF, 9(1): 1-27.
- Bogan (2012) 'Capital Structure And Sustainability: An Empirical Study Of Microfinance Institutions,' *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 94(4): 1045-58.
- Bugg. A-Levine and Emerson, J. (2011) 'Impact Investing Transforming How We Make Money while Making a Difference,' *Innovations*, 6(3).
- Challapalli, P. (2018) 'Socially Responsible Investing, Microfinance, and Banking–Creating Value by Synergy,' *Indian Journal of Corporate Governance*, Sage Publications, 11(1): 69-87.
- Chibba, M. (2009) 'Financial Inclusion, Poverty Reduction and the Millennium Development Goals,' *European Journal of Development Research*, 21: 213-30.
- Chowdhury, A. (2009) 'Microfinance as a Poverty Reduction Tool A Critical Assessment,' *DESA* Working Paper No. 89, ST/ESA/2009/DWP/89.
- Collier, S.L. and Ong, A. (2005) 'Global assemblages, anthropological problems,' Collier, S.L. and Ong, A. (eds.) *Global Assemblages: Technology, Politics, and Ethics as Anthropological Problems*, Malden, MA: Blackwell: 3-21.
- Delfiner and Peron (2007) 'Commercial Banks and Microfinance,' 10229, *Central Bank of Argentina*, http://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/10229/ MPRA, Paper No. 10229, Accessed on 30August 2008.
- De Sousa-Shields, M. (2004) 'Financing Microfinance Institutions,' USAID Micronote, 8, Accelerated Microenterprise Advancement Project, USAID.
- Ghosh, R. (2005) 'Microfinance in India: A Critique,' http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/ public/documents/APCITY/UNPAN024232.pdf,Accessed on 23 March 2017.
- Gravesteijna, R.; Hoepnerb, A. G. F.; Jain, M. K. (2015) 'Effects of Microcredit on the Poverty of Borrowers using the Progress out of Poverty Index: Evidence from Asian MFIs,' ICMA Centre, Henley Business School, University of Reading, Whiteknights Campus, Reading, RG6 6BA, UK Discussion paper.
- Hazelton, V. and Keenan, W. (2000) 'Social capital: Reconceptualizing the bottom line,' *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 5(2): 81-87.
- Herme, N. and Lensik, R. (2011) 'Microfinance: Its Impact Outreach and Sustainability,' World Development, 39(6): 875-81.
- Hulme, D. and Mosley, P. (1996) 'Finance against poverty,' 1 and 2, London: Routledge.
- Hulme, D. (2000) 'Impact Assessment Methodologies for Microfinance: Theory, Experience and Better Practice,' *World Development*, 28(1): 79-98, Elsevier Science.
- India Brand Equity foundation (IBEF2013) (2016) 'Evolving landscape of microfinance institutions in India,' *Microfinance: A Step to Empower the Poor,* https://www.ibef.org/download/ Micro-finance-A-step-to-empower-the-poor-040213.pdf, Ernest and Young Publication.
- Kempson, E. C.; Whyley, J. C. and Collard, S. (2000) 'In or out? Financial Exclusion: A Literature and Research Review, Report,' *Financial Services Authority*.
- Levine-Bugg and Emerson (2011) 'Impact Investing Transforming How We Make Money while Making a Difference,' *Innovations*, 6(3).
- Leyshon, A. and Thrift, N. (1995) 'Geographies of financial exclusion financial abandonment in Britain and the United States,' *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 20(3): 312-41.
- MFIN (2018) Micrometer, NABARD Report on Status of Microfinance in India 2016-2017, https://mfinindia.org/mfin-publications.
- Marr, A. (2004) 'A challenge to the orthodoxy concerning microfinance and poverty reduction,' *Journal of Microfinance*, 5(2): 1-35.
- ---. and Tubaro, P. (2013) 'The microfinance wholesale lending market: a comparative study of India, Peru and Tanzania,' International Journal of Economics and Business Research, 5(1): 33-54.
- Mohan, R. (2006) *Economic Growth, Financial Deepening and Financial Inclusion*. Reserve Bank of India Publications.
- Montgomery and Kurmanaleiva (2003) 'Micro Finance and Poverty Reduction in Asia: What is the Evidence?, 'ADB Institute Research Paper 53.
- Mutua, K.; Nataradol, P.; Otero, M. and Chung, B. (1996) 'The view from the field: Perspectives from Managers of Microfinance Institutions,' *Journal of International Development* 8, 179-93.
- Niels, H. and Robert, L. (2011) 'Microfinance: Its impact, outreach and sustainability,' World Development, 39(6): 875-81, Elsevier Ltd.
- Peebles, G. (2010) 'The anthropology of credit and debt,' *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 39: 240-55.
- Phillips and Ilcan (2007) 'Responsible Expertise: Governing the Uncertain Subjects of Biotechnology,' *Critique of Anthropology*, 27: 103.

- Rahman, A. (1999) 'Micro-credit Initiatives for Equitable and Sustainable Development: Who Pays?,' *World Development*, 27(1): 67-82.
- Rhyne, E. (2009) 'Microfinance for Bankers and Investors: Understanding the Opportunity at the Bottom of the Pyramid,' *Center for Financial Inclusion*, McGraw-Hill Publishing.
- Shankar, S. (2013) 'Financial Inclusion in India: Do Microfinance Institutions Address Access Barriers,' *ACRN Journal of Entrepreneurship Perspectives*, 2(1): 60-74.
- Schwittay (2011) 'The Financial Inclusion Assemblage: Subjects, Technics, Rationalities,' *Critique of Anthropology*, 31: 381.
- Strathern, M. (1992) 'Qualified value: The perspective of gift exchange,' Humphrey, C. and Hugh-Jones, S. (eds.) *Barter, Exchange and Value: An Anthropological Approach*, Cambridge: Cambridge UP: 169-91.
- Taylor, M. (2012) 'The Antinomies of 'Financial Inclusion': Debt, Distress and the Workings of Indian Microfinance,' *Journal of Agrarian Change*, 12(4): 601-10.
- World Bank Report (2008), http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTANNREP2K8/Resources/YR 00year\_in\_Review\_English.pdf.
- Yaron, J.; Benjamin, M. and Piprek, G. (1997) *Rural Finance: Issues, Design and Best Practices*, Washington, DC: Agriculture and Natural Resources Department, World Bank.
- Yunus, M. (2003) 'Banker to the Poor: Micro-lending and the Battle Against World Poverty,' *Public Affairs,* New York.

# Satire as a Weapon of Ridicule and Veiled Critique of Human Relationships in Pravinsinh Chavda's *Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai*

Dr Sapna Dogra Assistant Prof, English Govt. College Baroh, Kangra, HP University

This paper seeks to explore the use of the literary device of satire as a weapon of ridicule in order to delve into the issue of the nexus betweenpolitics, power and relationships in Pravinsinh Chavda'ssatirical novel *Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai* (2015). The paper will explore the intuitive mirth, heavy use of irony and reduction of mythological terminologyto argue that the plot is nothing but a movement toward the final moments of ministership that comes Jagubhai's way but is perpetually deferred till it is completelybrushed aside. In a playful spirit, mythological terminology is reduced to banality by the use of invective. The narrative is interspersed with allusions to Indian mythology and epicswhich demands the reader to be well versed in Indian classical literature. *Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai* not only offers to ridicule Indian politicians but is also a veiled critique of human relationships. The use of irony and reduction of mythological terminology is deployed to critique political aspiration and human relationships that conjure up and vanish like airy nothings in the wake of political fulfilment and failures.

Keywords: satire, Pravinsinh Chavda, ridicule, mythology, Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai

Yes, I am proud; I must be proud to see Men, not afraid of God, afraid of me; Safe from the Bar, the pulpit, and the Throne, Yet touch'd and ashamed by ridicule Alone. (Alexander Pope in 'Epilogue to the Satires,' Dialogue 2)

Pravinsinh Chavda is a bestselling Gujarati writer and has ushered in a new idiom of political satire in India. A sense of jocular denunciation arises from every page of his satirical novel *Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai*<sup>1</sup> (2003). The novel was translated into English by Mira Desai in 2015 and was Chavda's maiden venture into the field

of novel writing. Politicians like Jagubhai (the eponymous protagonist) are commonplace in the Indian political landscape. Modern-day readers in India are quick to identify wily politicians and the lives of such politicians have always been a thriving ground for satirists. *Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai* seeks to shatter comforting illusions about the leader as the true repository of national love and selflessness. It makes the readers ponder and look inwards at their own false sense of duty. Gujarat MLA Jagubhai is an easily identifiable Indian politician.

The novel is a satire in the tradition of Shrilal Shukla's Raag Darbari (1968). This satirical novel received the highly prized Sahitya Akademi Award in 1970. Raag Darbari was set in the 1950s and was a critique of the post-Nehruvian era that sought fulfilment of the idealism of the nationalist movement. Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai carries forward the tradition of political satire and is about the passive acceptance on the part of Indians that their political system is nothing but utterly rusted machinery that would never work again. Things haven't changed much on the political front since Raag Darbari. Corruption in politics has taken firm roots in the psyche of post-Independence Indians. Shukla's book is one of the greatest satires ever written, and he uses emblematic characters to put the spotlight on the political realities of India. Raag Darbari was called "the seal on the coffin of idealism of the nationalist movement, which had extended into the post-colonial era but which could no longer sustain itself in the face of its increasingly disappointing actualisation" (Anjaria, 2006: 4797). What Ulka Anjaria says in context of post-colonial political satire of India with special reference to Raag Darbari can be applied to Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai as well: "It not only makes a humorous political critique, but also quite poignantly represents the extent to which the disillusionment of the era penetrates deeply into the Indian psyche – into the very crevices between the representation and the real" (4795). Each and every page of Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai is tinged with overtones of power struggle depicted in a satirical vein. The humorous take on the nexus between power, media, politics and relationships, that is familiar to every reader who has read Raag Darbari, is laid bare before the readers.

Today, politics at local as well as the international levels is rife with tension and we are witnessing a proliferation of political satires across all media in which satire serves as a counternarrative. Meghan R. Hill situates satire "within narrative studies, conceptualising satire as a type of counternarrative intended to resist

entrenched accounts of how the world works" (2013: 324). Satire is of universal interest to readers and audience across the world. At its core, satire is "the literary art of diminishing or derogating a subject by making it ridiculous and evoking toward it attitudes of amusement, contempt, scorn, or indignation" (Abrams,1999: 275). In fact, Leonard Feinberg describes satire as a "playfully critical distortion of the familiar" (1967: 19). A mark of a good satirist is his or her ability to fully capture the object of satire in its entirety, to get under the skin of the person, issue, idea, institution, philosophy under attack without making an explicitly visible incision. Patricia Meyer Spacks states that:

Satire has traditionally had a public function, and its public orientation remains. Although the satirist may arraign God and the universe...he usually seems to believe – at least to hope – that change is possible. Personal change, in his view, leads to social change; he insists that badmen make bad societies. He shows us ourselves and our world; he demands that we improve both. And he creates a kind of emotion which moves us toward the desire to change. (1971: 363)

Most satires attempt social reform by exposing the hypocrisy and follies of society. Ridicule has the ability to strip its target of its prestige and mystique. Satire as a weapon of ridicule roots out the target's notion of invincibility. Murphy Rex maintains:

Today's satire has forgotten its function, or more precisely, reversed it. It confirms where it should challenge, seeks laughter as a bond rather than a challenge. We seem to have passed some invisible point in the discussion of public affairs where it was merely sufficient to register disagreement with the other side and to set out arguments, with respect, against it. We ridicule rather than counter; vilify rather than contend. (2006)

This can be further supported by what Lisa Colletta says:

[M]odernist social satire...do[es] not ridicule cultural values or societal vice with the hope that they may be corrected. Alternative ideas are never offered...and they do not assume the successful integration of the individual into society. Instead, they propose nothing in the form of social change and view all ideological systems – from religious and domestic hierarchies to political power structures – as essentially the same, oppressive to the individuals within them because of the inability of any system to adequately address the complex nature of human existence. (2003: 12)

Most satirists write not merely out of personal indignation but also with a concern for public interest and sense of moral vocation. "No great movement designed to change the world can bear to be laughed at or belittled," Czechoslovakian novelist Milan Kundera wrote in *The Joke*, "because laughter is the rust that corrodes everything" (1984: 7). According to George Orwell, "Every joke is a tiny

revolution....Whatever destroys dignity, and brings down the mighty from their seats, preferably with a bump, is funny" (1945: 2). The ability of the satire to be comic and acerbic at the same time is its crowning feature. An ideal satire has the ability to mock, subvert and resist the norms. But in *Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai* the aim of the novelist is not to reform but to ridicule the existing social and political system. Chavda feels that defining this novel as a 'political satire' is to limit its scope because it's more of an unlikely event in the life of an 'unusual politician' and less of a story. There is no attempt at philosophizing on matters of politics, religion and relationships. There is no desire to convey any message. The theme of the novel is centredon a fantastic portrayal of rags-to-riches characterized by political and social realism typical of India. The whip of satire falls on the illegal use of political power for the satisfaction of one's own ego, falsehood, hypocrisy and manipulation. The entire plot is a mere exercise of wings of Jagubhai's imagination, moving towards the realization of truth, and acceptance of failure without frustration.

In a playful spirit, mythological terminology is reduced to banality by the use of invective. The narrative is interspersed with allusions to Indian epics *Ramayana* and *Mahabharata*; philosophy of *Karma* and *Maya*; ironic references to Kautilya's *Arthashastra*, Kalidasa, *Vidur Neeti*, Chanakya, Chitragupt and grandiose words like *Rajdharma*, *praja*, *katha*, *yagna*, *chakravarti*, *mahapurush*, *Satyanarayan puja*, *Katha*, *yagna*, etc. Vikas and Ganesh are ironically referred to as "karmayogis, worshippers of the work ethics" (Chavda, 2015: 34). Some of the chapter titles like "Rebirth", "Prophecy", "Cosmic Vision", "The Duties of a Ruler" and "Parables" make the novel a multi-layered narrative with heavy usage of allusions to Hindu epics and mythologies which demands the reader to be well versed in Indian classical literature. By endowing the milkman who brought the auspicious news of Jagubhai's ministership, with the name of "Gopbaal", Lord Krishna's childhood companion, an insignificant character is also indirectly made a participant in the cosmic design of ministership.

Jagubhai's uncle, Prunukaka's prophecy that "Jaga would become a *chakravarti*" (55), sets a whirlpool of expectations for the readers and the characters but it turns out to be partly true only and the dream of ministership never sees the light of the day. According to Pranukaka's prophecy, "in all of history there have been only three *Ajaanbahu*, long-limbed rulers with this lucky sign, and he wanted the fourth

to be bred in this house.... The first was Arjun from the Mahabharata. The second was Maharaja Sayajirao of Baroda. The first was the father of our nation" (52). Pranukaka is no less than a mythological character of the *puranas* for Jagubhai. Jagubhai has a deep respect for Pranukaka and tells Rajshekhar: "Without the stories about our very learned, multifaceted elders, your education is incomplete and every corner of your heart and soul is not inundated with colour and delight" (53). He further adds:

Kaka was not concerned with the destiny of the world or nation. He believed they would both take care of themselves. He had only one focus -- me, his nephew. Pranukaka would say, "For that, one is required to examine the body like a doctor would. Mainly the fingers and toes to be checked, because a chakravarti king is supposed to possess signs of the chakra, a complete whorl, on all twenty of this toes and fingers. . .He would count upto nineteen. But stop at twenty. He was doubtful about the twentieth whorl, the one on the left thumb." But still he prophesied "That Jaga would become a chakravarti". (55)

Together with mythological terminology, the trope of historical construction has also been deployed for comedy. The eighth chapter, "Rewriting History" is about the history of uncle-nephew: Jagubhai–Rajshekhar's relationship. Rajshekhar's father did not approve of Jagubhai because after his father's death he began disposing of his father's money and properties. They represented a clash of two sets of opposing principles and philosophy. Rajshekhar's father believed that the goodfor-nothing Jagubhai had brought a bad name to the family. On the other hand, Jagubhai didn't hold high opinions of his brother-in-law's family. Rajshekhar had been witness to emotional strain between his father and uncle. Jagubhai is still all praise for his dead brother-in-law.

Like a typical satire, *Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai* is also marked by continuous inflation and deflation. Jagubhai recites Urdu couplets through the course of the narrative like:

Dil e nadaan, tujhe hua kya hai? (13) aah ko chahiye ek umra asar honey tak (33) boo-e gul, nalaan ae dil, doode charaghe mehfil, jo bhi teri bazm se nikla, bekaraar nikla (34)

Such high-flown Urdu poetry fails to register its meaning on simple-minded people like Ganesh and Vikas. On being asked about his knowledge of poetry, Jagubhai tells Ganesh that he learned poetry in the beer bars of Mumbai. Jagubhai is assertive in displaying a false sense of humility. He treats his servants like family members to project an image of a man who is grounded. He narrates long stories of his struggles in college in Mumbai film industries, but the so-called pretentious struggles and adversities he had faced are not convincing enough to expect that he would become a minister.

When Jagubhai finds ministership standing uninvited at his door at Swapanlok, his bungalow, he suddenly finds a change in his fortunes overnight. Jagubhai finds from a local newspaper that his name is amongst the possible candidates for the coveted ministership. Expectedly, "Many businessmen, industrialists and managers of large companies came from Ahmedabad. All of them would enter the living room carrying garlands, and their drivers would take baskets of sweets into Vikas's kitchen" (22). Party workers, police officers, forest people and sales tax people paid their respect one after another to the minister-in-waiting. Everything unfolds in the most comic way imaginable. Aditya Mani Jha is right when he says that "Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai is a short and crisp novel about the nature of political power: elusive, all-consuming and uncompromising" (2015). First and foremost, Rajshekhar, Jagubhai's nephew who is no less than his "Sancho Panza" (149) as Chavda calls him, suddenly drops as a self-styled newly appointed personal secretary of the minister-in-waiting. He is a petty government official and is a chief source of humour in the story. He writes an elaborate letter to Jagubhai mentioning everything that comes to his mind only to tear the letter off towards the end in favour of meeting Jagubhai in person. He treats it as urgent because "every minister has a personal secretary" (21). The chapter seems to be lifted straight out of Lawrence Stern's Tristram Shandy (originally published in a book form in 1759) with features like digression and double entendre.

Like a 'hot-tempered warrior' Rajshekhar counts his chickens before hatching; he writes to his wife, "I may not have the time to bathe, eat, sleep. You don't know the world of politics. A hundred games will be played there, and complex mechanisations executed" (39). It is innocent of him to think that he would soon have to resign from the mamlatdar's post, as a highly complex world of politics awaits him. Bathos is at its best when Rajshekhar "reached the Sadadya Niwas, the MLA quarters in the state capital, he couldn't believe what he saw. The residence of the minister-in-waiting was bereft of the crowd and chaos that one would expect in such a place" (40). Consequently, Rajshekhar is unable to make sense of the increasingly absurd situation. Expectedly, the moment he comes to Swapanlok, 'the

spirit of secretary' entershim. He feels,

I will require a phone diary. Paper and files. I must put everything in order today. (48) I need a separate office. Everything must be methodical and systematic. (56)

He now had an opportunity to play power games, the likes of which he had only read about in historical novels before this. (68)

One of the funniest and the most symbolic scenes of the novel is Jagubhai's meeting with the Chief Minister where Rajshekhar 'becomes invisible' in the CM's presence. What Rajshekhar does is either not noticed or ignored. Even before Jagubhai enters the room of the CM, he is warned by CM's PA that "Jagubhai, if someone accompanies you, sahib will not like it. He may lose his temper." Jagubahi is quick to correct him as he asserts, "This isn't just someone, he's my nephew, my shadow – no, not my shadow, but he is me myself - we are one, inseparable. Come along, my secretary!" (73) Jagubhai calls Rajshekhar his "robber chief" (40). Opportunistic Rajshekhar reminds Jagubhai of his struggling days as a junior artist in Bombay's film industry. And he is "deeply affected by the phenomenon of Rajshekhar's becoming invisible in the CM's presence" (83).

The meeting with the chief minister is marked by a superficial conversation that has references to USSR, history, languages, comrades, migration problem and books, in no specific context. Every topic is touched upon without any unity in subject. Every dialogue is a digression from what had been said earlier. According to Rajshekhar, the meeting with the CM was no less than a 'philosophical discourse' as he later tells Ganesh in which, "History, religion, migration of people and their travails, Russian revolution, University education, the garba dance of our navratri...no subject was left untouched" (82). Satire heightens when on leaving the minister's house, Jagubhai comments on a painting in his house, "All the pictures in your bungalow depict a woman, wounded and covered in blood. What should one make of that? Does that represent the *praja*, the people?" (79). The minister simply laughs it off but the meaning is not lost upon the readers as is espoused here:

The scathing, poignant and funny indictment of contemporary Indian politicians is laid bare for the readers. And herein is also foregrounded the meticulous observation that Jagubhai is capable of. Jagubhai is a bundle of contradictions — prankster, shrewd but not a villain. He is cynical yet hopeful. He has the ability to laugh at the political world to which he himself belongs. He looks at the world of politics with a quaint objectivity. At times Jagubhai appears to be intelligently sensitive, cynical and sympathetic in his comments and observations. As he tells Jyuthika who wants to write his biography, "I'm a prankster who will lead you around in circles". (Dogra, 2016: 197)

Jagubhai is amused and extremely delighted and flattered when Jyuthika, a journalist joins the cavalcade with a proposal to write his biography. Like everything in this novel, even his biography is left incomplete. His biography, that Jyuthika intends to write, is like ministership that comes his way but is never materialized. His approach to everything, whether it's writing his biography or getting a seat in the cabinet is casual which is evident from his following remarks:

If you don't have my birth date I'll write that on a chit along with the name of my late parents. Take that and begin writing. As you proceed, create episodes as you please.(62)

Then put it down in your book. Whatever proof, documents, witnesses you need to establish the truth, we'll arrange for all that. (133)

For the sake of order and neatness in biography, Jagubhai sees his life in three huge waves: the journey to Mumbai, return to the homeland as a farmer, and the third wave is not told. The third wave belongs to the future with Jagubhai as a politician but he is smart enough to not count his chickens before hatching. Rahshekhar believed that "life had to be edited, facts shifted, selections and rejections made in order to fit into a proper, presentable biography" (65). But, Jagubhai prefers to delay the project of his biography as much as he can. The character of Jyuthika, the "newspaperwoman" is a satire on the modern-day journalists. Chavda writes:

[She] sauntered in through Ganesh's garden showing much interest in fertilizers and birds, but the article that she wrote was about Jagubhai. It had been published in a national newspaper, and had been praised for its expressive photo, characteristic sketches of the politicians, and the exact English rendering of his rustic Gujarati. Many matters which had not been touched upon in the interview had been featured; the gaping holes in Jagubhai's life story had been taken up and suggestive references made of his affair with the films. (59)

Later, upon learning about Jagubhai's political future she tells him, "You're an unusual man, J.B., you're a rebel, your soul is that of an artist...You don't seem serious about anything, yet deep down, you're serious. You're a warrior of the frontier" (61). Her speech is replete with irony. Relationships in Swapanlok change overnight with ministership looming in the background.

As far as the idea of the protagonist Jagubhai is concerned, Chavda posits:

Jagubhai was for real. I had the privilege of meeting him on a few occasions through his nephew, who happened to be a close friend of mine...this 'Cinderella' story of the transformation of a poor villager into an important political figure in the state capital.... This was a case of life seeking art, a willing person yearning to be transformed into a fictional character. (148)

Jagubhai is particular about the paraphernalia of being a politician. Wearing kurtapajama, the uniform of politicians, Jagubhai has surely learned the tricks of the trade. Jagubhai's narrative skills, "experiments" (8) with life or his "list of miracles" (8) are endearing. We are told that "In the liberal air of the college, Jagubhai was greeted by a cloud of cigarette smoke. Sniffing at this trail, Jagubhai first reached out for liquor and then gambled" (9). The principal of the college with a "limited understanding of life suspended him, he proceeded homewards with intensified vigour"(9). After selling his father's land, the golden paths led him to the film industry. "Farmer born as MLA! Not even a particle of the past sticks to me now," (9) he says. This is ironic because the past is like a halo. One must bear in mind that from the very beginning Jagubhai is not an agent of change. Events unfold without his actions. "He, Jagubhai, hadn't gone around asking for his MLAship... If on its own...if it came of his own will" (3). Despite been allotted official quarters, MLA Jagubhai resides in Ganesh's bungalow, "Palatial Swapnalok," the "dreamland". Swapanlok is a "temple," the dreamland where dreams are virtually fulfilled. It's a momentary space that he enters, only to leave, to re-join reality. Ganesh is, without doubt, the "most dedicated supporter" of Jagubhai, "the unusual politician". In "vazir" like Ganeshbhai, we find an avid supporter and follower who is bewitched and enamoured by the position that Jagubhai holds, his knowledge and above all his humble personality. Like Lord Hanuman, he is dedicated to the goodwill of his master without an iota of selfishness. His childlike eagerness in expecting to see Jagubhai getting inducted into the state cabinet gives the readers many instances of sheer humour and fun. Ganesh's foolishness and lack of any understanding of bureaucracy and politics come out when he "buys office supplies and innocently buys compass box and a set of crayons as well"(56).

No character ever comes across as villainous. Far from being a villainous politician, Jagubhai is shown to possess endearing kindness, concern and an ability to accommodate the point of view even of humble servants of his household. Whether it's Ganesh, his most "dedicated disciple" whose "devotion to this unusual politician had led him to bring Jagubhai from his modest two-room official MLA quarters and put him up in palatial Swapanlok, with an AC car at his service" (8) or Tarabai, who receives a Shakuntala like *vidai* when she leaves Jagubhai to live with her daughter in Mumbai, or Vikas who had superhuman<sup>2</sup> abilities, Jagubhai embraces everyone.

The last chapter titled "A New Chapter in Jagubhai's Biography" refuses to conclude the novel but marks a new beginning in his life.In an anti-climactic moment, Rajshekhar chances upon just four lines in the newspaper where "the hon'ble CM stated that in view of the prevailing circumstances the idea of cabinet expansion had been dropped. Exactly what the circumstances were had not been defined" (118). The bomb diffuses without an explosion and the readers are left with a sense of deprivation.

Despite the feeling of loss and uncertainty towards the end, the novel insists on being funny. The narrative ends but without any definitive conclusion. The title of the novel becomes doubly ironic, Jagubhai never becomes a minister and there is nothing honourable in the way he would have gained his ministership. Like any great satire, Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai also retains a spirit of fun and delight. The author seems to have neither personal indignation, nor a sense of moral duty to usher in reform through the medium of satire. He doesn't steer the readers towards an ideal alternative as is expected of all satirists, nor does he seek any reformation or improvement of our political system or leaders. He aims at intuitive mirth without trying to evoke visceral contempt for politicians and politics.<sup>3</sup> Like the Thakor's tale in the fifth chapter and the story of Bhavanikaka in the seventh chapter, each narrative stream is "left hanging" (23) midway. Chavda firmly believes that categorising this novel simply as a political satire is to limit its scope. He says,"Maybe it was perceived as a political satire, an interpretation that could be applied only to the surface of the story" (147). Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai uses satire to explore the nexus among politics, power and relationships. By the use of irony and reduction of mythological terminology the plot is but a movement toward the final moments of ministership that comes Jagubhai's way but is perpetually deferred till it is completely brushed aside. Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai not only offers to ridicule the Indian politicians but is also a veiled critique of human relationships. The heavy use of irony and reduction of mythological knowledge is deployed to critique political aspiration and human relationships that conjures up and vanishes as airy nothing in the wake of political fulfilment and failures.

#### Endnotes:

<sup>1</sup>*Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai* was first published in Gujarati as *Jagubhai No Punarjanma* (2003). The English translation of the novel by Mira Desai came out in 2015. It was Chavda's short story *Antim Adhyay* (The Final Chapter) published in 2000 that grew into the novel. The character of Jagubhai first appeared in *Antim Adhyay*. Mira Desai's translation of the story as "The Final Chapter" is also

included in the Harper Collins edition of Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai.

<sup>2</sup>There's an amazing similarity in the superhuman abilities of Vikas and Mrs. Sparsit of Charles Dicken's *Hard Times* (originally published in 1854). We are told that Vikas "could walk soundlessly. He had the gift of hearing past walls and could enter a room without opening the door. Suspicious of all these extraordinary powers, Jagubhai had once hauled him by the collar to the garden, and only after verifying that he indeed had a shadow and hence was not a ghost, had he let him go" (Chavda, 2015:28). Compare the description of Mrs. Sparsit: "She was a most wonderful woman for prowling about the house. How she got from story to story was a mystery beyond solution. A lady so decorous in herself, and so highly connected, was not to be suspected of dropping over the banisters or sliding down them, yet her extraordinary facility of locomotion suggested the wild idea. Another noticeable circumstances in Mrs Sparsit was that she was never hurried. She would shoot with consummate velocity from the roof to the hall, yet would be in full possession of her breath and dignity on the moment of her arrival there. Neither was she ever seen by human vision to go at a great pace" (Dickens, 2001: 147).

<sup>3</sup>In the Harper Perennial edition of the novel, one finds towards the end of the book an excellent conversation between Mira Desai and Chavda that unravels the author's life and delves into the issues of writer's craft and inspiration.

#### Works Cited:

Abrams, M. H. (1999) A Glossary of Literary Terms (7th ed.), Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace.

- Anjaria, U. (2006) 'Satire, Literary Realism and the Indian State: Six Acres and a Third and Raag Darbari,' *Economic and Political Weekly*, 41(46), *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/4418923, Accessed on 12 February 2019:4795-800.
- Chavda, P. C. (2015) Hon'ble Minister Jagubhai, New Delhi: Harper Perennial.
- Colletta, L. (2003) *Dark Humour and Social Satire in the Modern British Novel*, New York: Palgrave MacMillan.
- Dickens, C. (2001) *Hard Times*. (Ed. Mukesh Williams), Worldview Publication: New Delhi. (originally published in 1854).
- Desai, M. (2015) 'Talking Translation,'*The Metrognome*, June 11, http://www.themetrognome.in/ hum-log/talking-translations, Accessed on 12 February 2019.
- Dogra, S. (2016) 'Grave Politics in a Lighter Vein,' Indian Literature, 60(4): 195-98.

Feinberg, L. (1967) Introduction to Satire. Ames: The Iowa State University Press.

Hill, M. R. (2013) 'Developing a Narrative Approach to Political Satire: A Critical Perspective,' *International Journal of Communication*, 7: 324-37.

Jha, A. M. (2015) 'When Pipe Dreams Come True, They Take Over Your Life,' https:// www.pressreader.com/india/the-sunday-guardian/20150906/page/27, Accessed on 12 February 2019.

Kundera, M. (1984) The Joke. trans. Henry Heim. New York: Harper and Row.

- Murphy, Rex. (2006) 'Satire Has Forgotten Its Function,'*The Globe and Mail*, https://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/satire-has-forgotten-its-function/article731761/, Accessed on 12 February 2019.
- Orwell, G. (1945) 'Funny but not Vulgar,' https://orwell.ru/library/articles/funny/english/e\_funny, Accessed on 12 February 2019.
- Pope, A. (1738) 'Epilogue to the Satires,' *Dialogue* 2,\_https://www.bartleby.com/203/157.html, Accessed on 12 February 2019.

Shukla, S. (1992) Raag Darbari: A Novel. Trans. Gillian Wright. New Delhi: Penguin.

Spacks, P.M. (1971) 'Some Reflections on Satire,' Ronald Paulson (ed.), Satire: Modern Essays in Criticism. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall: 360-78 (originally published in Genre, 1:13-20, 1968).

Stern, L. (2003) The Life and Opinions of Tristram Shandy, Gentleman. London: Penguin.

# Poetry of Protest: A study of the Translations of Faiz's Prison Poetry

6

Ritu Sharma Assistant Prof, English DAV College-10, Chandigarh

With the changes in the socio-political conditions of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, the poetic sensibility of Urdu poets turned away from the classical tradition of accepting the status quo to a more progressive and flexible tone based on their commitment to social change coupled with a strong desire for a positive restructuring of the society at large. Poets had now begun to dream of putting an end to repression, and they were dreaming of revolution and peace. Faiz Ahmed Faiz's poetry, especially that he had written in prison, dealt not only with the pathos, suffering, turmoil and struggle of humanity but also painted verbal pictures of the beauty and romance of our daily lives. With the richness and depth of his feelings, he gave a new dimension to Urdu poetry. His understanding of humanity, realism and liberalism combined with fineness, pulsates and projects socio-political events of his time through poetry.

Keywords: poetic sensibility, realism, romanticism, liberalism, progressivism

Twentieth century Indian literature was coloured by political aspirations. Under three great influential figures, i.e. Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi, Karl Marx and Sigmund Freud, who had a profound effect on young writers all over India, the spiritual note of Medieval Indian poetry became fainter and came to be replaced with earthly pain and longing. Gandhi transfigured the image of India and was responsible for turning national idealism from its futile adulation and glorification of the past to face the reality of India as an impoverished, starving and helpless nation. The songs and poems of Tamil poet, Bharathi, Bengali poet, Kazi Nazrul Islam and many more passionately voiced contemporary social and political concerns. The present paper is an endeavour to present the poetry of Faiz Ahmed Faiz, a notable 20<sup>th</sup> century Urdu poet, as an instrument of assertion, protest, participation, and as a great tool for restructuring the social order.

Raymond Williams writes in his book, *Marxism and Literature*, "Literature is defined as full, central, immediate human experience; usually with an associated

reference to minute particulars" (1977: 52). While giving importance to 'popular literature,' he says, "an important inclusion of 'popular literature' i.e. the literature of the people – is a necessary but neglected part of the literary tradition and a sustained but uneven attempt to relate 'literature' to the social and economic history within which it had been produced" (1977: 52). Under Marxist influence, Indian writers like Munshi Premchand, Faiz Ahmed Faiz, Nagarjun, Kazi Nasrul Islam, Sri Sri, Josh Malihabadi, Amrita Pritam and many others started writing the 'literature of the people' and since it was written in regional languages, it led to the popularity of the literatures written in vernacular. It is in this light that the present paper aims at studying Faiz's contribution as a Progressive Urdu poet, who, while giving a new meaning and significance to Urdu literary traditions, remained throughout his life a committed Urdu poet and great humanist.

If we trace the history of Urdu poetry, we find that in the 18<sup>th</sup> century when Urdu flourished as the language of poetry, it had already adopted many conventions of the Persian, which was the language of the court and society in Delhi. Nobles and princes sought the company of poets and patronized them. Ahmed Ali in his book, *The Golden Tradition* writes about Urdu poetry, especially the *ghazal* that it "adopted the livelier aspects of life and concerned itself with love alone, the charms of the beloved, the moods of the lover and aesthetic beauty and kept the conception of love and the loved one on the highest idealistic plane" (1973: 14).

The  $18^{th}$  century witnessed the triumph of the vernacular; poetry came to be widespread and penetrated the lower sections of the society and it was no longer the privilege of the noble men or the elite section of the society. With the end of the Mughal Empire and the reign of the British power in India, the entire age was filled with doubts and uncertainties, religious controversies, orthodoxy and moral recession, revolts, decay and disorder. Poets began to use old symbols in new contexts and contemporary meanings in keeping with the changing socio-political order – the 'executioner' came to refer to the British as did the 'rival'. The *kalessa* or church and *Kaaba* were charged with new meaning (Ali, 1973: 20).

In the 1930s, the disillusioned revolutionaries, non-cooperation movement activists, *khilafats* and labour and peasant activists gathered and organized to form Indian communism, which sought new roads to political and social emancipation. M. N. Roy, India's first communist theorist and founder of the Radical Democratic

Party, had envisaged a combined revolution in the colonies. According to him, overthrow of the colonial rule would be the "first step towards a revolution in the colonies, to help overthrow the foreign rule in the colonies is not to endorse the nationalist aspirations of the native bourgeoisie, but to open the way to the smothered proletariat there" (Sarkar, 1983: 43). The long struggle with the British was producing dissatisfaction with the Gandhian methods, people were getting more and more influenced by the modern left wing i.e. Marxist political solutions.

All India Progressive Writers' Association (PWA), founded in 1930 by the progressive writers was not only a literary movement but also a social and political one. This movement influenced Urdu writers the most. Ralph Russel, in his book How Not to Write the History of Urdu Literature, observes that the manifesto of the Indian Progressive Writers stated clearly that the new literature of India must deal with the basic problems of our existence today – the problems of hunger and poverty, social backwardness and political subjugation, so that it may help to understand these problems (1999:71). Terrible massacres followed the partition of India and it was now that Faiz, who was one of the leading lights of Progressive Writers' Association, wrote one of his best known poems, 'Freedom's Dawn' (1947). The poem is remarkable as an expression of his sense of deep pain and tragedy - with not only the massacre, hatred and unending violence, but also the new born Pakistan that appeared to have become a haven for feudal lords and selfish politicians. Faiz became the Vice President of the Pakistan Trade Union Federation and also joined Pakistan Peace Committee as Secretary. In keeping with his radical aesthetic, Faiz worked assiduously not only as a scholar and a critic, but also as chief editor of the Pakistan Times and other news journals. The Spanish Civil War and the contribution of the European writers in the antifascist struggle attracted his attention and interest.

For Faiz Ahmed Faiz, poetry was not just a vehicle of personal expression; it was a matter of communicating the collective expression of the people of his age. In his article, "*Jehd-O-Kavish Ki Do Sooratein*", Faiz defines literature as, "an effective and satisfactory expression of human experience" (Faiz, 1987: 33). It even includes those impressions which an individual would absorb consciously or unconsciously, from the collective experience of his milieu, society and the contemporary human community. His poetry assumed a new depth and dimension and he became one of the most popular poets of the radical youth. He was now giving voice to their urge

for freedom and justice. Faiz had accepted Marxism as his philosophy of life and he strongly believed that a Marxist must combine his theory and practice. He got in touch with the trade unions and became the President of the Federation of the Trade Unions of Pakistan. Under his editorship, *The Pakistan Times* became one of the best edited and acclaimed newspapers in the continent. This was the most hectic period of his life as he was editing a leading daily, guiding the trade unions' and the writers' movement and writing poetry, side by side. Since he was challenging the authorities through his writing, Faiz was arrested in Rawalpindi Conspiracy case in 1951. Solitary confinement in March 1951 (in which he was denied access to even pen and paper) and imprisonment of four years proved to be a blessing in disguise for his poetic career.

Faiz believed that freedom and peace were the two basic things which every human being dwelling on the earth yearned and desired for. But instead of lamenting mankind's plight, he gave a call for a vital social change. He firmly believed that by righting the age-old wrongs, human destiny can be improved. By making sincere and constant efforts, human race would understand the value of freedom. Faiz himself has described the period of incarceration in a radio talk:

My two books subsequent to *Image of Complaint* i.e. *Hand of The Wind (Dast - e - Saba, 1952)* and *Prison narrative (Zindannamq, 1956)* — are souvenirs of this (four years) stay in prison — prison itself *is,* nevertheless, a fundamental experience in which a new window of thought and vision opens itself. Prison is first, like another adolescence when all sensations again become sharp and one experiences once again that same original astonishment at feeling the dawn breeze, at seeing the shadows of evening, the blue of the sky, and feeling the passing breeze. (Copolla,1992:152)

He further says that in a prison, the time and the distance of the external world are cancelled, and that the difference of yesterday and tomorrow is eliminated and effaced in such a way that sometimes "a moment seems an immeasurable span of time and sometimes a century appears to be a thing which happened just yesterday and in the tranquility of separation, one finds greater leisure to attend to the outer adornment of the bride of poetry, in addition to meditation and study" (1992:153).

Despite the turmoil and the turbulence caused by prison life, this was a productive phase in Faiz's literary career. Many of his best poems were written during this period. In his introduction to the *Hands of the Wind (Dast-e-saba)*, as mentioned by Copolla, he elucidates the fact that a full comprehension of the collective struggle of human life and a conscious effort to share that struggle through poetry is not only

the need of the hour but is also a pressing demand of art. The success of an artist lies in the endless effort of portraying this struggle through his art. The most important thing for him, as an artist, is that he remains toiling in this struggle relentlessly (1992:154).

Firm faith and confidence in human values, unconquerable optimism and undefeated struggle against tyranny of all kinds are the dominant themes of both *The Hand of the Wind (Dast-e-saba)*, and *Prison Narrative (Zindannama)*. The very first poem of *The Hand of the Wind* is a declaration of his strong determination of protest against tyranny. Faiz writes:

If ink and pen are snatched from me, shall I Who have dipped my finger in my heart's blood complain-Or if they seal my tongue, when I have made A mouth of every round link of my chain? (Trans. Kiernan 117)

He has also used the same imagery in the poem 'Tablet and Pen'. In this poem, Faiz has expressed his emotions by combining imagery of traditional Urdu *ghazal* with contemporary sentiments:

I shall not cease to feed this pen, but still Keep record of what things pass through the soul, Still gather means for love to work its will, Keep green this age around which blank desert roll. (Trans. Kiernan 129)

Faiz's indomitable optimism reflects clearly through this poem. He wants to keep record of 'What things pass through the soul,' to heal the wounds rather than nursing grudges and hatred. There is bitterness against the tyranny, but instead of cursing and wishing these tyrannical forces be doomed, Faiz's love for humanity makes him find the cures. Instead of finding the ways to show hatred and bitterness, Faiz, as a great humanist, never fails to find the "means for love to work its will" (Trans. Kieman 129). Faiz is not naive enough to believe that such changes will occur immediately. He acknowledges the continued oppression of the tyrants and is ready to accept it as a challenge. He writes:

Though these days bitterness must grow sharper yet, And tyrants not renounce their tyranny, I taste their bitter wrongs without regret, But while breath lasts will nurse each melody. (Trans. Kiernan 129)

Even while sitting in prison, Faiz throws an open challenge to the oppressors that whatsoever they do, they would never be able to stop the flowers of equality and justice from blooming. It is not that doubts cease to pierce his heart and he has no fears and complaints against adversity. The lines from the poem, 'City of Lights' express his anxiety and fear very effectively:

How will I return to you, my city? Where is the road to your lights? My hopes Are in retreat, exhausted by these unlit, broken walls, And my heart, their leader, is in terrible doubt. (Trans. Ali 33)

But in the same poem, he regains his peace of mind and his optimism guides him through this darkness. Faiz actually expresses his yearning for the 'city of lights' – Lahore, in the poem. Being in prison now, his concerns about the progress of his fight against the tyrannical forces give him sleepless nights. He asks the city of lights to convey its lovers to light the lamps of hope and to 'turn the wicks high,' so that the darkness of hopelessness and despair can be dispelled. While addressing the 'city of lights', Faiz says:

Just tell all your lovers To turn the wicks of their lamps high So that I may find you, oh city, My City of many lights. (Trans. Ali 33)

Similar observation can be made of the poem 'Lyre and Flute', which, along the tradition of 'dialogue poems' of great Urdu poet lqbal, is cast in a dialogue form and presents two contrasting points of view to the question of people's struggle. Through the first voice, Faiz refers to the wretched political and social conditions of Pakistan. He is completely disillusioned with the corrupt politicians and their mean behaviour. The tone, therefore, is pessimistic and serious. It asks:

What new pledge now, what promise of fine tomorrows, Should I hang before? These eyes, or with what cheating illusion Comfort the foolish heart once more? No sweetness of lip, no fragrant mouth, is any emblem of Love today. (Trans. Kiernan 137)

The speaker is so tired of continuous struggle that he completely renounces and rejects life and the beautiful world and is only seeking death. He says:

Leave off those tales of a living world-What use to entangle us in their mesh? our only business is how to die (Trans. Kiernan 139)

In response to such a defeatist attitude, Faiz offers hope and optimism through the second voice, which does not fail to show a ray of hope in these difficult times. Without sounding like a harsh moral preacher, Faiz here expresses the lost and the most forgotten facts of life. He writes, "Existence with all its sumless wealth is no private estate of yours or mine" (Trans. Kiernan 139).

While reposing faith in humanity and Nature, Faiz calls for a positive and forceful action through the second voice. He insists that all of us should persist in our pursuit of freedom and justice. According to him, it does not matter if this pursuit is followed by loss of life, at least that sacrifice would be able to bring light of hope in others' lives. He writes:

```
What difference, in the hall of life, if one heart's taper be
quenched or bright,
Or one niche lack its candle, when all the place besides is
ablaze with light? (Trans. Kiernan 141)
```

The same call for action can be felt in another poem, 'There is no Savior of Crystals,' which is considered one of his most powerful poems from *The Hand of the Wind*. In his reading of this poem, Carlo Coppola observes that the 'crystals' in the title refer to the hopes, dreams and aspirations of the people prior to independence (1992:158). Independence was, unfortunately, followed by the partition, communal riots and mass slaughter of innocent people in both India and Pakistan. In this tumult, the values of dedication, ability and personal worth were replaced by opportunism, avarice and nepotism. He refers to such people as the "thieves of life" in a "city of thieves". Faiz writes:

Some people who, Draw curtains about this (wealth amassed by pillage) Who auction off. Every mountain, every sea. (Trans. Kiernan 158)

But instead of waiting for a *messiah* to set everything in order, Faiz emphasizes that we must act on our own to resurrect these dreams. Such an action will require continual struggle and hence he gives a clarion call when he writes: "Rise up! All empty hands/Are called to the battlefield" (Trans. Kiernan 158). Similarly, the poem, 'This Hour of Chain and Gibbet' (1951), penned during his solitary confinement, is a portrayal of mixed emotions of hope and faith on the one hand and hopelessness and doubts on the other. In the first few lines, the poem reflects the personal pain of loneliness and isolation. It was a testing time not only for Faiz but also for his children and his wife, Alys. Faiz uses the traditional imagery of 'wine-cup' and 'cup-filler' to express his emotions of sadness and helplessness. However, undaunted determination and courage are reflected in the following lines of the poem. While challenging the oppressors and authorities, Faiz says:

At your command the cage, but not the garden's Red rose fire, when its radiant hour begins; No noose can catch the dawn wind's whirling feet, The spring's bright hour falls prisoner to no net. (Trans. Kiernan 153)

Faiz uses the imagery of 'red rose fire' and 'wind's whirling feet' to express his will power and passion to usher in change. He challenges the authorities that despite his physical isolation, his mental strength and will power can never be imprisoned and it will remain as free as the radiance of a rose and the strong currents of the winds. Faiz's love for his country gains new heights, reaching its peak in the poem, 'Bury Me under Your Pavements,' which is more direct in its address. Here, Faiz addresses his country as his beloved. While feeling sad and dejected with the sociopolitical conditions of his country, Faiz laments:

Bury me, oh my country, under your pavements, Where no man now dare walk with head held high, (Trans. Kiernan 183)

Despite such dire circumstances, the poet is able to see that the rule of such tyrants is short-lived and it will soon be overturned by those who love their country: "your name still cried by a rash zealot few/ Inflames the itching hand of tyranny" (Trans.

Kiernan 185). Like a true lover, who is separated from his beloved, Faiz, while sitting in the prison thinks only about his beloved i.e. his country:

When my cell's window slit grows dim, I seem to see your hair sprangled with starry tinsel; When chains grow once more visible, I think I see your fare sprinkled with dawn's first rays ;(Trans. Kiernan 185)

Similarly his poems, 'A Prison Nightfall' and 'A Prison Dawn,' combine the traditional aspects of poetry and political messages and carry the glimpse of the poems written in his first collection, *Image of complaint (Naqs-e-faryadi)*. The poems like, 'Nocturnal Sarod', 'A Scene' and 'Sarod' are examples of 'mood picture' poetry (like the poems in the *Image of complaint*). The poem 'A Prison Day Break' opens with the moon depicted as a friend. Moon becomes the symbol of hope in the intense darkness of the night of tyranny. The traditional imagery of the lover and the beloved symbolizes Faiz's love and passion for his country. He is able to meet his ideal country only in his dreams as reality is very bitter and sad. The stark realities of the prison courtyard can be interpreted as the state of the country under the reins of the tyrants. He writes:

A far-off drum sounding, a shuffle of feet Of pallid famished guards starting their rounds, And arm in arm and on and on with them The angry din of prisoner and complaint. (Trans. Kiernan 195)

The moon, which symbolizes his unwavering optimism, gives him a ray of hope i.e. of change. "It was still dark, when standing by my pillow/ the moon said to me 'Waken, dawn is here" (Trans. Kiernan 193). Similarly, in the poem, 'Among Twilight Embers,' the speaker in the prison says: "once more the breeze comes trapping at my prison door/whispering - Dawn is near, teach patience to, your heart" (Trans. Kiernan 161). Faiz uses the natural imagery of winds, moon, light, dawn and daybreak to show his firm faith in the strength and power of nature, which is uncontrollable and unfathomable, but is pure and serene.

The poem 'Two Loves' begins on a note of peace and happiness felt by the speaker after meeting his long lost beloved. He still has not forgotten the pangs of separation, which gave him sleepless nights and restless days. The love for his beloved in the poem transforms soon into his love for the motherland and Faiz says:

So I have loved that Mistress, my country, Heart no less ardent Beating for her: (Trans. Kiernan 167)

Faiz is fully devoted to both of them – the beloved and his 'mistress' i.e. his country and it is his second love, which have given various shades and newer dimensions to his poetry. He feels sad when he finds oppression and injustice around him. Though he keeps up the style of the traditional Urdu ghazal, through his fusion of these two types of love, he gives a new shape and meaning to Urdu poetry. Faiz firmly declares that throughout his life, he has never let any call or summon from his beloved "unanswered". When India got free from the clutches of the colonizers, Faiz, like many others, expected a new beginning and a new dawn for his country. But when he saw the widespread oppression and tyranny in the name of independence (shift of power from the clutches of the colonizers to the neocolonial powers), he felt disillusioned and frustrated. But he did not indulge in mourning. Rather he gave a call to his fellow countrymen to improve the conditions of his motherland. Despite knowing that his love for his country would take him to gallows, he did not budge an inch from his stand. He bore all the criticism and reproaches, even from the fellow citizens of his country with great patience, but his love for the country never ceased to kindle his inner being. "What others on that road/ Meet, I have met with:/Prison cell solitude" (Trans. Kiernan 171). Even, prison becomes a 'new home,' an abode of various possibilities of learning, "a man is altered by a new home/ Here I've begun to fall in love with my dreams," writes Faiz (Coppola, 1992: 156). The loneliness of prison, instead of killing his spirit and dreams, provides a new meaning and life to his passion.

The poem 'August 1952' also carries the same sentiments and emotions. His love for his motherland has made him so strong and daring that he is least afraid even of "Heaven's grand loom" (Trans. Kiernan 181). He acknowledges the fact that his motherland is a 'desert' and in order to turn it into a beautiful country, we still need to work on it, but at the same time he appreciates the sacrifices made by his fellow citizens. He is quite sure that one day the breeze of his country would be free from the stink of oppression and injustice. Caged eyes will open when dawn fills the garden: Dawn's breeze they have had pledge and promise from Desert still desert, Faiz - but bleeding feet Have saved some thorns at least from its dry tomb. (Trans. Kiernan 181)

In these lines, 'bleeding feet' become the symbol of relentless efforts. He believes in doing his bit and he inspires others also to follow suit. In his speech, "I am Convinced War will give way to Peace" delivered on the occasion of receiving Lenin Peace Prize in Moscow in 1962, Faiz said:

All except those affected by dementia or given to crime are agreed that peace and independence are beautiful ideals. All can visualize that peace is reflected in the wheat fields, in Poplar trees, in the bride's veil, in the laughing hands of children, in the poet's pen, in the artist's brush. (Faiz, 1987: 20)

According to Faiz, love for the motherland means realization and identification with pain, suffering and misery of the fellow beings. However, this realization is all futile, if it is not concomitant with the desire to improve the quality of the life of the fellow beings. As Prof. Karrar Hussain writes in his article on the poet, "Faiz gave us the Living World":

Faiz is committed to an ideology but this ideology does not stand up and bite. There is a complete fusion of vision and ideology in Faiz. He rejuvenates both language and imagery. (Faiz, 1987: 24)

He also writes about the difference in the approach of Faiz's call for revolution and the other writers:

The call for revolution had been given before Faiz by Majaz and Josh. But there was much romanticism in it. In Faiz there is as much concern for the beloved as for the world in which he lives. In Iqbal, it is different, he even forgets that woman too, lives on the earth. In Faiz there is commitment for a certain objective but with detachment, at a distance away from his own self. This is *Jehad* (struggle) with an insight, an objective. (Faiz, 1987: 25)

To encapsulate, it may be said that inside the revolutionary Faiz, there was apparently a traditionalist. Tradition for Faiz was a framework, which he explored and filled with his own design. While retaining the form, diction and symbol of a *ghazal*, which was inherited from centuries of Persian poetry and over one hundred years of Urdu poetry, Faiz re-interpreted the words and phrases. He juxtaposed them with the contemporary context and evaluated their relevance in the present conditions and environment.

#### **Works Cited**

Ali, A., trans. (1973) The Golden Tradition: an Anthology of Urdu Poetry, New York: Columbia UP.

Ali, A. S., trans. (1995) The Rebel's Silhouette: Selected Poems, University of Massachusetts Press.

Ali, N. (1987) 'Faiz and Palestinians,' Faiz A Faiz: The Living World, Tunisia: Lotus Book.

Bailey, T. G. (2008) A History of Urdu Literature, Karachi: Oxford UP.

- Coppola, C. (1992) 'Another Adolescence: The Prison Poetry of Faiz Ahmed Faiz,' *Journal of South Asian Literature*, 27(2): 149-74.
- Faiz, A. F.; Coppola, C. and Rehman, M. (ed.) (1987) *Faiz A. Faiz: The Living World*, Tunisia: Lotus Book.

Kiernan, V.G., trans. (2000) Poems by Faiz, Delhi: Oxford UP.

Kumar, K. S., trans. (1999) The Best of Faiz, New Delhi: UBS.

Russel, R. (1999) How Not to Write the History of Urdu Literature, New Delhi: Oxford UP.

Sarkar, S. (1983) Modern India, Chennai: MacMilan.

Williams, R. (1977) Marxism and Literature, Noida: Oxford UP.

# The Role of Visual and Haptic Sense in Influencing Impulsive Buying Behaviour

Disha Sharma Assistant Prof, Commerce Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women, Chandigarh

Using the Stimulus-Organism-Response (s-o-r) model this paper aims to study the role played by the visual and the haptic (need-for-touch) sense in impulsive buying behaviour. The visual aesthetics of a product in general were studied along with the autotelic need (a form of haptic sense) for touching a product. Survey data was collected from people who visit stores to buy products. It was found that a product which is appealing to the eyes and the fulfilment and satisfaction achieved by touching a product, give rise to impulsive buying. The sensory stimuli are related to the positive emotional response of people towards such products and act as a hedonic motivation for them to buy the products even when not needed.

Keywords: haptic sense, impulsive buying, sensory stimuli, visual aesthetics

#### 1. Introduction

In the last few decades, marketing has changed drastically, from a one way communication from the company to the consumer to a two way communication which is like a dialogue between the company and the consumer. Today, products find their own voice and communicate with consumers. A lot of focus is now being put on reaching the consumers by affecting the senses and this is done by studying sensory marketing.

Sensory marketing refers to the marketing that engages consumer's senses and affects their perception, judgement and behaviour (Krishna, 2012). Studies have shown that sensory cues (such as taste, smell, sound) in the retail environmental can trigger the impulsive purchasing among consumers (Eroglu and Machleit, 1993). Sensory marketing can be beneficial for marketing managers as it is used to create effects which show that the consumer is aware of the intangible components of the products (e. g., its elegance or quality). In today's world of competitive marketing, customer engagement can be ensured by making use of marketing cues

that have an effect on the basic senses of people (Krishna 2012).

The retailers try to increase impulsive buying which further leads to an increase in sales (Beatty and Ferrell, 1998; Kacen, Hess and Walker, 2012). And most of the temptation and impulse to buy a product is due to the influence on some or all of the senses of a customer visiting a store.

Impulsive buying is defined as a sudden act of making a purchase which is instigated by some internal or external stimuli (Xiao and Nicholson, 2013). Their thinking is likely to be unreflective, prompted by physical proximity to a desired product, dominated by emotional attraction to it, and absorbed by the promise of immediate gratification".

Previous researchers have focussed much on the store environment as a factor effecting impulsive buying (Mattila and Wirtz 2008; Verhagen and Dolen, 2011), the role of individual traits on impulsive buying (Verplanken and Herabadi, 2001), the effect of hedonic motivations (Chang, Eckman and Yan, 2011) and demographics on impulsive buying but little work has been done to find the connection between the sensory cues and impulsive buying. Internal and external cues may act as a factor that can further increase the urge to buy impulsively (Youn and Faber, 2000) and so a need was felt to study the relationship between the sensory cues (as external factors) and impulsive buying. Previous studies on sensory marketing and multisensory marketing have been done with reference to consumers' emotions and purchase behaviour in general (e.g. Helmefalk and Hultén, 2017) and there is limited work available on the affect of these cues on Impulsive Buying specifically. Also, to the best of researcher's knowledge not many studies have been done on the relationship between sensory cues and impulsive buying with reference to India.

Research has been done on the visual effect of a product on aesthetic judgments (Raghubir and Greenleaf, 2006). Though a study by Ramanathan and Menon (2002) has brought out the importance and influence that touch may have on impulse purchasing but limited evidence indicates that touch can influence purchase behaviour (Peck and Childers, 2006). An interplay of cues is essential to improve the customers shopping experience and to create the urge to buy a product. This study aims to fill the gap by studying the affect of two of the main sensory elements i.e. haptic (touch) and vision on impulsive buying by affecting the

emotional response of people.

## 2. Objective of the study

The objective of the study is to analyze the influence of visual and haptic sense as stimuli on impulsive buying behaviour in the brick and mortar retailing environment. The focus of the research is on the visual and the haptic sense related to the product being sold in a retail store format like supermarkets and not in the retail environment as a whole.1.

## 3. Theoretical Background

The stimulus-organism-response model which is based on the environmental psychology proposed by Mehrabian and Russell (1974) has been used to fulfil the purpose of the study. According to this model, stimuli are the driving forces or cues which affect the consumers (organism) and results in the behaviour or intention to purchase (response). The S-O-R model has been used in a number of studies to draw useful results such as the consumer behaviour is affected due to atmospheric cues or stimuli (Bitner, 1992; Turley and Milliman, 2000).

While using the S-O-R model, stimuli can be factors from the external environment of a person and also from the marketing mix (Kim and Lennon, 2010). In this study, the stimuli are the visuals (colour, size, shape, packaging etc) of the product and the touch of a product as they affect the emotional responses of the consumer.

## 3.1 Visual Aesthetics

Aesthetics, is a way of communication through senses rather than words and is a part of the visual cues (Helmefalk, 2019). The value represented by a product plays a more significant role these days rather than the utility that it actually provides. And the consumers usually look at the aesthetic value of a product from the point of view of visual aspects such as colour, shape, etc. (Blijlevens et al., 2012). The response to an aesthetic appeal can be affective, cognitive as well as sensory such as unintentional physical response. According to Bloch (1995), the visuals of a product i.e. colour, shape, size etc, give rise to psychosomatic reactions which include cognitive and emotional contents. These reactions also bring about changes in behavioural responses. Therefore, marketers use visual aesthetics of a product as a tool for competitive differentiation (Cox and Cox, 2002).

Various facets of the visual sense have been researched in the past. Visuals are considered to play an effective role in advertising of products (McQuarrie and Mick 2003) and also in effecting consumer behaviour (Reimann et al., 2010). Studies have also been done on the role played by the visual design of a storefront (Bitner, 1992; Eroglu, Machleit, and Davis, 2001; Gilboa and Rafaeli, 2003) and the effect of display of products in a store which arouses the urge to buy impulsively (Bhatti and Latif, 2014). But the focus of this study is to study the visual sense affected by the visual aesthetics of a product. Prior research has been done on specific products like wine glasses, Notebooks, Fashion clothing both offline and online (Dawson and Kim, 2010) and services like restaurants but in the present study the focus is on products in general rather than any specific product.

The way a consumer visually perceives a product holds a lot of relevance within the domain of consumer behaviour as it affects the choice and consumption pattern of the product (Chandon and Ordabayeva, 2009). On this basis it is hypothesized:

H1: There is a significant relationship between the visual aesthetics of the product and the positive emotional response to the visual aesthetics.

## 3.2 Haptic Sense

The sense of touch also known as the haptic sense is one of the most sensitive and delicate senses (Peck and Childers, 2003a). It plays an essential role in affecting the consumers' perception of products as it conveys a large amount of information in relation to the product at hand (Krishna, 2012).

According to Peck and Childers (2003) there are two types of touch-Instrumental and Autotelic. Instrumental touch relates to the functionality and utilitarian view of the product. In contrast, the autotelic touch is the one which is related to feelings and instigates emotions such as fun, arousal, sensory stimulation, and enjoyment (Holbrook and Hirschman, 1982). Out of the two types, autotelic touch deals with the sensory aspects of touching a product, even when there is no intention to purchase the product (Holbrook and Hirschman, 1982). Thus, to study the impulsive buying behaviour autotelic need for touch has been studied.

H2: There is a significant relationship between autotelic need for touch as a stimuli and the positive emotional response to this stimuli.

#### 3.3 **Positive emotional response**

Mehrabian and Russell (1974) argue that there are three emotional responses to physical and social environments: pleasure, arousal, and dominance. Pleasure refers to the feeling of happiness, Arousal refers to the degree to which a person feels stimulated in a particular situation and Dominance refers to the feeling of an individual of being in control of a situation. The emotional state of mind of a consumer affects his buying behaviour both normal and impulsive (Chang et al. 2011). Thus, out of the three dimensions, pleasure and arousal are adequate to represent people's emotional or affective responses to a wide range of environment including the buying behaviour.

# 3.4 Impulsive buying behaviour

Impulsive buying is defined as making a purchase in response to an impulse which refers to the wish and fancy to buy a product immediately even though not needed. But not every impulse to buy is converted into actual buying behaviour. Thus, it is important to study the various factors (Dholakia, 2000; Rook and Fisher, 1995) which can help in transforming a buying impulse into actual purchase.

Though research has been done extensively on the role played by human emotions (Strack and Deutsch, 2006), personality traits in influencing impulsive buying (Zhang et al., 2010), technology acceptance model (Koufaris, 2002), the affect of website characteristics in the online arena on impulsive purchase behaviour (Parboteeah, Valacich and Wells, 2009), there is still a lot of scope to study the role to be played by the sensory cues in promoting impulsive buying.

A lot of studies have been done on the role played by culture in affecting impulsive buying (Kacen and Lee, 2002; Zhang, Winterich and Mittal, 2010). Previous researches suggest that the role played by senses is more vital and conspicuous in the offline retail format (Kacen, 2003)

Regarding emotional influences, both positive affect and negative affect have been shown enhance impulse buying behaviour (Amos, Holmes and Keneson, 2013)

On this basis it is hypothesised that

H3: There is a significant relationship between positive emotional responses to the

sensory stimuli i.e. visual and autotelic need for touch of a product and impulsive buying behaviour.

Thus, the conceptual model for the present study based on the stimulus-organism-response model is as shown in Fig 1.



Source: Made by the researcher with reference to the S-O-R model given by Mehrabian and Russell (1974)

Figure 1: Conceptual Model

#### 4. **Research Methodology**

#### 4.1 Research Design

The research design is descriptive in nature and the survey method has been used for this study. Descriptive research is used to describe the problem that is researched and the variables and study the relationship between variables. A structured self-administered questionnaire has been designed to collect data on a face to face basis.

#### 4.2 Target Population and Sampling

Target Population for the study includes all residents of Chandigarh who are above 20 years of age, have a minimum education of class X and belong to SEC A, B or C. The people below the education level of class X were omitted as it would have been difficult for them to understand the questionnaire. SEC category D and E was left out of the scope of the study because these categories usually focus on utilitarian needs and do not have the resources to indulge in impulsive buying

Impulsive buying is considered to be associated with the youngsters also referred to as generation Y (Xu, 2007) and millennials (Bellman, Lohse, and Johnson, 2009; Lawrence, Teich and Sylvia, 2009). But since the purpose of this study is to analyze the purchase intention of consumers of different profiles, the population above the age of 20 years was included so as to avoid taking students in the sample.

Non probability sampling in the form of Judgemental sampling was used for selecting the sample units. Judgemental sampling is the one in which the population elements are selected based on the judgement of the researcher, because he or she believes that they are representative of the population of interest. (Malhotra, 2004: 322).

While deciding the sample size, resource constraints should be taken into consideration (Zikmund et al., 2016: 468) and thus, a qualitative determination of sample size was done and a sample of 150 respondents was taken keeping in view the constraints of time and financial resources. Also, since the researcher had to collect the data individually from the respondents who entered a retail store to make purchases, thus, to ensure quality of the work the sample size was limited to 150.

## 4.3 Questionnaire design and data collection

A structured self-administered questionnaire was designed to collect data on a face to face basis. The questionnaire was given only to those respondents who make use of in-store retail. The first section of the questionnaire consisted of 20 statements on a 7 point Likert scale related to all variables under study. The second section of the questionnaire consisted of classificatory questions regarding the demographics like age and income level (based on the socio-economic classification).

The pretesting was done using the Debriefing method through personal interview, which occurs after the questionnaire has been filled by the respondents (Malhotra, 2004). In this method, the respondents were first asked to fill the questionnaire and then asked to describe the meaning of the questions, explain their answers and state the problems they encountered while answering the questionnaire. All respondents who participated in the pretesting felt that overall the questionnaire was easy to understand but a few of them faced a problem in understanding the statements of the scale and so a few statements were reworded.

The scale on Visual aesthetics of the product (four item scale) has been adopted from Mumcua and Kimzanb (2015), Autotelic Need-for-touch scale (six item scales) by Peck and Childers (2003a), scale on positive emotional response (seven item scale) and impulsive buying behaviour (three-item scale) were taken from Chang et al. (2011).

The data was captured and analysed through SPSS (version 21). But, before data entry, it was checked that all questionnaires were completely and correctly filled. Out of the total sample of 150, response was given by 100 respondents. Then, Data entry was done in SPSS, followed by, data checking for all the filled questionnaires to ensure that there was no missing entry or error. Reliability refers to the internal consistency of the items to measure a specific construct and Cronbach's  $\alpha$  was used to check reliability. A one way frequency table for gender, age and SEC was made to give the description of the profile of the sample (Table 1). Simple descriptive statistical analysis measures (means, standard deviations, range) were used to give a basic description of the results (Table 2). To test all the hypotheses, linear regression was used.

		Frequency
Gender	Male	37
	Female	63
	Total	100
Age	20-29	32
	30-39	51
	40-49	13
	50-59	2
	60 and above	2
	Total	100
SEC		
	A1	65
	A2	23
	A3	12
	Total	100

Source: SPSS

Table 1: Profile of Sample

	Range	Mini- mum	Maxi- mum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Owning products that	6	1	7	5.15	1.429
have appealing looks					
(colour, size, shape and					
packaging) makes me					
feel good about myself.					
I enjoy seeing displays	5	2	7	5.64	1.131
of products that have					
superior visuals.					
A product's visual	6	1	7	5.30	1.284
aesthetics is a source of					
pleasure for me.					
Beautiful product	6	1	7	4.40	1.624
visuals make our world					
a better place to live					
When walking through	6	1	7	3.87	2.017
stores, I can't help					
touching all kinds of					
products.					
Touching products can	6	1	7	3.77	1.820
be fun					
When browsing in	6	1	7	3.68	1.682
stores, it is important					
for me to handle all					
kinds of products.					

even if I have no intention of buying themImage: second seco	I like to touch products	6	1	7	3.74	1.905
themImage: series of the series o	even if I have no					
When browsing in stores, I like to touch lots of products6173.491.898I find myself touching all kinds of products in stores.6173.261.939all kinds of products in stores.6174.281.611I feel excited to buy the product with a good visual appeal.6174.741.510I feel enthusiastic about buying the product.6174.741.510I feel happy about to visual aesthetics6174.491.572I feel happy about in visual aesthetics.5274.961.414I m interested in in visual aesthetics.6174.721.378I am inspired to buy6174.661.434	intention of buying					
stores, I like to touch lots of productsImage: I like to touch lots of productsImage: I like to touch lots of products in stores.Image: I like to touch lots of product with a good visual appeal.Image: I like to touch lots of product with a lots of product with a good visual appeal.Image: I like to touch lots of product with a lots of product with a lots of product with a good visual appeal.Image: I like to touch lots of product with a lots of product.Image: I like to touch lots of product with a lots of product.Image: I like touch lots of product.Image: I like touch lots of product with a lots of product.Image: I like touch lots of product with a lots of product.Image: I like touch lots of product with a lots of product with a<	them					
lots of productsImage: constraint of products in stores.Image: constraint of product of product of product with a good visual appeal.Image: constraint of product of product.Image: constraint of product of product of product of product of product.Image: constraint of product of p	When browsing in	6	1	7	3.49	1.898
I find myself touching all kinds of products in stores.6173.261.939I feel excited to buy the product with a good visual appeal.6174.281.611I feel enthusiastic about buying the product.6174.741.510It's fun to buy a visual appealing product.6174.491.572I feel happy about buying a product rich in visual aesthetics5274.961.414I am interested in buying a product rich in visual aesthetics.6174.721.378I am inspired to buy6174.661.434	stores, I like to touch					
all kinds of products in stores.Image: store stor	lots of products					
stores.II <td>I find myself touching</td> <td>6</td> <td>1</td> <td>7</td> <td>3.26</td> <td>1.939</td>	I find myself touching	6	1	7	3.26	1.939
I feel excited to buy the product with a good visual appeal.6174.281.611I feel enthusiastic about buying the product.6174.741.510It's fun to buy a visually appealing product.6174.491.572I feel happy about buying a product rich in visual aesthetics.5274.961.414I am interested in in visual aesthetics.6174.721.378I am inspired to buy6174.661.434	all kinds of products in					
the product with a good visual appeal.Image: Constraint of the product with a good visual appeal.Image: Constraint of the product with a the product.Image: Constraint of the product with a the p	stores.					
good visual appeal.Image: Constraint of the sector of the sec	I feel excited to buy	6	1	7	4.28	1.611
I feel enthusiastic about buying the product.6174.741.510It's fun to buy a visually appealing product.6174.491.572I feel happy about buying a product rich in visual aesthetics5274.961.414I am interested in in visual aesthetics.6174.721.378I am inspired to buy6174.661.434	the product with a					
about buying the product.Image: second seco	good visual appeal.					
product.Image: state of the stat	I feel enthusiastic	6	1	7	4.74	1.510
It's fun to buy a6174.491.572visually appealing product.6174.961.414I feel happy about buying a product rich in visual aesthetics5274.961.414I am interested in buying a product rich in visual aesthetics.6174.721.378I am inspired to buy6174.661.434	about buying the					
visually appealing product.Image: Constraint of the second secon	product.					
product.Image: Second seco	It's fun to buy a	6	1	7	4.49	1.572
I feel happy about5274.961.414buying a product rich in visual aesthetics6174.721.378I am interested in buying a product rich in visual aesthetics.6174.721.378I am inspired to buy6174.661.434	visually appealing					
buying a product rich in visual aesthetics6174.721.378I am interested in buying a product rich in visual aesthetics.6174.661.434	product.					
in visual aesthetics6174.721.378I am interested in buying a product rich in visual aesthetics.6174.661.434	I feel happy about	5	2	7	4.96	1.414
I am interested in buying a product rich in visual aesthetics.6174.721.378I am inspired to buy6174.661.434	buying a product rich					
buying a product rich in visual aesthetics.Image: Constraint of the second sec	in visual aesthetics					
in visual aesthetics.Image: Constraint of the second s	I am interested in	6	1	7	4.72	1.378
I am inspired to buy         6         1         7         4.66         1.434	buying a product rich					
	in visual aesthetics.					
such a product.	I am inspired to buy	6	1	7	4.66	1.434
	such a product.					
It is a joyful	6	1	7	4.66	1.592	
--------------------------	---	---	---	------	-------	
experience to buy such						
a product.						
Sometimes the way a	5	2	7	4.89	1.165	
product looks and feels						
seems to reach out and						
grab me.						
If a product's visual	6	1	7	4.53	1.640	
design and feel impress						
me, I buy even though						
I had not intended to						
purchase.						
When I see a product	6	1	7	4.77	1.549	
that has a really great						
visual and touch, I feel						
a strong urge to buy it.						
Valid N (listwise)						

Source: SPSS

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics

# 5. Results

According to Table 1, the survey included 100 respondents, with almost twice the number of women than men. The sample was a mix of people from different age groups, with more than half of the respondents from the 30-29 age group and more than 2% each in all the other age groups. Also, the sample is from the upper three classes of the socio-economic classification of India. Table 2 on descriptive statistics shows that all the responses were within range and there were no outliers or missing values.

Construct	No. of items	Chronbach Alpha
Visual aesthetics	4	0.733
Haptic sense (Autotelic need for Touch)	6	0.949
Positive emotional response (PER)	7	0.961
Impulsive buying (IB)	3	0.800
Source: SPSS	1	

The Chronbach alpha for all the constructs is given in Table 3:

Table 3: Chronbach Alpha of scales

A chronbach  $\alpha$  of 7 is deemed to be acceptable and Table 3 shows that the chronbach  $\alpha$  for all the scales is greater than .7, thus, the scales indicated good internal consistency. Pearsons Coefficient of correlation was used to find correlation between variables depicted in Table 4.

		Visual	Touch	ER	IB
<b>X7 I</b>	Pearson Correlation	1	.441**	.622**	.614**
Visual	Sig. (2-tailed)		.002	.000	.000
	N	100	100	100	100
Table	Pearson Correlation	.441**	1	.698**	.520**
Touch	Sig. (2-tailed)	.002		.000	.000
	N	100	100	100	100
DED	Pearson Correlation	.622**	.698**	1	.597**
PER	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000		.000
	N	100	100	100	100
ID	Pearson Correlation	.614**	.520**	.597**	1
IB	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	
	N	100	100	100	100

Source: SPSS

\*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailded)

Table 4: Correlations

The correlation between all the variables was found to be positive as shown in Table 4, with the highest correlation between Haptic (Autotellic need for touch) and positive emotional response (.698) followed by the correlation between visual aesthetics and positive emotional response (.622).

Hypotheses	Relationship	В	R Square	P value	Result
H1	Visual Aesthetics→Positive emotional response	.819	.387	.000	H1 accepted
H2	Autotelic Need for touch→Positive emotional response	.562	.487	.000	H2 accepted
НЗ	Positive emotional response→Impulsive buying behaviour	.546	.356	.000	H3 accepted

The results of the analysis are given briefly in Table 5.

Source: Self with results drawn from SPSS

Table 5: Regression results of hypothesis testing

# 5.1 Hypotheses testing

As shown in Table 5, the results are significant with regard to all the three hypotheses.

H1: There is a significant relationship between the visual aesthetics of the product and the positive emotional response to the visual aesthetics.

The overall model was significant, adjusted R2 = .38, p < .01. As per the regression analysis, there is a significant relationship between visual aesthetics and positive emotional response as  $\beta$ =.819, p<.01 and 38.7% of the variance in positive emotional response of consumers is explained by the visual aesthetics of the product. Thus, H1 is accepted.

H2: There is a significant relationship between autotelic need for touch as a stimuli and the positive emotional response to this stiumli.

The overall model was significant, adjusted R2 = .48, p < .01. As per the regression analysis, there is a significant relationship between need for touch and positive emotional response as  $\beta$ =.562, p<.01 and 48.7% of the variance in positive emotional response is explained by the need for touch. Thus, H2 is also accepted.

H3: There is a significant relationship between positive emotional responses to the sensory stimuli i.e. visual and autotelic need for touch of a product and impulsive buying behaviour.

The overall model was significant, adjusted R2 = .35, p < .01. As per the regression analysis, there is a significant relationship between positive emotional response and Impulsive buying behaviour as  $\beta = .546$ , p < .01 and 35.6% of the variance in impulsive buying behaviour is explained by positive emotional response to the stimuli. Thus, H3 is also accepted.

# 6. Discussion of findings

As was hypothesised there was found to be a significant influence of the sensory stimuli on impulsive buying through the positive effect on emotional response. All consumers care about what they receive from a product during its acquisition and use (Bloch, Brunel and Arnold, 2003). Reinforcing this finding, the present study shows that, the visual aesthetics of a product tend to affect an individual positively and increase the urge to buy even when the product is not needed, as opposed to a recent study which says that the visual cues including aesthetics do not have an impact on the browsing behaviour of consumers (Helmefalk, 2019). The autotelic touch was found to be related to impulsive buying. This is in sync with previous research which shows that people with higher need for touch purchase more as compared to the ones who are low on need for touch (Peck and Childers, 2006). In the present study, the positive relationship established between positive emotional response and impulsive buying is in conformity with previous studies which have applied the s-o-r model for studying impulsive buying like the study by Chang et al. (2011).

# 7. Conclusion and Implications

Theoretically, this study contributes to the field of sensory marketing and also consumer behaviour with the application of the S-O-R model in the context of

sensory stimuli including vision and touch and advances the understanding of consumer impulse buying behaviour. One of the main contributions of this research is that it helps in understanding the phenomenon of impulsive buying from the point of view of the sensory cues which. Though studies have been done on multisensory cues also (e.g. Balaji, Raghavan and Jha, 2011), but the multisensory affect can be better studied only with a clear understanding of the affect of individual senses on the buying behaviour. Thus, this study contributes by forming a base for further studies on multisensory stimuli. Also, multisensory marketing can work well only if the individual sensory cues that blend together effectively are used (Helmefalk and Berndt, 2018), and this study, highlights that the visual and the haptic sense can be used as an effective combination to influence consumers to make impulsive purchases. The findings were based on a survey of consumers buying products from any retail store at point of purchase, which captured the actual experience of the people in contrast to other research designs like experimental design, which work in manipulated condition and have been frequently used in earlier studies related to examining effects of store environment (e.g. Baker et al. 2002; Massara and Pelloso, 2006). Majority of the previous researches on the sensory stimuli have been done on a sample of students (e.g. Gilboa and Rafaeli, 2003; Workman and Caldwell, 2007; Balaji, Raghavan and Jha, 2011) but the respondents in this study are from different age groups and not just students, thus, facilitating better generalization of results. Previous researches have been on the affect of senses on customer perception and purchase intention but this study has addressed the issue of impulsive buying as a response to sensory stimuli.

Managerially, taking strategic decisions regarding the visual appeal of the products may help in making the shopping environment more conducive for consumers to indulge in impulsive buying. The focus on the way products appear in their physical form and blending them with the store environment, including their display and positioning in a store can increase the level of excitement and interest of consumers to make more purchases. Thus, strategies related to sensory cues should be made by the retail stores to provide a stimulating in-store experience to customers. Also, the marketers should focus on making the products user-touch friendly as people tend to always touch and feel the product before buying which eventually leads to a purchase in contrast to those formats where it is prohibited to touch the products displayed. Thus, a combination of visual and haptic senses is sure to influence consumers to purchase impulsively.

#### 8. Limitations and directions for future research

One of the limitations of the study is that it focuses on the effects of two senses on impulsive buying. Visual aesthetics was studied as it is considered to be relevant to the widest set of product classes (Bloch et al, 2003). Future research should investigate the effect of all the five senses on impulsive buying and the interaction effect of senses should be empirically tested. Secondly, this study does not relate impulsive buying to the age of the consumers but prior research shows that impulse shopping is done more by people in the age bracket of 18 to 39 (Wooden, 1998). Thus, future research can investigate the role of demographics as moderators to see whether age moderates the relationship between senses and impulsive buying.

#### **Works Cited**

- Amos, C., Holmes, G.R., Keneson, W.C. (2014) 'A meta-analysis of consumer impulse buying,' *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 21(2): 86-97.
- Baker, J.; Parasuraman, A.; Grewal, D. and Voss, G. B. (2002) 'The influence of multiple store environment cues on perceived merchandise value and patronage intentions,' *Journal of marketing*, 66(2):120-41.
- Balaji, M.S.; Raghavan, S. and Jha, S. (2011) 'Role of tactile and visual inputs in product evaluation: a multisensory perspective,' *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, 23(4): 513-30.
- Bellman, S.; Lohse, G. and Johnson, E. J. (2009) 'Predictors of online buying behavior.' *Communications of the ACM*, 42: 32-48.
- Beatty, S.E. and Ferrell, M.E. (1998) 'Impulse buying: modeling its precursors,' *Journal of Retailing*, 74 (2): 169-91.
- Bhatti, K.L. and Latif, S. (2014) 'The impact of visual merchandising on consumer impulse buying behaviour,' *Eurasian Journal of Business and Management*: 24-35.
- Bitner, M.J. (1992) 'Servicescapes: The impact of physical surroundings on customers and employees,' *Journal of Marketing*, 56(2): 57-71.
- Blijlevens, J.; Carbon, C.C.; Mugge, R. and Schoormans, J.P.L. (2012) 'Aesthetic appraisal of product designs: Independent effects of typicality and arousal,' *British Journal of Psychology* 103: 44–57.
- Bloch, P.H. (1995) 'Seeking the ideal form: Product design and consumer response,' *Journal of Marketing*, 59: 16-29.
- Bloch, P. H.; Brunel, F. F. and Arnold, T. J. (2003) 'Individual differences in the centrality of visual product aesthetics: Concept and measurement,' *Journal of consumer research*, 29(4): 551-65.

- Chandon, P. and Ordabayeva, N. (2009) 'Downsize in 3D, supersize in 1D: Effects of dimensionality of package and portion size changes on size estimations, consumption, and quantity discount expectations, '*Journal of Marketing Research*, 46(6): 725-38.
- Chang, H. J.; Eckman, M. and Yan, R. N. (2011) 'Application of the stimulus–organism–response model to the retail environment: the role of hedonic motivation in impulse buying behaviour,' *International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research*, 21: 233-49.
- Cox, D. and Cox, A. D. (2002) 'Beyond first impressions: The effects of repeated exposure on consumer liking of visually complex and simple product designs,' *Journal of the Academy* of Marketing Science, 30(2): 119-30.
- Dawson, S. and Kim, M. (2010) 'Cues on apparel web sites that trigger impulse purchases,' *Journal* of Fashion Marketing and Management: An International Journal, 14(2): 230-46.
- Dholakia, U.M. (2000) 'Temptation and resistance: an integrated model of consumption impulse. Psychological Marketing,' 17 (11): 955-82.
- Eroglu, S.A.; Machleit, K.A. and Davis, L.M. (2001) 'Atmospheric qualities of online retailing: A conceptual model and implications,' *Journal of Business Research*, 54: 177-4.
- Gilboa, S. and Rafaeli, A. (2003) 'Store environment, emotions and approach behaviour: Applying environmental aesthetics to retailing,' *The International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research*, 13(2): 195-211.
- Helmefalk, M. and Hultén, B. (2017) 'Multi-sensory congruent cues in designing retail store atmosphere: Effects on shoppers' emotions and purchase behaviour,' *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 38: 1-11.
- Helmefalk, M. and Berndt, A. (2018) 'Shedding light on the use of single and multisensory cues and their effect on consumer behaviours,' *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 46(11/12): 1077-91.
- Helmefalk, M. (2019) 'Browsing behaviour as a mediator: the impact of multi-sensory cues on purchasing,' *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 36(2): 253-63.
- Holbrook, M. B. and Hirschman, E. C. (1982) 'The experiential aspects of consumption: Consumer fantasies, feelings, and fun,' *Journal of consumer research*, 9(2): 132-40.
- Kacen, J.J. (2003) 'Bricks and clicks; the buying impulse: an investigation of consumer impulse buying behaviour in an online and a traditional retail environment,' *European Advances in Consumer Research*. 6: 271-76.
- ---.; Hess, J.D. and Walker, D. (2012) 'Spontaneous selection: the influence of product and retailing factors on consumer impulse purchases,' *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*. 19:

578-88.

- ---. and Lee, J.A. (2002) 'The influence of culture on consumer impulsive buying behaviour,' *Consumer Psychology*. 12 (2): 163-76.
- Kim, H. and Lennon, S. J. (2010) 'E-atmosphere, emotional, cognitive, and behavioral responses,' *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management: An International Journal*, 14(3): 412-28.
- Koufaris, M. (2002) 'Applying the technology acceptance model and flow theory to online consumer behaviour,' *Information systems research*, 13(2): 205-23.
- Krishna, A., (2012) 'An integrative review of sensory marketing: Engaging the senses to affect perception, judgment and behaviour,' *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 22: 332-51.
- Malhotra, N.K. (2004) Marketing Research: An Applied Orientation, Delhi: Pearson Education.
- Massara, F. and Pelloso, G. (2006) Investigating the consumer–environment interaction through image modelling technologies,' *International Review of Retail, Distribution and consumer research*, 16(5): 519-31.
- Mattila, A.S. and Wirtz, J. (2008) 'The role of store environmental stimulation and social factors on impulse purchasing,' *Journal of Service Marketting*, 22 (7): 562-67.
- McQuarrie, E.F. and Mick, D.G. (2003) 'Visual and Verbal Rhetorical Figures under Directed Processing versus Incidental Exposure to Advertising,' *Journal of Consumer Research*, 29: 579-87.

Mehrabian, A. and Russell, J. A. (1974) An approach to environmental psychology, MIT Press.

- Mumcua, Y. and Kimzanb, H.S. (2015) 'The Effect of Visual Product Aesthetics on Consumers' Price Sensitivity,' *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 26: 528-34.
- Parboteeah, D. V.; Valacich, J. S. and Wells, J. D. (2009) 'The influence of website characteristics on a consumer's urge to buy impulsively,' *Information systems research*, 20(1): 60-78.
- Peck, J. and Childers, T.L. (2003) 'Individual differences in haptic information processing: the "need for touch" scale,' *Journal of Consumer Research*, 30(3): 430-42
- ---. (2003a) 'To have and to hold: the influence of haptic information on product judgements,' *Journal of Marketing*, 67: 35-48.
- ---. (2006) 'If I touch it I have to have it: Individual and environmental influences on impulse purchasing,' *Journal of Business Research*, 59(6): 765-69.
- Raghubir, P. and Greenleaf, E. A. (2006) 'Ratios in proportion: what should the shape of the package be?,' *Journal of Marketing*, 70(2): 95-107.

- Ramanathan, S. and Menon, G. (2002) Goal-dependent Automaticity in Impulsive Decisions (Doctoral dissertation, New York University, Graduate School of Business Administration), Semanticscholars.org, Accessed on 22 January 2018: 1-50.
- Reimann, M.; Zaichkowsky, J.; Neuhaus, C.; Bender, T. and Weber, B. (2010) 'Aesthetic package design: a behavioral, neural, and psychological investigation,' *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 20(4): 431-41.
- Rook, D.W. and Fisher, R.J. (1995) 'Normative influences on impulsive buying behaviour,' *Journal* of Consumer Research, 22 (3): 305-13.
- Strack, F. and Deutsch, R. (2006) 'Reflective and impulsive determinants of consumer behaviour,' Journal of Consumer Psychology: 205-16.
- Turley, L. W. and Milliman, R. E. (2000) 'Atmospheric effects on shopping behaviour: a review of the experimental evidence,' *Journal of Business Research*, 49(2): 193-211.
- Verhagen, T. and Van Dolen, W. (2011) 'The influence of online store beliefs on consumer online impulse buying: a model and empirical application,' *Information Management*, 48 (8): 320-27.
- Verplanken, B. and Herabadi, A. (2001) 'Individual differences in impulse buying tendency: feeling and no thinking,' *European Journal of Personality*, 15 (1): S72-S83.
- Wooden, M. (1998) 'Socio-economic status, delay of gratification, and impulse buying,' *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 19: 295-320.
- Workman, J.E. and Caldwell, L.F. (2007) 'Centrality of visual product aesthetics, tactile and uniqueness needs of fashion consumers,' *International Journal of consumer studies*, 31(6): 589-96.
- Xu, Y. (2007) 'Impact of Store Environment on Adult Generation Y Consumers' Impulse Buying,' *Journal of Shopping Center Research*, 14(1): 39-56.
- Xiao, S.H. and Nicholson, M. (2013) 'A multidisciplinary cognitive behavioural framework of impulse buying: a systematic review of the literature,' *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 15(3): 333-56.
- Youn, S. and Faber, R.J. (2000) 'Impulse buying: its relation to personality traits and cues,' *ACR North American Advances*.
- Zhang, Y.; Winterich, K.P. and Mittal, V. (2010) 'Power distance belief and impulsive buying,' *Journal of Marketting Research*, 47 (5): 945-54.
- Zikmund, W. G.; Babin, B.J.; Carr, J.C.; Adhikari, A. and Griffin, M. (2016) *Business Research Methods*, New Delhi: Cengage Learning.

# Reaffirming Right to Life: A Sociological Study of the Safety Concerns of School Children in Chandigarh, India

Dr Minakshi Rana Assistant Prof., Sociology Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women, Chandigarh

Social inclusion is a life-long process and not an end in itself. It may consist of availability of equal chances of leading a dignified life, freedom from caste, class and gender bias, accessibility to quality education etc. The perception of social inclusion may be considered more crucial for children as they are immature and vulnerable. Children are denied an active role in the processes and institutions for a number of individual and familial reasons. As they spend a significant part of their childhood in schools, it is imperative that the ambience of the school be positive and nurturing, where they can feel safe with the care providers. For social inclusion of children, they must be provided a safe and secure environment in schools as it is their right to be protected during their stay in schools. The present study aims to investigate the capacity and preparedness of the Government as well as private schools to handle any unforeseen circumstances in order to ensure safety of the children. The area of investigation for the present study is the Union Territory of Chandigarh, India. In the present study, the primary respondents, parents of children studying in Government or private schools in Chandigarh, are interviewed on the basis of a semi-structured interview schedule to explore the school environment for safety concerns. It was found that school bus facility is not available particularly in Government Schools. Further, lack of sensitivity training to Class IV employees and readiness of school authorities for any natural calamity is also found low in most of the schools.

Keywords: social inclusion, right to life, safety concerns, social audit

#### Introduction

The pioneer of Sociology of childhood Qvortrup has rightly conceptualised children as both 'being' and 'becoming' – that is not just future adults but present human beings (1994).

The National Policy of India in 1974 declared children to be the nation's most precious asset. However, the fact is that children are vulnerable and they need to be

cared for and protected from the harshness of the world outside and around (Holt, 1975). The status of children is susceptible in India and pathetic in case of 18 states, Uttar Pradesh, Maharashtra, Bihar, Punjab, Haryana, West Bengal to mention a few (Bose, 2003). Although, the UN Convention on the Rights of Children has guaranteed these by the signatory States but the life of children is constantly threatened and damaged in institutional setups like schools. Most of the research on children has focussed on poverty, education, special mental and physical needs as matters of concern till now but the issue of safety during school hours has not been given due consideration. This ignorance has led to the dearth of understanding of the gravity of the matter and put the lives of millions of children studying in schools at risk. The cases of brutal murder of an 8 years old child in his school at Gurugram, Haryana and death of 30 innocent children in school bus accident in Nurpur, Kangra are incidents reflecting violation of Right to Life of children at school. Safety is an essential requisite for a positive educational environment. Maslow (1943) has rightly said that violence, disorder and threats to physical safety are antithetical to the environment where the students are supposed to learn and develop. The present study attempts to contemplate the extent of security measures taken by the school for the protection of Right to life of children during their stay in the school as usually children spend one-third of their day in the school; and to investigate the capacity and preparedness of the Government as well as private schools to handle any unforeseen situations and circumstances in order to ensure safety of the children. The study has considered the 'Manual on Safety and Security of Children in schools' by National Commission for protection of Child Rights as reference to examine present status of security measures in the schools.

#### **Overview of Literature**

A number of researchers (Hyman, 1967; Douglas, 1970; Feintein, 2003; Tooley and Dixon, 2007; Kingdon, 2010; White, 2010; Hosamani, 2011) have studied the factors responsible for differential educational attainment among children. Most of them asserted that positive attitude of schools as well as parents aid the performance of children in school. Smit and Noble (1995) and Redmond (2008) have mentioned that economic adversity negatively impact the childhood experiences. Further, (Anthony and Chatterjee, 1999; Azim Premji Foundation, 2004; Chandrima and Gunjan, 2007) stressed on malnutrition as a major barrier in the growth and development of children. While UNICEF (2003) emphasized on the

importance of inclusive education to cater the needs of children with physical and mental limitations. Some researchers (Pal and Ghosh, 2008; Lal, 2011; Das, 2013; Ramesh, 2013), examined discrimination on the basis of gender, caste and class among children. Nayak (2012) and Chaudhary (2014) found prevalence of malpractices in the implementation of RTE Act 2009. Garver and Noguera (2012) stressed upon the environmental conditions in school to promote healthy relationship among children instead of investing on camera and other surveillance devices in the school premises. After going through the existing literature, it was found that the safety and security concerns of the children during their stay in the school have not been much focussed upon so far. Further, in times where the lives of innocent children are constantly under threat due to neglect or non-preparedness of the school authorities, it becomes imperative to develop a comprehensive understanding of the situation.

# **Conceptual Framework**

# Ensuring Social Inclusion through Right to Life

Social inclusion is a life-long process and it is not an end in itself. Social inclusion covers all walks of life. It may consist of availability of equal chances of leading dignified life, freedom from caste, class and gender bias, accessibility to quality education, etc. (UNESCO 2005).

The perception of social inclusion may be considered more crucial for children as they are immature and vulnerable. Children are excluded from decisions regarding processes and institutions associated with them for a number of individual and familial reasons. Individual reasons may include minor status, physical, mental inabilities and socio-economic dependency. Familial factors also play crucial role in exclusion of the children like caste, class, ethnic, religious residential and educational background of the family.

Children require a healthy and supportive environment to grow and develop. In India, Children have constitutionally guaranteed fundamental rights to live with dignity and to have access to education in an environment that is safe, protective and conducive to growth and development. Everyone in school has a role to play in ensuring an effectively safe, healthy and secure environment within the institution; be it the management, principal, teachers, administrative staff, class IV workers, special-needs assistants, contractors and students. As children spend a significant part of their childhood and formative years in schools, it is imperative that the ambience in schools is positive and nurturing, where they can feel safe and secure with the care providers. Thus, in order to ensure Social inclusion of the children, they must be provided a safe and secure environment in schools as it is their right to be protected during their stay in schools.

## Research Questions

- What kind of role different stakeholders of the school are playing in ensuring the safety and security of the children?
- What are the differences among the Government and the private schools in providing safe and secure environment to children?
- What is the satisfaction level of parents regarding the level of security and safety provided to their children in the school?
- What are the major issues that need to be addressed for ensuring safety of children in Government and private schools of Chandigarh?

### **Objectives**

- to examine the extent of safety of children in school: For this objective, the 'Manual on Safety and Security of Children in schools' prescribed by National Commission for protection of Child Rights is referred.
- to study the role played by different stake holders of the school in ensuring the safety and security of children
- to compare the preparedness of Government and Private Schools for ensuring safety of children
- to study the satisfaction level of parents regarding the security and safety provided to their children in school
- to give suggestions regarding major issues concerning the safety of children in the schools of Chandigarh

## Research Methodology

The study undertaken is partially descriptive and partially comparative. Descriptive design is applied for elaborating on the present status related with safety and security of children and comparative design is used for drawing comparison between Government and private schools of Chandigarh.

## Locale of the study

The area of study is the Union territory of Chandigarh. The city is considered the hub of education catering to the pedagogical needs of adjacent states like Punjab, Haryana and Himachal Pradesh. It being a Union Territory, Chandigarh administration notifies the policies and directions of Central Government from time to time.

# Universe and the sampling frame

There is sufficient number of schools available in various parts of the city with a view to provide education to the children. Apart from the schools established by the Government here, there is a good number of privately managed and Government-aided schools, functioning from the educational sites allotted to them by the Chandigarh Administration on concessional rates from time to time. There are a total of 112 Government schools, 7 Government-aided schools and 73 privately managed schools in Chandigarh. The schools are expected to admit students without any discrimination on the basis of religion, caste, colour or creed with an aim to provide quality education within 1 km of their residence. The Government schools are affiliated to the Central Board of Secondary Education, New Delhi. Private schools are also commonly affiliated with C.B.S.E. But there are some schools affiliated to the Indian Certificate of Secondary Education too.

For the purpose of the present study, 10 per cent of the Government as well as private schools are taken through random sampling. Further, 10 parents and their children are interviewed from each of the selected schools.

# Unit of analysis and data collection

The primary respondent in the present study was one of the parents along with a child studying in class 5 to class 10 in the schools of Chandigarh (Mother or father

whosoever was available for the response). On the basis of the 'Manual on Safety and Security of Children in schools' by National Commission for Protection of Child Rights, a semi-structured interview schedule was prepared. Primary respondents were interviewed on the basis of a semi-structured interview schedule to explore the school environment for safety and security concerns. Further, some of the school authorities were also interviewed and physical inspection was made in few schools where permission was granted. The collected data was analysed statistically and efforts were made to arrive at technically sound results.

### Relevance of the study

The present study has helped in examining the measures taken by the schools for ensuring the safety and security of the children in the Union Territory of Chandigarh. The study attempts to highlight the extent to which the 'Manual on Safety and Security of Children in schools' by National Commission Protection for Child Rights is followed by schools. A comparative analysis of government and private schools in this regard has enhanced our understanding of safety environment and procedures followed by these institutions. Moreover parents' view point has definitely brought some hidden and covert dimensions of this issue. The findings of the present study aim to produce a comprehensive social audit of the preparedness and capacity of the schools to ensure safety and security of the children during their stay in schools. The study is expected to give valuable insight into various matters related to different stakeholders, not only for the implementation of the various safety measures but also for the development of effective monitoring system concerning the safety of children in the school.

Type of School in Chandigarh	Number of Schools in Chandigarh	Sample drawn	Total number of Respondents
Government Schools	119	11	110 (11*10)
Private Schools	73	8	80 (8*10)
Total	192	19	190

Table 1.1 Distribution and Selection of the Schools of Chandigarh for the Study



Diagrammatic presentation of the results of the study

# Limitations of the study

Some schools were reluctant to share information on the parameters of safety and security of children. Further, parents were also hesitant to report issues against school due to fear of action by authorities. After careful analysis of the data collected during the study, we came across the following vital issues concerning the safety of children in the schools.

On the basis of response received from parents whose children are studying in various schools of Chandigarh, various issues concerning the security of their children were examined. With some informal conversations with teachers and other support staff, a deeper understanding on the topic under study was made.

The following major issues can be discussed at length. However, some vital aspects have been highlighted in the above mentioned chart also.

# Issues Concerning the Safety of the Children in Schools

# Infrastructure

As teachers and children spend a substantial part of their day in school, it is essential to keep the school environment including building, premises, entrance and

surroundings that comprise broader term 'Infrastructure' safe and secure. It is important to see that school buildings are built to be more resilient to hazards and ensure "life safety". In a similar way, school administration, staff, teachers as well as students need to be better aware and prepared to respond to any catastrophe, natural or man-made, so that any damage - injury or loss of life and property can be reduced, if not completely avoided. School infrastructure includes many components viz., physical structures such as school building, playground, water bodies (if any), electrical and fire safety mechanisms etc.

In the present study, it was found that in Government (54%) and Private schools (78%), the condition of the school building in terms of space, number of entrance/exit gates, stairs, playground and lobby is satisfactory. However, in case of clean toilets and drinking water outlets, majority (86%) of the respondents are not happy with Government schools. Though, we find the condition of private schools is much better in this context and most (81%) of the respondents are satisfied with the arrangement of toilets and drinking water. Further, the respondents in case of Government schools responded that usually attendants are not present near the toiles to help and take care of younger children in case they need. Due to this negligence, in one incident a child studying in 5<sup>th</sup> class slipped accidently and got severe injury on the head.

As far as availability of electrical and fire safety mechanism is concerned, it was noticed that parents as well as children don't have much information regarding it. Some school authorities told us that they have installed all the requisite fire and electrical safety devices. Further, only one of the private schools from the selected sample is conducting drill practice with children in order to prepare them to face any calamity in school premises.

# Health and Hygiene

With the aim of protecting and promoting the health, hygiene and welfare of children, it is important that schools develop, implement and maintain an effective health and hygiene management system. Good health and hygiene management system supports the delivery of high educational standards that aids in holistic development of the children.

In the present study, we find that health form of child dully filled and signed by medical officer is required to be submitted at the start of the academic session by parents in all schools now. The health form requires comprehensive assessment of the child physical as well as mental functioning. In case of Government schools, respondents (79%) are of the opinion that they are unable to comprehend many aspects of the health form so the administration should do it at the school level and share the results to help illiterate and poor families for maintaining health of their children. However, in case of private schools, the respondents (85%) are able to fill and understand the health form.

Various Government initiatives like De-worming and administering of Iron supplements are implemented in most of the schools of Chandigarh. However, we find that there is a need of awareness and insight among the parents regarding the implications of the various nutrition oriented programs.

# Method of discipline and attention to special needs

A chronic pattern of psycho-social maltreatment destroys a child's sense of self and personal safety. Corporal punishment amounts to abuse and militates against the freedom and dignity of a child. It also interferes with a child's Right to Education because fear of corporal punishment makes children more likely to avoid school or to drop out altogether. Hence, corporal punishment interrupts the Right to life with dignity. Same is the case of violence among peers and groups of children that inflict physical as well as psychological fears and scars in children. Schools should provide the right ambience and climate to students to develop and enrich talents to facilitate holistic development of personality. To develop a creative human being in a fearless environment, schools should encourage teachers to adopt alternative strategies to corporal punishment.

In the present study, we find that in most (67%) of the Government schools teachers follow corporal punishment as a method to discipline children. Some of the parents reported even injury to their children after being beaten by teachers in Government schools. Very few respondents (12.3%) mentioned use of corporal punishment in private schools. Further, we noticed that there is a lack counselling in private as well as government schools to help children in their various adjustment problems. Learning disabilities like slow learning, speech delay, lack of concentration due to

hyperactivity and inability to recall are not being taken care of adequately in schools. Special educators are not available in most of the schools. Parents of private schools are dependent on private speech therapists but they are income oriented as reported by parents and in case of government schools, the children are compelled to continue with their speech problems.

# Role of Teaching Staff

The teachers, including head teachers, should safeguard children's wellbeing and maintain public trust in the teaching profession as part of their professional duties. The school teachers also have a responsibility to provide a safe learning environment to the children, where they can identify children who may be in need of extra help, or who are suffering or are likely to suffer significant harm. They also hold a responsibility to take appropriate action, working with other services as needed.

In the present study, lack of individual attention and dependence on local tutors is mentioned by most (84%) of the respondents of Government schools and in 54% of private schools as well. According to respondents, class strength is the biggest culprit as it is very difficult to give personal attention to 45-55 students in class by teachers. However, some private schools are keeping the class strength as low as 30. The respondents (81%) in case of government schools also mentioned less use of English as a medium of instruction that makes children very weak in reading and writing in English. Use of inappropriate language by teachers is mentioned by many respondents in government schools. However, parents are satisfied with the use and practice of English language in case of private schools.

# Role of Non-teaching Staff

School support staff plays an important role in ensuring students are learning in a safe and supportive learning environment. They can foster positive, trusting relationships with students and improve school climate by encouraging parent and family involvement in education. Because students connect with school support staff on many occasions throughout the school day, support staff can model positive behaviour and send positive messages to students.

In the present study, it was found that availability of support staff (office staff, gatekeepers, peons, sweepers, maids) in Government schools is very less. Lack of sweepers and maids has resulted in lack of hygiene in schools. It was also found that security guards are not available in 58% of the Government schools. So it appeared that it is very easy for an outsider to enter into these campuses.

In case of private schools, the support staff is available but parents usually interact with office staff only. Security guards and check point at the entry gate are found in case of 80% of the private schools. Moreover, none of the children of private schools in the present study reported bad behaviour of the non-teaching staff with them.

# Safety in School Transportation

School bus is undoubtedly the most convenient means of student transportation. But unfortunately, there are a number of school bus safety issues faced by students. Hence, there are a number of laws in place for ensuring safety in School Transportation.

In the present study, it was found that only in only 15% of the Government schools the facility of school bus was available. Auto rickshaws, vans and rickshaws were used in most of the cases. In some cases parents pick their children and sometimes the children commute on their own. Parents of the children studying in Government schools considered auto rickshaws, vans and rickshaws unsafe as children often complain of speeding and crowding. But in the absence of school buses, they are compelled to depend on these modes of conveyance. School buses are available in almost all the private schools however, some of the respondents (21%) mention that drivers keep on changing and are negligent in driving. Further, buses are mostly run by private contractors so the schools keep themselves away from these issues. In case of school buses of private schools, GPS were not active and 69% of the respondents reported that sometimes helpers use foul language. Further, some parents complained that the helpers in the buses do not cooperate while their children board/get off the buses.

# Conclusion

School is a common platform where children irrespective of caste, creed, colour,

culture and gender share space and learn together. Lots of aspirations for prosperous future of parents as well as children are associated with school. Thus, school should serve as a complete unit where infrastructure, staff (teaching as well as non-teaching), health and hygiene and attitude of the school authorities all work in tandem.

The results of the present study revealed that schools in the City Beautiful are lacking in some of the very significant areas that needed to be rectified in order to ensure the Right to Life with dignity and safety to the children. It was also discovered that the practice of corporal punishment as a method of discipline is still being followed especially in government schools of Chandigarh. Further, dependence on tutors in formative years of children is a serious matter of concern in case of both government as well as private schools. Schools in Chandigarh seem unprepared in case of any unprecedented circumstances due to lack of proper fire and electrical safety mechanism in schools and absence of disaster management training among school staff. The lack of control over private school buses contractors is also one of the grave concerns that need to be immediately taken care off.

### Suggestions

A regular monitoring of all the schools in context of practice of routine fire and safety instructions should be done by the department of school education. Every school should have a disaster training and management committee at school level to conduct various training sessions for students as well as staff to improve preparedness of the school authorities to deal with any unforeseen situations. Further, a provision of school buses for children should be there in case of government schools also. However, the private school authorities should keep a check on the school bus staff for obeying the traffic rules as well as other safety instructions. Lastly, in order to ensure better future to all the children, special educators and counsellors should be appointed in adequate number in all schools.

#### Works Cited

Anthony, R., Measham and Chatterjee, M. (1999) *Wasting Away: The Crisis of Malnutrition in India*, The World Bank, Washington, D.C.

Azim Premji Foundation (2004) The Social Context of Elementary Education in Rural India, India.

Bose, A.B. (2003) The State of children in India, New Delhi: Manchoe Publishers.

- Chaudhary, S. (2014) 'Right to Education Act 2009.letting the disadvantaged down,' *Internal Research Journal of Social Science*, 3 (8): 1-7.
- Chatterjee, C. and Sheoran, G. (2007) *Vulnerable Groups in India*, Mumbai: The Centre for Enquiry into Health and Allied Themes (CEHAT).
- Das, S. (2013) Education and Social Mobility: A textual analysis in Indian Perspective, Education Confab, 2(1), Jan 2013.
- Dewey J. (1916) *Democracy and Education.:An introduction to the philosophy of education*, New York: Macmillan.
- Douglas, J.W.B.; Ross, J.M. and Simpson, H.R. (1970) *Natural Symbols*, London: Barrie and Jenkins.
- Feinstein, L. (2003) 'Very early evidence: how early can we predict future educational achievement,' *Centerpiece*, 8(2).
- Garver, R. and Noguera, P. (2012) 'For safety's sake: A case study of school of school security efforts and their impact on education reform,' *Journal of applied research on children: Informing policy for children at risk*, 3(2).
- Holt, J. (1975) Escape from childhood, Hardmondsworth: Penguin Books.
- Hosamani, D.I. (2011) *School Dropouts: A Sociological Study.* Department of Post Graduate Studies and Research in Sociology, Karnataka University.
- Hyman, H. H. (1967) 'The value system of different classes,' *Class status party*, Eds. R. Bendix and S.M. Lipset, London: Routedge and Kegan Paul.
- Kingdon, G. (2010) 'Public Private Partnership in Education. Some policy Questions,' 2, Centre of Civil Society.
- Lal, M. (2011) 'Education-the inclusive Growth Strategy for the economically and socially disadvantaged in the Indian society,' www.reserachgate.net. Accessed on 28 June 2016.
- Maslow, A.H. (1943) 'A theory of human motivation.' Psychal Rev., 50: 370-96.
- Nayak, K.B. (2012) 'Implementing clause 12 of the Right to Education Act 2009 in Udaipur District of Rajasthan, India: Letting disadvantaged down,' Graduate School of Developmental Studies, The Hague, Netherlands.
- Pal, S. and Ghosh, S. (2008) 'The Elite and the Marginalized: An Analysis of Public Spending on Mass Education in the Indian State. Germany,' Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), Paper

No 3707.

Qvortrup, J. (ed.) (1994) Childhood Matters: An introduction, Avebury, Aldershot (UK).

- Ramesh, K. (2013) 'Level of the Marginalized people in India,'*International Journal of Social Sciences and Interdisciplinary Research*, 2(3), March 2013.
- Redmond, G. (2008) 'Children's Perspectives on Economic Adversity: A Review of the Literature,' Australia: Social Policy Research Centre Discussion, Paper No. 149.
- Smit, T. and Noble, M. (1995) *Education Divides: Poverty and Schooling in the 1990s.* CPAG, London.
- Tooley, J.; Dixon P. and Gomathi, S.V. (2007) 'Private Schools and the millennium development goal of universal primary education: A census and comparative survey in Hyderabad India, *Oxford Review of Education*, 33(5): 539-60.
- UNICEF (2003) *Examples of Inclusive Education*. Kathmandu, Nepal: Regional Office for South Asia.

White, M. (2010) Poverty and Education: A teacher's perspective. Canada: BCTF Research Report.

# Employee Engagement and its Relationship with Organizational Effectiveness: Revisiting Literature

Kamakshi Malik Research Scholar, IKGPTU, Jalandhar and Prof Rakesh K. Wats NITTTR, Chandigarh

It is a matter of great concern for organizations to survive in the volatile, uncertain, complex and ambiguous (VUCA) environment. Apart from this, the organizations are facing other challenges like disruptive technology, high attrition rate, more women and millennials in workforce to name a few. These challenges have made it difficult for organizations to achieve effectiveness. Organizational effectiveness has different connotations in different organizations depending on their size, phase, structure, vision and mission etc., of the organization and researchers in academic and corporate realm have construed the same. Furthermore, to attain effectiveness, the role of employees' engagement cannot be undermined.

In management parlance, an engaged employee is the one who is not only passionate for his work but also emotionally connected to the organization in its endeavor for success. Numerous studies have shown that engaged employees outperform the disengaged ones by being more productive, attentive, satisfied, customer oriented, exerting discretionary effort and have proclivity towards the growth of the organization. However, studies showing significance of employee engagement in the organizational effectiveness are sparse and must be undertaken. This study is an attempt to understand employee engagement through various definitions and to study the relationship between employee engagement and organizational effectiveness.

*Keywords*: Employee engagement, Organizational effectiveness, VUCA environment

Since times immemorial, organizations across the globe have been striving for effectiveness. Its relevance in contemporary scenario can be attributed to the fact that organizations today, are operating in the most volatile and complex environments of all times. They are experiencing a number of challenges in the name of disruptive technology, changing workforce dynamics (workforce diversity, more women and millennials), changing aspirations and expectations of employees etc. It is becoming difficult for organizations to stay germane in the said conditions. Thus, it is highly relevant time to discuss organizational effectiveness in the present times. Though, tough to describe what precisely represents organizational effectiveness, it is widely accepted as "the extent to which an organization achieves its goals" (Steers, 1977). Some others have defined it as "a socially constructed, abstract notion carried in the heads of organizational theorists and researchers" (Quinn and Rohrbaugh,1983); "the net satisfaction of all the primary constituents in the process of collecting and transforming inputs into the results in an efficient manner" (Matthew et al., 2005).

Most researches have associated it to the financial aspects like productivity, rate of return, return on investment, profitability etc. However, the contribution of human resource in achieving organizational effectiveness has sparingly been studied.

Human resource is perhaps the most vital 'game changer' for the organizations today. The products, strategies, processes may be imitated by the competitors over time, but not your people. Thus, in today's volatile and hyper competitive environment it is very essential for organizations to strive for people who are enthusiastic to exercise their discretionary effort while performing their job. Engagement has been a widely accepted as employees' enthusiasm for work, his deep sense of physical, cognitive and emotional attachment for his work and organization. It is a well researched topic in both academic and corporate realm. There are a number of advantages of having engaged employees as the researchers across the globe have concluded. Organizations that have engaged employees are more profitable, provide better customer service thus retaining happy and satisfied customers, experience less absenteeism and turnover (Salanova et al., 2005; Bakker and Demerouti, 2007; Hakanen et al., 2006; Harter et al., 2002).

### **Objectives of the study**

The aim of the paper is two-fold, firstly to accrue the body of knowledge on employee engagement (EE) and secondly, to establish its relationship with organizational effectiveness by revisiting previous literature.

## **Employee Engagement:**

Engagement is like love - everyone agrees it's a good thing, but everyone has a different definition of what it is. (Graham, *The New York Times*)

Employee Engagement (EE) is the most recent challenge that has garnered a lot of attention from global leaders and business strategists. The same is evident from the Deloitte report, "The Global Human Capital Trends, 2015: The New World of Work". The report clearly indicates that it is for the first time that a 'softer issue' such as 'EE' has emerged as the top challenge for HR leaders across 106 countries and more than 87% of organizations have cited engaging their employees as one of their top challenges. Another report by Aon Hewitt, 2014 'Trends in Global Employee Engagement' stated that beyond attracting and retaining necessary talent, engaging talent in the right behavior will be the business challenge of the next decade. However, the question remains as to what actually is EE. As far as defining EE is concerned, there is no single accepted definition of who is an engaged employee but the bottom- line from the thoughts of various researchers is that he is the one who is emotionally attached to his organization, can go an extra mile to perform his job, is deeply and passionately involved in it and last but not least, strives to take his organization ahead in the competitive environment.

The term EE was coined by William A. Kahn who has done one of the pioneer studies on engagement. Kahn (1990) defines EE as " the harnessing of organization members' selves to their work roles; in engagement, people employ and express themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally during role performances." Thus, according to Kahn, engagement means to be psychologically as well as physically present while occupying and performing certain organisational role (Kahn, 1990).

# Definitions in academic literature

The academic literature is full of definitions of engagement. Each author has expressed his feelings as to what they think engagement is. Some have expressed it in terms of feelings and behavior while others have proved it to be an attitude etc. Some important and commonly cited definitions are expressed below.

"Engagement means to be psychologically present when occupying and performing an organizational role. The harnessing of organization members' selves to their work roles; in engagement, people use and express themselves physically, cognitively and emotionally during role performance" (Kahn, 1990).

"Engagement is characterized by energy, involvement and efficacy which are considered the direct opposites of the three burnout dimensions exhaustion, cynicism and lack of professional efficacy" (Maslach, 2001).

It is defined as a "positive, fulfilling, work-related state of mind that is characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption". They further state it is "a more persistent and pervasive affective-cognitive state that is not focused on any particular object, event, individual or behaviour" (Schaufeli et al., 2002).

"Engagement is an employee's high level of work involvement and enthusiasm" (Tritch, 2003).

Engagement is a "positive attitude held by the employee toward the organization and its value. An engaged employee is aware of business context and works with colleagues to improve performance within the job for the benefit of the organization. The organization must work to develop and nurture engagement, which requires a two-way relationship between employer and employee" (Robinson et al., 2004).

"Employee engagement focuses on positive feelings of the employees' towards five issues at workplace which includes *job value, job satisfaction, job ownership, job involvement and enthusiasm*" (Wellins et al., 2005).

"Engagement is most prominently characterised by an employee's "heightened involvement with job and enthusiasm" (Seijts and Crim, 2006).

"Engagement is the extent to which employees are satisfied with their jobs, feel valued, and experience collaboration and trust" (Catteeuw et al., 2007).

# Definitions by Global HR Consultancies

Consultancy firms have been engaged in carrying out surveys to find out what

engagement is, what are the drivers of engagement and how do they affect the bottom line of businesses. They have conceptualized engagement by amassing and redefining existing thoughts, such as involvement, enthusiasm, commitment, satisfaction, motivation and extra-role performance. A good deal of literature on employee engagement is contributed by these global consultancies like the Towers Perrin, Aon Hewitt to name a few. Some definitions provided by these consultancies have been discussed in the following lines.

The Corporate Leadership Councildefined engagement as "the extent to which employees commit to something or someone in their organization- how hard they work and how long they stay as a result of that commitment" (Council, 2004).

"Engagement is commitment or motivation indicating a psychological state where employees feel a vested interest in the company's success and perform above the stated requirements of the job. On the engagement continuum, they move from being satisfied, motivated, committed to becoming advocates of organizational ethos" (Mercer, 2007).

Ixia consultancy defines emotional engagement as "employees feeling safe and secure enough to be their best selves at work, to bring their 'whole' selves to work, and to feel respected and valued for 'who they are being' in their job role and responsibilities" (Cleland et al., 2008).

"Engagement is defined in terms of three elements namely employees' willingness to exert discretionary effort on their job, availability of resources and supervisory support and work environment that gives energy for physical, emotional and interpersonal well-being" (Towers Watson, 2014)

In its survey on Global Employee Engagement Trends, Aon Hewitt defined engagement as" the psychological state and behavioral outcomes that lead to better performance. Engaged employees constantly exhibit three general behaviors namely say, stay and strive. They speak positively about the organization, have a strong desire to be members of the organization despite having opportunities to work elsewhere and put in extra effort, time and initiative in their work" (Hewitt, 2015). The perspectives of employee engagement as endorsed by various researchers has been summarised below in Table 1:

S.No.	Definitions	Authors				
	Engagement as a multi dimensional variable					
1.	The harnessing of organization members' selves to their work roles; in engagement, people employ and express themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally during role performances.	Kahn (1990)				
2.	How the organization's members devote themselves to work, including not only cognition, but also the flexible application of emotions and behaviors.	May et al. (2004)				
3.	A mixture of commitment, loyalty, productivity, and ownership.	Wellins & Concelman (2005)				
4.	The combination of knowledge, emotion and behavior related to the individual's role performance.	Saks (2006)				
5.	Employee's active involvement in work and the state of full physiology, cognition, and emotion that accompanies the work engagement, including three dimensions: work engagement, organizational recognition, and sense of work value.	Cha (2007)				
	Engagement as a positive disposition					
6.	A positive, fulfilling, work -related state of mind that is characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption.	Schaufeli et al. (2002)				
7.	The individual's involvement and satisfaction with as well as enthusiasm for work.	Harter et al. (2002)				
8.	Employee Engagement is the "positive feeling of the employees towards their work and organization"	Coffman and Gonzalez-Molina, (2002).				
9	Having a long-lasting, positive emotional and motivational state of awakening their work, ready to devote themselves experiences during work. to work at any time, and are accompanied by pleasant, proud, and encouraging	Zeng & Han (2005)				
10.	A positive, highly awakened emotional state with two features: energy, and involvement.	Bakker(2011)				

S.No.	Definitions	Authors				
	Engagement as willful dedication					
11.	The extent how employees are willing to stay in the company and work hard for the company, including three elements: say, stay and strive.	Hewitt (2005)				
12.	Degree of willingness and ability of employees to help companies succeed, including rational and sensuous engagement.	Towers Perrin (2001)				
13.	A sense of professional responsibility, including hard work, dedicated to the company, loyal to the boss, and self-confidence.	Xie (2006)				
	Engagement as antithesis of burnout					
14.	The opposites of three features of burnout: energy, participation, and effectiveness.	Maslach et al. (2001)				
15.	The opposites of two features of burnout: vigor and Dedication.	Schaufeli & Bakker (2004)				
16.	The core burnout and engagement dimensions are opposites of each other along two distinct dimensions of energy and identification.	González-Romá et al. (2006)				
	Engagement as involvement, committment and enthusiasm					
17.	It is the individual' sin volvement and satisfaction as well as enthusiasm for work.	Harter, Schimdt and Hayes (2002)				
18.	An engaged employee is a person who is fully involved in, and enthusiastic about, his or her work.	Falcone (2006)				
19.	It is the extent to which employees commit to something or some one in their organization, how hard they work and how long they stay as a result of that commitment.	Lockwood (2007)				
20	It is a feeling of commitment of an employees to help the company achieve its objectives .They have a desire to be involved in what is happening within the company	Mori(2008)				
21.	It is defined in general as the level of commitment and involvement an employee has toward their organization and its values.	Anitha (2014)				
22.	Engaged employees do not hold back, they are not only more energetic, but also enthusiastic in applying this energy at work. They are intensively involved in their work and pay attention to the details.	Leiter and Bakker (2010)				

Source: Authors' compilation from previous studies

Table: 1 Perspectives of Employee Engagement

## **Organisational Effectiveness and Employee Engagement**

An organisation cannot ignore the contribution of its employees, to attain effectiveness because it's the employees who set apart a good organisation from a great organisation. When engaged, they bring in enthusiasm, passion, commitment, loyalty and innovation at work. An organization having such employees will undoubtedly withstand difficult times and environmental challenges (both internal and external) to become resilient, adaptive and sustainable, thus becoming effective. The following are some of the research studies which have confirmed a correlation (direct or indirect) between these two constructs and reiterated the above argument.

"It is employee engagement that drives effectiveness in an organization by improving retention, customer loyalty, productivity, safety and ultimately, profitability". The authors feel that better the engagement levels of employees, more will be the effectiveness of that organization (Myilswamy and Gaytri, 2014).

Organisations search for means to elevate employee engagement at work, thereby improving organisational effectiveness. Moreover, research has suggested a positive and significant contribution of EE towards organizational effectiveness since "engagement in employees makes them more enthusiastic about and absorbed in their work, profoundly immersed to put forward their positive energy and mental efforts towards the attainment of organizational goals" (Kataria et al., 2013b).

Employee engagement is a "winning formula for organizational excellence. To meet the challenges resulting from global competitiveness, they need to demonstrate world class performance, re-examine the drivers of organisational performance through employee engagement". The human capital, if developed and nurtured appropriately by the organization, drives organisations towards developing capabilities necessary for the organisational growth and development in recent times (Sahoo and Sahu, 2013).

In yet another study, a correlation between employee engagement and organisational effectiveness through organisational citizenship behaviour (OCB) was found. OCB is the extra- role behaviour of an employee and concerns with what an employee decides to do instinctively, often outside of their specified contractual obligation). The study supports the concept of employee engagement as a vital driver of organizational effectiveness through OCB.Engaged employees have the greatest potential to enhance organizational effectiveness through their higher levels of OCB(Kataria et al., 2013a).

Rayton et al (2012) in their report summarised that "there is a firm correlation between employee engagement and high organisational productivity and performance across all sectors of the economy". Apart from performance and productivity, "employee engagement impacts positively on the levels of absenteeism, retention, levels of innovation, customer service, positive outcomes in public services and staff advocacy of their organisations" (Rayton et al., 2012).

Studies have also focussed on various factors which influence employee engagement and observed that organisations with higher levels of employee engagement outperform their competitors in terms of profitability, higher productivity, customer satisfaction and lower employee turnover thus leading the organisation to the ultimate goal of effectiveness (Sundaray, 2011; Hewitt Associates LLC, 2005).

# Key findings

- There is no unanimously accepted definition of employee engagement. Various researchers have defined it diversely and differently. This lack of precision has invoked criticism as well as curiosity, making it exciting to study or research further.
- Every research brings out a distinct aspect of employee engagement. It has been discussed from various points of view (as mentioned in the table). Some authors feel it to be a multifaceted construct while some feel it is a positive disposition, still others feel it to be associated with involvement, commitment of an employee with organization and the enthusiasm for his work.
- There are various dimensions of employee engagement like the behavioral, cognitive, physical and emotional. It is difficult to state which dimension plays a stronger role in employees and whether one or more dimensions can simultaneously affect the disposition of employees.

- Every engaged employee exhibits behavioral outcomes of better performance showing discretionary efforts, taking pride in being associated with their organization, feeling valued for contributing holistically to the growth and development of the organization.
- From the definitions of employee engagement assimilated above, it is quite evident that having engaged employees is a win-win situation for bothemployees and the organization. The employees are benefitted by way of being motivated, satisfied, innovative, proud, confident, better performers than their disengaged counterparts while the organization experiences enhanced productivity, profitability, lesser absenteeism, customer and employee retention, and good public image.
- It also becomes apparent from the previous studies that there definitely exists a positive relationship between engaged employees and organizational effectiveness. Engaged employees by being involved and committed to their job and organization show discretionary effort while working and this leads to enhanced performance and satisfaction levels, increased productivity and better corporate image, thus making the organization effective.

### Conclusion

The organizations are facing a number of challenges in this hypercompetitive business environment. One such challenge that has been discussed in this paper is employee engagement. This construct is garnering great attention from practitioners across the globe. It is evident from previous studies that engaged employees are the ones who are willing to put their heart and soul into whatever they are expected to do. They are going beyond their job descriptions and exhibiting extra-role behaviors, they arenot only emotionally and passionately involved and committed towards their organization but also strive for its excellence. Engaged employees, by being more satisfied, customer oriented, confident, innovative and going the extra mile lead to increased productivity, customer retention and better corporate image, thereby enhancing organizational effectiveness. The primary contribution of this study is its attempt to bring forth the various aspects of employee engagement and to establish a relationship between employee engagement and organizational effectiveness by applying theoretical perspective on the two variables.

#### Works Cited

- Anitha, J. (2014) 'Determinants of employee engagement and their impact on employee performance, 'International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 63(3): 308-23.
- Bakker, S. (2011) 'Control, Opportunity & Leadership-A Study of Employee Engagement in the Canadian Workplace,' Psychometrics Canada Ltd.
- Bakker, A. B. and Demerouti, E. (2007) 'The Job Demands-Resources model: state of the art,'*Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 22(3): 309-28.
- Catteeuw, F., Flynn, E. and Vonderhorst, J. (2007) 'Employee engagement: boosting productivity in turbulent times,'*Organization Development Journal*, 25(2): 151-57.
- Cha, S. C. (2007) 'Research on structural modeling of enterprise employee engagement, 'Unpublished manuscript, Jinan University, Jinan, China.
- Cleland, A.; Mitchinson, W. and Townend, A. (2008) 'Engagement, Assertiveness and Business Performance – A New Perspective,'Ixia Consultancy Ltd, <u>http://www.ppma.org.uk/assets</u> /\_files/documents/ apr\_13/FENT\_ 1365860204\_Engagement,\_assertiveness\_and\_.pdf, Accessed on 22 July 2018.
- Coffman, C. and Gonzalez-Molina,G.(2002) 'Follow this path: How the world's greatest organizations drive growth by unleashing human potential,' New York: Warner Business Books, Inc.
- Corporate Council Leadership (2004) 'Driving performance and retention through employee engagement: a quantitative analysis of effective engagement strategies,'New York,https://www.stcloudstate.edu/humanresources/ \_files/documents/supv-brown bag/employee-engagement.pdf, Accessed on 18August 2018.
- Deloitte (2015) 'Leading in the New World of Work,' In Global Human Capital Trends Annual Report of Deloitte Consulting, http://dupress.com/periodical/trends/human-capitaltrends, Accessed on 24 April 2016.
- Falcone, P. (2006) 'Preserving restless top performers: keep your top performers engaged so they don't jump ship once job opportunities arise, '*HR Magazine*, 51(3):117-22.
- González-Romá, V.; Schaufeli, W. B.; Bakker, A. B. and Lloret, S. (2006) 'Burnout and work engagement: Independent factors or opposite poles?, 'Journal of Vocational Behavior, 68(1):165-74.
- Hakanen, J. J.; Bakker, A.B. and Schaufeli W. B. (2006): 'Burnout and work engagement among teachers,'*Journal of School Psychology*, 43, 495-513.
- Harter, J.K.; Schmidt, F.L. and Hayes, T.L. (2002) 'Business-unit-level relationship between employee satisfaction, employee engagement, and business outcomes: a meta-analysis,' *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(2): 268-79.

- Hewitt (2014) 'The Aon Hewitt employee engagement model,'*Aon Hewitt Report*, http://www.aon.com/apac/human resources/thought-leadership/asia-connect/2014-7-issue6/2014-trends-in-asia-pacific-employeeengagement.jsp, Accessed on 22 March 2017.
- ---. (2015) 'Trends in Global Employee Engagement' Aon Hewitt Report. Available at: aonhewitt.hu/download/608/file/final\_trends\_in\_global\_employee\_engagement\_ report\_2015\_.pdf,Accessed on 25 March 2017.
- Hewitt Associates LLC. (2005) *Employee engagement*, http://was4.hewitt.com/ hewitt/services/ talent/subtalent/ee\_engagement.htm, Accessed on 14 September 2016.
- Kahn, W. A. (1990) 'Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work,' *Academy of Management Journal*, 33(4): 692-724.
- Kataria, A.; Garg, P. and Rastogi, R. (2013a) 'Employee Engagement and Organizational Effectiveness: The Role of Organizational Citizenship Behavior,'*International Journal of Business Insights & Transformation*, 6(1):102-13.
- ---. (2013b) 'Organizational Effectiveness as a Function of Employee Engagement,'*South Asian Journal of Management*, 20(4): 56-73.
- Leiter, M. P. and Bakker, A. B.(2010) 'Work engagement: Introduction, 'Bakker, A. B. and Leiter, M. P (eds.) Work engagement: A handbook of essential theory and research, New York, US: Psychology Press.
- Lockwood, N.R. (2007) 'Leveraging employee engagement for competitive advantage: HR's strategic role' *HR Magazine*, 52 (3):1-11.
- Maslach, C.; Schaufelli, W.B. and Leiter, M.P. (2001) 'Job burnout, '*Annual Review of Psychology*, 52 (1): 397-422.
- Matthew, J.; Grawhich and Barber, L. K. (2005) 'Are you Focusing both Employees and Organizational Outcomes,' Saint Louis University: Organizational Health Initiative.
- May, D. R.; Gilson, R. L. and Harter, L. M.(2004) 'The psychological conditions of meaningfulness, safety and availability and the engagement of the human spirit at work, '*Journal of* Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 77(1): 11-37.
- Mercer (2007) 'Exploring the Global Drivers of Employee Engagement' Mercer HR Consultancy, www.mercer.com/referencecontent.htm?idContent=1281670, Accessed on 14 August 2017.
- Mori, I. (2008) 'Employee Relationship Management Employee Engagement,' www.ipsosmori.com/researchspecialisms/loyalty/youremployees/engagement.ashx, Accessed on 26 August 2017.
- Myilswamy, N.P. and Gaytri, R. (2014) 'A Study on Employee Engagement: Role of Employee Engagement in Organizational Effectiveness,'*International Journal of Innovative Science, Engineering & Technology*, 1(6): 331-31.

- Quinn, R. E. and Rohrbaugh, J. (1983) 'A spatial model of effectiveness criteria: Towards a competing values approach to organizational analysis,'*Management Science*, 29, 363-77.
- Rayton, B.; Dodge, T. and D'Analeze, G. (2012) 'The Evidence: Employee Engagement Task Force "Nailing the evidence" workgroup, Engage for success,' http://www.engage forsuccess.org/ideas-tools/employee-engagement-the-evidence/, Accessed on 12 September 2016.
- Robinson, D.; Perryman,S. and Hayday, S. (2004) 'The drivers of employee engagement,' www.employment-studies.co.uk, Accessed on 14 July, 2018.
- Sahoo, C.K. and Sahu, G. (2013) 'Effective Employee Engagement: The Mantra of Achieving Organizational Excellence, Workplace Engagement and Generational Differences in Values,'*Business Communication Quarterly*, 76:252-65.
- Saks, A.M. (2006) 'Antecedents and consequences of employee engagement,' Journal of Managerial Psychology, 21 (7): 600-19.
- Salanova, M.; Agut, S. and Peiro, J. M. (2005) 'Linking organizational resources and work engagement to employee performance and customer loyalty: the mediation of service climate' *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90: 1217-27.
- Schaufeli, W. B. and Bakker, A. B. (2004) 'Job demands, job resources, and their relationship with burnout and engagement: A multi-sample study,'*Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 25: 293-315.
- Schaufeli, W. B.; Salanova, M.; Gonzalez-Roma, V. and Bakker, A. B. (2002) 'The measurement of engagement & burnout: a two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach,' *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 3(1): 71-92.
- Seijts, G. and Crim, D. (2006) 'What engages employees the most or, the Ten C's of employee engagement,'*Ivey Business Journal*, 70(4): 1-5.
- Steers, R.M. (1977) 'Antecedents and outcomes of organizational commitment,' *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 22(1): 46-56.
- Sundaray, B. K. (2011) 'Employee Engagement: A Driver of Organizational Effectiveness,' *European Journal of Business and Management*, 3(8): 53-60.
- Tritch, T. (2003) 'Engagement drives results at new century,' Gallup Management Journal: 1-7.
- Wellins, R.S.; Bernthal, P. and Phelps, M. (2005) 'Employee Engagement: The Key to Realizing Competitive Advantage,' *Development Dimensions International*, https:// www.ddiworld.com/ddi/media/monographs/employeeengagement\_mg\_ ddi.pdf?ext=.pdf, Accessed on 22 June 2018.
- Woodruffe, C. (2006) 'Employee engagement: The real secret of winning a crucial edge over your rivals,' *British Journal of Administrative Management*, 50: 28-29.

Xie, W. H. (2006) Engagement, 1st Ed. Beijing: China Business Press.

Zeng, H. and Han, J. L. (2005) 'To improve employee engagement,' Enterprise management, 5: 9-10.
#### Consumer Buying Behaviour towards Mobile Phone Attributes: A Study of Young Population of Tricity

Dr Kiran Jindal Assistant Prof, Commerce Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women, Chandigarh

Mobile phones are becoming a necessity rather than luxury now days. Increasing disposable income, digitalisation and attraction toward social networking are the main factors responsible for increasing demand of mobile phones. This study aims to investigate the main factors affecting consumer's choice, particularly of the youth, while purchasing a mobile phone and to determine which of these factors are actually important in a consumer's decision-making process. The purposive sampling technique was employed and data was collected from 565 respondents ageing between 18 to 27 years of tricity (Chandigarh, Panchkula & Mohali). By using factor analysis, we discovered how product quality features like camera quality, processor and storage along with an upgraded version are considered important, whereas price is at lesser consideration on account of improved standard of living in today's scenario.

Keywords: mobile phone attributes, customer preference, marketing research.

#### Introduction

Consumer behaviour is considered as a complicated process to understand as it is very dynamic in nature. It is a mental process through which a consumer undergoes while buying any commodity or service. Consumer generally takes the input from his/her environment (eg. media, friends, relatives or self evaluation etc.), processes it mentally and takes the decision to buy the product as a final output. The marketers need to understand the behaviour of consumers to serve them better and get a reasonable niche in the market.

Indian consumer market is considered as the biggest consumer market around the world. Multi-national companies are tapping this market by introducing new kinds of advancements. One such development is in the form of mobile phones, an innovation resulting from dynamism in consumers' needs and wants. Mobile, as a medium of communication is growing fast and reaching every strata of society with its easy accessibility and reach. This could be attributed to increasing disposable

income, increasing rate of education, digitalisation, attraction towards social networking, globalisation and inbuilt features of mobile phones like camera, calculator and watch among others. The presence of so many mobile brand companies has created intense competition among the marketers. They are constantly fighting with each other to add additional and better features to mobile phones at the lowest possible cost so as to obtain an edge over its competitors. The knowledge of "what the consumers thinks" and "what consequently would contribute to his satisfaction" is the actual requirement of marketers in today's scenario. The consumer buying behaviour is very much complex for ever changing technological products and it is necessary to understand it from time to time so as to cater the market in an effective manner. The reasons why consumers buy a particular brand or switch to another brands are basically the factors influencing the choice, which is the topic of utmost importance. Its dimensions are: 1) Subjective characteristics of consumers like demographics, and 2) Preference Formation (also called Rating of Factors with one another). It further extends to analysing these factors and helping the marketers to know up to what level they influence the purchasing decisions which should be counted as the objectives of current marketing research. As per the existing literature, product quality in the form of Speed and Performance followed by brand, advertising and network may have the highest positive impact on the satisfaction of consumers towards mobile phones (Agarwal et al., 2019; Vishesh et al., 2018; Mohan, 2014; Liu, 2002). Recommendation for review on the internet and friends might influence more than any other categories while buying mobile phones (Jha and Nanda, 2017). Shashi kumar Sharma (2010) also suggested that Bhutanese youth are influenced by brand, price, advertisement and peer group while purchasing a mobile phone. Reference group influence, social reputation and regular contact with others are the influential factors for the buying of mobile phones (Keelson, 2012). Some other customers may consider factors like pricing and physical attributes of a mobile phone other than anything else, while making a purchase decision (Kumari, 2017; Sata, 2013). Apart from product feature and price, the other important factors are brand, convenience factor and social influence which affects the buying motives for smart phone (Trivedi and Raval, 2016; Rakib, 2019). The camera, screen size and RAM might play the least important role in purchasing decisions (Sethi and Chander, 2015). Availability of credit system could be another factor affecting consumer behaviour (Das Debadutta 2012). S. Suraj Basha et al. (2011) concluded

that the educational qualification does not affect the selection of a mobile but the services derived and quality of the product certainly affect the choice. According to S. K. Kaushal (2016), compatibility, dependency and social influence could be the factors which significantly affect the purchase intension of the Smartphone consumers.

According to a report published by Statista Research Department, the number of mobile phone users in the world is expected to pass the five billion mark in 2019. Mobile phone users in India crossed 581 million users in 2014 and have been on a steady rise over the last decade. India is estimated to have over 800 million mobile phone users in 2019. The reason for this huge consumption of mobile phone could be due to highest proportion of young population (Girija and Kumar Shiva, 2013) and growing middle class in Indian economy. This young population is influenced by modernisation, globalisation and fashion industry and is eager to adopt new technology. They demand products by imitating business tycoons and other celebrities. Majority of the sale of mobile phone is determined by the young population as they are decision makers for themselves as well as for their families while choosing consumer products. So, these tech-savvy people are usually trend setters for the demand of technology related products. The behaviour of this young population needs to be understood as very few studies have been conducted to analyse the consumer behaviour of young population. Moreover, Indian consumer market is considered as a market of middle class consumer who is price conscious. So, the product manufacturing companies generally concentrate more on price rather than other attributes of product. The present study is an attempt to analyse the consumer behaviour of young population towards mobile phones and to measure the important attributes of a mobile phones that a consumer considers while buying a product.

#### Objectives

- to study the various product attributes a consumer considers while purchasing a mobile phone and the influence of those factors on his buying behaviour
- to study the perception of the consumer regarding various mobile phone brands

- to know about the preference level of youngsters in case they are willing to change their current brand of mobile phone
- to find out the satisfaction level of youngsters toward their current mobile phones
- to analyse the major features which a young male or female look for while purchasing a mobile phone
- to study the price they paid for their existing phone and how much they are willing to spend in case they make a new purchase of a different brand

For fulfilling the above objectives, descriptive research design has been used. The research study is based on primary and secondary data as the existing literature is used to determine the factors influencing the buying behaviour of young population regarding mobile phones. Primary data is collected through survey method using questionnaires. For this purpose, a sample of 565 respondents has been taken through purposive sampling. Youngsters within the age group of 18-27 years having respective qualification such as under-graduates, post-graduates and Ph.Ds residing in Chandigarh, Mohali, Panchkula are taken as sampling unit. The collected data has been analysed using statistical techniques like bar graphs, pie charts, frequency tables, ANOVA, Chi-square and factor analysis using SPPS.

#### Data analysis and interpretation

The demographic profile of the respondents has been analysed in Table 1. It can be observed that majority of the respondents are female (69.7%). With respect to age, 40.5% of the respondents are 18-21 years old and 49.7% of the respondents are between 21-24 years of age. Hence, almost 90.3% of the respondents represent the age group of 18-24 years of age. 54.5% of the respondents are undergraduates and 44.2% of the respondents are post graduate. The most interesting fact is that all of the respondents are having their own smart phones. It illustrates that there is not even a single respondent who is not using a smart phones. The trend for having smart phones has increased substantially. It also means that the young population of India is tech-savvy and use up to date products especially in case of mobile phones.

Descriptive		<b>F</b>	Demonst
<u> </u>		Frequency	Percent
Gender	FEMALE	394	69.73
	MALE	171	30.27
	Total	565	100
Age	18-21	229	40.53
	21-24	281	49.73
	24-27	55	9.735
	Total	565	100
Education	UNDERGRADUATE	308	54.51
	POSTGRADUATE	250	44.25
	Ph.D.	7	1.239
	Total	565	100
Smart Phone	YES	565	100

Table 1: Descriptive statistics of the respondents

#### Usage of mobile phone brands

Table 2 illustrates that out of 565 respondents 168 respondents have I-phones i.e. 29.7% of the total followed by 134 respondents having mobile phones of other brands (other than those specified in the list like Micromax, Motorola and Sony, HTC, Oneplus, Asus etc.). 130 respondents have Samsung phones i.e. 23% of the total. Respondents also have mobile phones of different brands like Mi, Oppo, Vivo, Nokia but Apple is the most preferred mobile phone brand followed by Samsung brand. Nokia is the least preferred brand of mobile phone.

Brands	Frequency	Percent
NOKIA	3	0.531
SAMSUNG	130	23.01
APPLE	168	29.73
Mi	86	15.22
OPPO	20	3.54
VIVO	24	4.248
OTHERS	134	23.72
Total	565	100

Table 2: Current brands of Mobile phones with the respondents

When the current usage of brand is compared with respect to the reasons of buying that particular brand like, price, size, storage, processor and camera quality with the help of Anova (Table 3), it was found that there is no significant difference between the choice of brands with respect to price, size and storage. It means all the mobile brands available in the market are very much competitive in nature. However, the difference in choice of brand is statistically significant with respect to processor and camera quality. It means, processor and camera quality are two major attributes of a mobile phone that determine the choice of brand.

	RRENT RAND	Price	F value (Sign.)	Size	F value (Sign.)	STOR AGE	F value (Sign.)	PROCE SSOR	F value (Sign.)	CAMERA	F value (Sign.)
ΥD	Mean	4	1.673 (.131)	3	1.033 (.406)	3	0.760 (.602)	4	2.749 (.014**)	1	3.521 (.003**)
NOKIA	N	3		3		3		3		3	
	SD	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Q	Mean	3.26		3.05		3.18		2.95		3.26	
SU	N	130		130		130		130		130	
SAMSUNG	SD	1.032		0.985		1.353		1.089		1.309	
E	Mean	3.06		3.55		3.53		3.9		4.22	
APPLE	Ν	168		168		168		168		168	
I	SD	1.18		1.001		1.293		1.229		1.177	
	Mean	3.68		3.32		3.64		3.4		3.48	
	N	86		86		86		86		86	
Mi	SD	0.852		0.802		0.86		0.913		1.122	
	Mean	3.17		3.33		3.5		3		3.83	
OPPO	Ν	20		20		20		20		20	
OP	SD	0.753		0.516		0.837		1.414		0.983	
	Mean	4		3.57		3.71		3.29		4	
VIVO	N	24		24		24		24		24	
5	SD	1		0.787		1.113		0.951		1	
	Mean	3.51		3.38		3.72		3.64		3.44	
ERS	N	134		134		134		134		134	
OTHERS	SD	1.167		1.091		1.213		1.287		1.373	

Table 3: ANOVA for significant difference between mobile brands with respect to product attributes. (\*\*= significant p value)

#### Influence of others while buying Mobile Phones

Study of table 4 depicts that family has major influence on the purchase of mobile phones by the youth with 41.2% of the total. This shows that their ideology, their cultural and traditional background, beliefs have influence on the purchase of mobile phones by the youth. Friends and advertisement also has an influence but not as much as family has. Social media has the least influence on the purchase of mobile phones by the youth. The table also depicts that in the case of youth, it was the parents who have purchased phones for their children with 61.2% of the total. This shows that parents' income has an influence on the purchase of mobile phones by the youth. Only 26.1% of the totals have purchased mobile phones themselves.

Social Influence	Frequency	Percent	Who bought for you	Frequency	Percent
FAMILY	233	41.24	PARENTS	346	61.24
FRIENDS	130	23.01	SELF	147	26.1
ADVERTISEMENT	106	18.76	SIBLINGS	65	11.5
SOCIAL MEDIA	96	16.99	OTHERS	7	1.2
Total	565	100	Total	565	100

Table 4: Analysis of influence on the buying of the mobile phone

#### Price range of current mobile phone

According to Table 5, 49.2% of the total respondents have purchased the mobile phone in the price range of Rs.10000-20000 and 31.5% of the total has purchased the mobile phones in the price range of Rs. 30000 and above. This shows that the either the youth buy mid range smart phones or high end smart phone.

Amount (in Rs.)	Frequency	Percent
<b>BELOW 10000</b>	68	12.035
10000-20000	278	49.204
20000-30000	41	7.256
30000 and ABOVE	178	31.504
Total	565	100

Table 5: Price range of mobile phones

#### Analysis of current satisfaction level

Table 6 depicts that 42.4% and 40% of the total respondents are either satisfied or highly satisfied respectively with their current mobile phones. This shows that they are making informed decisions after thoroughly analysing different factors. It shows that they analyse pros and cons of different smart phones before purchasing it and purchase smart phones as per their needs and specific requirements. The table also indicates that 71.5% of respondents have no desire to change their smart phones; this also confirms that they are fully satisfied with their current mobile phones and have purchased their phones after proper analysis of their needs. Only 28.5% of the respondents are willing to change their phones. The most important reason for change is storage issue with the current phone set, i.e. 31.68% of the total. The next important reason was to buy the upgraded version of the same brand. So it is important for the companies to update the technology time to time so as to enhance the internal storage and launch advanced version of mobile phones.

Satisfaction level	Frequency	Percent	Want to change	Frequency	Percent	Reason for change	Frequency	Percent
VERY SATISFIED	226	40	YES	161	28.496	UPGRADED ONE	48	29.81
SATISFIED	220	42.48	NO	404	71.504	HANG PROBLEM	48 14	8.696
FAIR	89	15.75	Total	565	100	CAMERA	21	13.04
DISSATISF IED VERY	7	1.239				IPHONE	10	6.211
DISSATISF IED	3	0.531				STORAGE ISSUE	51	31.68
Total	565	100				NEW PHONE	17	10.56
						Total	161	100

Table 6: Satisfaction level of respondents with current mobile phones

Table 7 measures the association between current cost of mobile phone and the satisfaction level through chi-square test which is significant at 5 percent level. Based on the row and column data, it is quite clear that people who have invested in costly mobiles are more satisfied (63.48% and 58.54%) than the people who have bought cheaper mobiles.

		SATISFACTION WITH CURRENT BRAN D						
Price of Existing Phone	VERY SATISFIED	SATISFIED	FAIR	DISSATISFIED	VERY DISSATISFIED	Total	Pearson Chi- Square	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
BELOW 10000	10 (14.71 <sub>a</sub> ) (4.42 <sub>b</sub> )	34 (50) (14.17)	21 (30.88) (22.47)	3 (4.41) (42.86)	0(0) (0)	68	33.35	0.001**
10000- 20000	86 (30.935) (38.05)	124 (44.60) (51.67)	65 (23.38) (74.16)	3 (1.079) (42.86)	0 (0) (0)	278		
20000- 30000	17 (41.46) (7.52)	24 (58.54) (10)	0 (0) (0)	0 (0) (0)	0 (0) (0)	41		
30000 and ABOVE	113 (63.48) (50)	58 (32.58) (24.17)	3 (1.685) (3.37)	1 (0.56) (14.29)	3 (1.685) (100)	178		
	226	240	89	7	3	565		

Table 7: Chi-square test for Association between cost of Mobile Phone and satisfaction level (a= row wise percentage, b= column wise percentage, \*\*= significant at 5 percent level

#### Analysis of frequency of change of mobile phones

Table 8 indicates that 58.9% of the respondents are changing their mobile phones after using it for more than 2 years. It also confirm the fact that the youth generally do informed buying as they do not change their phones frequently and are satisfied with their current phones.

Time period	Frequency	Percent
WITHIN 6 MONTHS	3	0.53
6 MONTHS - 1YEAR	48	8.5
1 YEAR -2 YEAR S	181	32
2 YEARS	333	58.9
Total	565	100

 Table 8: Frequency of change of mobile phones

#### Analysis of brand which youth tend to purchase in future

Table 9 depicts youth preference and desire to purchase the mobile phones of Apple brand with 49.03% of the total. 20.53% of the total respondents want to purchase the mobile phones of Samsung in near future. It means Apple and Samsung are most preferred brand among youth in India. It also depicts that Apple Company has bright opportunities in near future to capture the demands of the youth. Brands like

Samsung, one plus can also get a considerable market share if proper analysis of the current demands and the offerings by their competitors in terms of features and price is made by them.

Brands	Frequency	Percent
VIVO	28	4.956
ONE PLUS	79	13.98
SAMSUNG	116	20.53
MICROMAX	7	1.239
APPLE	277	49.03
OTHERS	58	10.27
Total	565	100

Table 9: Most preferred brand of mobile phones

#### Analysis of willingness to spend on new phone

Table 10 illustrates that 41.77% of the total respondents are willing to purchase mobile phones in the range of 30000 and above. This shows that youth are willing to invest more for the best technology. As earlier it was only the big business class that used to purchase high end mobile phones but now the youth is also willing to purchase the mobile phones in this range. It also shows that the living standard of the people is improving.

Amount of investment	Frequency	Percent
10000 -		
20000	195	34.51
20000 -		
30000	134	23.72
30000 and		
Above	236	41.77
Total	565	100

Table 10: Average expenditure on mobile phone

#### Analysis of factor affecting purchase of smart phones by the youth

Table 11 indicates that factors play an important role in affecting the purchase decision of youth regarding the smart phone. In this case, fifteen factors were identified and respondents were asked to rate them on 5 point likert scale with 1=not important and 5=very important. Applying the factor reduction technique; it was found that these factors explained the 72.68 percent of the total variance. The result of factor reduction reveals that the quality of the mobile phone and the product features especially camera quality, storage; screen resolution and sound quality have the major impact rather than prices on the purchase of smart phones by the youth. So the smart phone companies should focus on delivering quality products to their customers.

Component		Initial Eig	en values	Extractio	on Sums of Squar	red Loadings
	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %
1	10.902	72.681	72.681	10.902	72.681	72.681
2	.925	6.167	78.848			
3	.783	5.219	84.068			
4	.455	3.035	87.103			
5	.358	2.384	89.487			
6	.295	1.968	91.455			
7	.274	1.825	93.280			
8	.245	1.636	94.916			
9	.172	1.144	96.060			
10	.166	1.107	97.167			
11	.136	.909	98.076			
12	.115	.770	98.846			
13	.076	.508	99.354			
14	.057	.379	99.733			
15	.040	.267	100.000			

#### **Total Variance Explained**

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis

Factors	Component
	1
PRICE	.708
BRAND	.757
QUALITY	.932
DESIGN	.874
PROCESSOR	.890
AFTERSALESERVICE	.828
ADVERTISEMENT	.684
FINANCING	.748
FAMILYANDPEERGROUP	.738
CAMERA	.947
STORAGE	.945
SCREENRESOLUTION	.901
AVAILABILITY	.877
SOUNDQUALITY	.922
VoLTEENABLED	.874

#### **Component Matrix**

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis

Table 11: Factor Analysis

#### Analysis of preferred mode of purchase

Table 12 shows that only 27.96% of the total has preferred to purchase online while 72.04% of the total has preferred to purchase offline. This shows that despite of much development in e-commerce, there is still lack of transactions that occurs using online mode. Youth still prefers to buy smart phones by going to outlets than buying online. This suggests that still there is hesitation on the part of youth to use online method for purchase mobile phones. The same is confirmed by another part of the table. It is clearly shown that 67.26 percent of the respondents prefer to pay in cash while buying mobile phones.

Mode of purchase	Frequency	Percent	Mode of payment	Frequency	Percent
OFFLINE	407	72.04	INSTALLMENT BASIS	52	9.204
ONLINE	158	27.96	CASH BASIS	380	67.26
			THROUGH BANK PAYMENTS	133	23.54
Total	565	100	Total	565	100

Table 12: Mode of purchase and payment

#### Conclusion

The study has been carried out with the objective to analyse consumer behaviour of a young customer while buying the mobile phone. The various attributes like preferred brands of the mobile phone, investment, current satisfaction level, payment methods have an influence on buying along with the important product features that affect the consumer behaviour have been analysed. The result of the study shows that all the educated respondents own a smart phone; the level of being technology savvy can be well imagined with it. It could also be due to increased standard of living of Indian families as a whole. The influence of the family and friends is much more than any other on this particular class of buyers. In terms of amount invested, this class of people either buy mid-range phone or high end phones and are satisfied with their current purchase of mobile and they don't change it very frequently. It means they buy the products only after thorough analysis of facts and figures relating to mobile phones. Moreover, the people who have invested in costly mobiles are more satisfied than others. Even if they want to change, the reasons are better and upgraded technology, better camera quality and storage capacity. Therefore, the companies should focus on improving these features in their mobile phones. Apple and Samsung are most preferred brand among customers that can be due to their brand image and better product features. It was found that youngster hesitates purchasing a mobile phone online and still prefers offline mode of purchase even today when we all talk about digitalisation. This can be attributed to lack of physical check, fraud in payments and in delivery of products in case of online buying. As far as the factors affecting the choice of

mobile phones are concerned, price is not a leading factor for the choice of mobile phones. It is quality and the product features like camera quality, screen resolution and storage of the phone that are considered by the youth while purchasing the mobile phones. It means the price has taken somewhere the back seat while choosing the mobile phones. So, marketers should concentrate on better product features and updated technology so as to gain a competitive position in the market. It is further suggested that the manufacturing mobile phone company should keenly look forward to equip the mobile phone with better accessories as the consumers will not tolerate the frequent breakdown due to faulty mechanism of the mobile phones.

This research opens new avenues for further investigation as it can be extended to other geographical areas. Moreover, the usage of mobile phone of different age groups or the consumer behavior for a specific mobile brand can also be studied in the future to get better insights of the Indian market.

#### Works Cited

- Agarwal, V.; Sahoo, R. and Agarwal, A. (2019) 'A Study on Factors Affecting Mobile Phone Buying Behaviour in Bhubaneswar and Cuttack,' *Indian Journal of Marketing*, 49(11), http://www.indianjournalofmarketing.com/index.php/ijom/article/view/148274.
- Basha, S. S.; Lakshmanna, B. C. and Fayaz, K. (2011) 'Empirical Study On Buying Behaviour Of Mobile Phone In India,' Asia Pacific Journal Of Research In Business Management, 2(6): 298-316.
- Das, D. (2012) 'An empirical study of factors influencing buying behaviour of youth consumers towards mobile handsets- A case study in coastal districts of Odisha,' *Asian Journal of Research in Business Economics and Management*, 2(April): 68-82.
- Girija and Kumar S. (2013) 'India is set to become the youngest country by 2020,' https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/india-is-set-to-become-the-youngest-country-by-2020/article4624347.ece, Accessed on July 24, 2018.
- Kaushal, S. K. (2016) 'Factors Affecting the Purchase Intension of Smartphone: A Study of Young Consumers in the City of Lucknow,' *Pacific Business Review International* 8(12): 1-16.
- Keelson, S. A. (2012) 'Factors Affecting Consumer Choice of Multiple Mobile Services,' *Global Journal Of Business Research*, 6(4) Ftp://Ftp.Repec.Org/Opt/Redif/Repec/Ibf/ Gjbres/Gjbr-V6n4-2012/Gjbr-V6n4-2012-5.Pdf, Accessed on January 08, 2019.

- Kumari, P. (2017) 'A Study On Buying Behaviour In Selecting Mobile Phones With Reference To Tirupur City,' International Journal for Innovative Research in Multidisciplinary Field, III(11): 75-82.
- Liu, C. M. (2002) 'The Effects Of Promotional Activities On Brand Decision On The Cellular Telephone Industry,' *The Journal of Product and Brand Management*, 11: 42-51.
- Mesay, S. (2013) 'A Study On Consumer Buying Behaviour Of Mobile Phone Devices,' Journal of Marketing and Consumer Research, An Open Access International Journal, 2, http://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JMCR/article/viewFile/10064/10277, Accessed on July 24, 2018.
- Mohan, A. (2014) 'Consumer Behaviour towards Smartphone Industry in Indian Market,' https://esource.dbs.ie/handle/10788/1812, Accessed on July 25, 2018.
- Rakib, Md. R. H. K. (2019) 'Factors Influencing Purchase Intention of Cellular Phones among the University Students in Bangladesh, *European Journal of Business Management*, 11(2): 92-101.
- Sethi, A. and Chandel, A. (2015) 'A Study on Consumer Buying Behaviour Preferences towards Entry Level Smart phones'- *International Journal of Applied Business and Economic Research*, 13(3): 1173-89.
- Sharma, L. S. K. (2010) 'An Empirical Study of Consumer Behaviour in Mobile Phone Market in Bhutan,' *Management Convergence*, 1(1): 42-48.
- Taneja, J. J. and Kumar, J. N. (2017) 'Factors Affecting Consumer Buying Decisions of Smart phones,' *International Journal of Research in Business Management*, 5(9): 179-200.
- Trivedi, R. and Raval, R. (2016) 'Consumer buying intentions towards smart phones: A conceptual framework,' *International Journal of Applied Research*, 2(12): 736-42
- Vishesh; Mittal, S and Bali, S. (2018) 'Factors Affecting Consumer Buying Behavior Towards Mobile Phones,' *Journal Of Management* 5(4): 465-80.

## **Developing a Skilled Workforce for GST Practices**

11

Kritika Tekwani, Research Scholar, Management Bhartiya Skill Development University, Jaipur and Dr Rinku Raghuvanshi Associate Prof, Management Bhartiya Skill Development University, Jaipur

GST is a new fiscal tax reform in India. This indirect tax is applicable since July 2017. But Professionals, Manufacturers, Traders, Retailers, and Exporters who are doing business and dealing with taxes and filing returns are still confused about GST and its guidelines, because the GST council (GSTC) is still changing the Policies, Tax rates, Policies related with electronics-way bill, Returns formats, GST refund application forms from time to time. To overcome these problems, the Government has taken an initiative and started national training programs to generate awareness about GST. The paper discusses these national level training programs run by the Government of India for learning GST practices. It focuses on the need of skilled work force and impact of GST training programs. This study also discusses various GST practices handled by the professionals.

*Keywords:* Goods and Services Tax, skilled worked force, government, returns, youth

#### 1. Introduction

This new indirect tax regime will create an integrated national market which will create more opportunities for business and increase job creation. The government understands the relevance of vocational education of GST for the youth so it has started training programs to develop a skilled workforce for learning GST practice. These programs will help them to explore wider opportunities in the job market. GST trained professionals will help businesses in various areas, such as migration from earlier tax regime to the GST, registration, returns, etc. This study examines the need of training requires to execute the GST practices.

#### 1.1 Skilled workforce

The National Policy on Skill Development was approved by the Indian cabinet in February 2009 with the objective of creating a workforce that has improved skills, knowledge and internationally recognized qualifications that can result in gaining access to decent employment and enhancing India's competitiveness in the global labor market (Neeraj, 2013).

India's corporate market is aligning its financial and accounting system under this new indirect tax regime and for this it needs a specialized workforce who will perform accounting functions. With the implementation of GST, the demand of GST-Professionals in various industries like Insurance, Banking, Finance, IT, etc. has increased.

## 1.2 Goods and Services tax

This tax is levied at the destination of goods/services. It was introduced in India with the 101<sup>st</sup> amendment by Government of India. GST is a comprehensive value added tax on goods and services. It eliminates various taxes like VAT, Entertainment Tax, Luxury Tax, Service Tax, Surcharge etc. Products which are excluded from GST are petroleum products, alcohol and tobacco product. India's GST is based on three model which includes Central GST, State GST and Dual GST. Though tax is payable to both Center and State Government, control will be exercised either by State Government Authorities or Central GST are levied by the Central Government while State GST is levied by the State Government.

## Cascading tax effect (Tax on Tax)

GST eliminates the effect of higher prices which ultimately increases the rates of the goods/services. The following table shows the difference in the prices of good Before GST and After GST.

Before GST		After GST		
Product sold from Jai	pur to Jodhpur	Product sold from Jaipur to Jodhpur		
Price = 5000		Price = 5000		
VAT@10%	500	CGST@5%	250	
		SGST@5%	250	
TOTAL VALUE	5500	TOTAL VALUE	5500	
Product Sold from Jodhpur to Gujarat		Product Sold from Jodhpur to Gujarat		
Cost: 5500		Cost: 5500		
CST@10%	550	IGST@10%	50	
SELL PRICE	6050	IGST: 550 CGST -250 SGST -250		
		SELL PRICE	5550	

Table 1: Cascading Tax Effect

#### 2. Review of literature

A number of studies have been conducted to examine various facts about the impact of GST. We have reviewed various papers to get more knowledge about the GST and its implementations. Some of these are listed below.

Rupa (2017), in her research entitled *GST in India: An Overview*, attempts to explore the history, concepts, advantages, disadvantages of GST. Internationally, GST was first implemented by France in 1954; Singapore has only single rate of tax. Standard rate of GST in world ranges between 15-20%. This study shows four slabs of GST: 5%, 12%, 18%, 28% and three models of GST: Central GST, State GST and Dual GST. This research paper finds various obstacles including IT network and infrastructure related with this new indirect tax.

Kour et al. (2016) conducted 'A Study on Impact of GST After its Implementation' and showed the prime model of GST: GST at Central, State and at both levels. This

model is based on Dual GST which is the combination of CGST and SGST. This study finds a gap between the indirect tax system and GST. Authors also discuss the problems associated with the GST which is related to the IT infrastructure of India and disputes between the Center and State over tax distribution. However, GST is structured for the simplification of the Indirect tax system in India. It will reduce the compliance burden of Manufactures, Traders, etc. and will bring transparency in the taxation system.

Lourdunathan and Xavier (2016) conduct 'A study on implementation of goods and services tax (GST) in India: prospectus and challenges' and discuss the opinions of manufactures, traders and society about the proposed GST. They use the exploratory research technique and compared the implementation of GST/VAT with other countries. They also state challenges like political pressure, unorganized sector, cash flows, working capital etc. The paper discusses the cascading effects of taxes which imply tax on tax and complex structure of previous tax regime, which increase the cost of compliances. The proposed structure of GST is based on the electronic system which will reduce the corruption and tax evasion. All the things like GST returns, refund application and ITC claim will be done electronically.

Suman (2015), in her research titled 'Study on New GST Era and its Impact on Small Businesses Entrepreneurs,' studies the positive and negative impact of GST. This study is based on primary data which was collected via a survey conducted on the basis of income of the dealers. Data is collected through a questionnaire, grouping dealers according to the turnover of their business. D1 category dealers were unaware about GST, D2 composition dealers were highly confused, D3 category includes wholesalers and retailers who hired professionals for the work related to GST and D4 category dealers were not affected very much by the implementation of GST. This article concludes that dealers have a mixed opinion so impact of GST on small and medium enterprises will vary from state to state.

Hajela (2012) in his paper 'Shortage of Skilled Workers: A Paradox of the Indian Economy' examines the lack of coordination in the federal Government system. The paper is in three sections; first section includes current structure of vocational training system, second section is related with construction specific vocational training and third section includes Vocational Training in India. It discusses the need of casual workers (construction workers, migrant workers from rural areas who have poor education). This paper finds that in India there is a lack of skill

workforce in spite of various vocational program. It also makes the comparison of training in between China and India.

These studies suggest some important things about GST, which includes dual indirect tax structure, where Central and State Government work mutually. After the review of literature, it is found that it is not a new tax but due to lack of knowledge about the GST and its working people are confused about it. In India there is shortage of skilled of workforce who can effectively understand GST practices and disseminate accurate knowledge to concern people.

#### 3. Objectives

- to study the concepts of GST
- to know the practices of GST
- to interpret the training programs run by the Government for developing skilled workforce

#### 4. Developing a Skilled Workforce for learning GST Practices

The demand for expert tax professionals has increased after introduction of new indirect tax. GST council changes its policies from time to time according to the problem faced by the manufacturer, traders, dealers, exporters, etc. Government also realizes the need of skilled workforce for doing the GST practices known as GST Practitioner and has started various national level training programs.

Government has realized the need for awareness of new tax regime and for the development of skilled workforce who can handle the new tax practices so it has started various training programs which will also create the employment for the youth. National training programs are as follows:

#### 4.1 Business/Job Oriented Program on Goods and Services Tax

This training program is run and monitored by the National Institute of Entrepreneurship and Small Business Development, U.P. The objective behind this training program is to make the career of youth irrespective of academic background. Since GST is the new tax regime so every person will learn it from start. This program will also help manufacturers, traders and any party that is doing business and facing problems related to GST. This is an initiative of the government for making people aware about the goods and services tax and also providing the

employment opportunities to youth. NIESBUD organizes this program for developing a skilled workforce for undertakin GST practices.

Persons who can join this program are

- persons doing business: manufacturers, traders, dealers, retailers, exporters
- professionals in practice: CA, CS, advocates, CMA, etc.
- non-commerce background: students who are from arts, science background
- retired persons

## 4.2 Mastering GST with Emphasis on Manufacturing Sector

This program is started by Micro Small Medium Enterprise (MSME). Training program is for businessmen, entrepreneurs, accountants and educated but unemployed youth. It includes concept of GST, registration (regular/composition), issue of GST invoices, valuation and classification, input tax credit, etc.

The main purpose of introducing this training program is to educate people about GST, solve the compliance problems of traders and also generate skilled workforce for handling the work of GST. It will bring transparency in system. With the implementation of GST, need of GST practitioners is increasing. These skilled workforces will be known as GSTP.

GSTP (Goods and Service Tax Practitioner) performs work like *e-mitra*. After getting the training people can work as GSTP. Taxpayers can search GSTP on the GST website. For becoming GSTP a person has to submit an application through a form of GST PCT-1. After the scrutiny of application, certificate is given in the form of GST PCT-2. If the application is rejected, then GST PCT-4 form will be generated.

## 4.3 Entrepreneurship Training on Goods and Services Tax

This program was started by NIESBUD with an aim to develop skills among the youth and enble them for entrepreneurship. This training is useful for the youth who want to start their own business. Government issues a training certificate after the completion of this program. It includes following practices: registration, returns, refund, cancellation of registration etc. In this program they get theoretical as well

practical knowledge with the demonstration. NIESBUD is an organization that works under the Ministry of Skill Development and Entrepreneurship to promote entrepreneurship.

## 4.4 GST Professional with Tally ERP-9

This course is planned to train youth on GST norms which include the training of GST with Tally Enterprise Resource Planning 9. This program is also arranged by National Institute for Entrepreneurship & Small Business Development (NIESBUD). Contents of this program are accounting entries in GST, reverse charge mechanism, entry of GST numbers, registration, refund and amendments made in GST. The main objective behind this program is to generate awareness about the changes that have come in tally system as compared to earlier tax regime.

## 4.5 GST consultant Training Program

The GST consultant training program weas launched on the 2<sup>nd</sup> anniversary of World Youth Skill Day at around 100 training centers. The training is provided under Pradhan Mantri Kaushal Vikas Yojana (PMKVY) to make the new indirect tax regime smooth and glitch-free. It enables the youth to become professionals with the basic norms of GST, calculation of tax liability, registration, refund, etc. The purpose of this training program is to make the youth a skilled workforce for GST practices.

This consultant training program is running in Delhi (IL&FS Skills), Bangalore (Roman Technologies) and Bhopal (AISECT).

S.No.	Practices		
1.	Registration / Cancellation under GST		
	- Input Service Distribution (ISD)		
	- Casual Taxable Person		
	- Migration from VAT/Service Tax to GST		
	- Regular/Composition Scheme		
2.	Filling of GST Returns		
	- GSTR1		
	- GSTR2		
	- GSTR3		
	- GSTR3B/GSTR4		
	- Annual Return		
3.	GST Refund Application		
	- RFD-01		
	- RFD-11		

4.	Reverse Charge Mechanism	
	- Unregistered Dealer in GST	
	Supplies under GST	
5.	- Intra- State Supplies	
	- Inter- State Supplies	
6.	Levy of Taxes	
	- CGST & SGST	
	- IGST	
7.	Application of Electronic Way Bill	
	- Registration/ Cancellation	
	- Extension of Period	
8.	GST Tax Slabs	
	- 0.3, 5, 12, 18, 28	
9.	Allocation of Harmonized System of Nomenclature and Services Accounting Code	
10.	Fixation of Time and Place of Supply	

#### 5. Impact of GST Training Programs

- they will solve GST related problems of traders, manufactures, retailers, dealers, exporters, etc.
- they will create the employment opportunities for the youth and they will become GST practitioners
- they will help in implementation of GST effectively and efficiently
- they will make the youth skillful and professional

#### Recommendations

This single tax replaced various indirect taxes. The main reason behind implementation of GST is to reduce cascading tax effect which will bring transparency in the system and also eliminate the difference between goods and service. The GSTC changes its policies from time to time including changes in tax rate, E-way bill laws, return format, refund procedure, etc. because of which business persons, traders and professionals are facing the problems. For the implementation and working of GST effectively and efficiently, the Government has started various training programs to educate the people about GST. This will also create employment opportunities for youth as they will learn the GST practices and become the GST practitioners. The aim of these programs is to make the youth

skillful by leaning GST practices. Success of these programs depends on how well people learn the GST practices. The objective behind these training programs is to offer career opportunities to youth irrespective of academic background. GST is a new tax regime so every person will learn it from start. The Government should start more training and also promotional programs to generate awareness about GST.

#### Works Cited

- Rupa R. (2017) 'GST in India: An Overview,' *International Education & Research Journal*, 3 (2): 88-89.
- Kour, M.; Chaudhary, K.; Singh S. and Kaur, B. (2016) 'A Study on Impact of GST After its Implementation,' *International Journal of Innovative Studies in Sociology and Humanities*, 1(2), 17-24.
- Lourdunathan F. and Xavier P. (2016) 'A study on implementation of goods and services tax (GST) in India: Prospectus and challenges' *International Journal of Applied Research*, 3(1): 626-29.
- Suman, S. (2015) <u>'</u>Study on New GST Era and its Impact on Small Businesses Entrepreneurs,' *Journal of Accounting, Finance & Marketing Technology*, 1(2): 24-36.
- Neeraj, A. (2013) 'Skilling the workforce: Skill Development Initiatives in India,' India Brand Equity Foundation.
- Hajela, R. (2012) 'Shortage of Skilled Workers: A Paradox of the Indian Economy,' SKOPE Research Paper No. 111.

## Note on Contributors

Tahani Allouh and Amani Allouh are graduate students at the Curriculum and Instruction Program, College of Education, Qatar University, Qatar.

Dr NisreenAnati is Professor of English Language Education at Qatar University, Qatar. Her research interests include Arabic Children's Literature and language education. She is widely published in the area of education including adult education and education of people with disabilities.

Dr Nilesh Arora is an academician with 17 years of industry, teaching and research experience. He is presently associated with Chandigarh University as Professor of Marketing and Director, University School of Business. He has a Ph.D. in Management and MBA in Marketing. He is an avid researcher, prolific writer and an academician of repute.

Dr Praseeda Challapalli is serving as Professor with the Department of Management Studies SRM Institute of Science and Technology (SRMIST), Vadapalani. She has done her MHRM, MBA and is FDP IIMA fellow and has an illustriously published career spanning more than 25 years.

A. Dineshwar is Manager Sales at Lifestyle Finance, Bajaj Finance Limited, Chennai.

Dr Sapna Dogra is presently working as Assistant Professor in the Department of English of Government College Baroh, Kangra, Himachal Pradesh University. She holds a Ph.D from Jawaharlal Nehru University. Her research interests include Folklore Studies, Translation Studies, Gender Studies, Indian English Writing and ELT.

Sanjiv Gupta has served in the corporate world for 36 years, and he superannuated as Chief GM, Manufacturing, SML ISUZU Limited, India. He is a TQM consultant with many leading organizations in India. He led the team for implementing TQM and TPM at Mahindra & Mahindra (Swaraj Division). He has presented papers at various national and International conferences.

Dr Kiran Jindal is serving as Assistant Professor in Commerce at Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women Chandigarh. She has served at various prestigious institutions for a period of around 15 years and her area of research interest is Marketing and Finance, especially financial derivatives, Stock markets and corporate finance.

Kamakshi Malik is pursuing her PhD at IKGPTU, Jalandhar, Punjab.

Dr Rinku Raghuvanshi is serving as Associate Professor in the Department of Management at Bhartiya Skill Development University, Jaipur. She holds a doctoral degree in Economics and a Masters in Business Administration specializing in Human Resource Management. She has co-authored 2 books.

Dr Minakshi Rana is serving as Assistant Professor in the discipline of Sociology at Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women, Chandigarh. She has worked in the area of Social Inclusion through Right to Education for her doctoral thesis. Policy perspective focusing on sustainable development through education and Inclusive teaching practices are her areas of interest.

Disha Sharma is Assistant Professor in the Post Graduate Department of Commerce, at Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women, Chandigarh. She specializes in e-commerce is currently pursuing Ph.D in marketing from UBS. She has a teaching experience of 9 years in graduate and post graduate classes.

Dr Ritu Sharma has been serving as Assistant Professor, English in DAV College, Sector-10, Chandigarh for 10 years. Her area of my specialization is Indian Writing in English and English Translations of Indian writers. She has authored a book on Toru Dutt and her doctoral research covered English translations of the three Indian poets viz. Suryakant Tripathi Nirala, Faiz Ahmed Faiz and Pash.

Harmail Singh is Assistant Professor at University School of Open Learning, Panjab University, Chandigarh. He has a Master's degree in Education and Arts and his areas of interest include Punjabi Poetry and Linguistics.

Kritika Tekwani is currently pursuing her doctoral degree in Management from Bhartiya Skill Development University, Jaipur. She also holds a degree of Masters in Business Administration in Finance and Masters in Commerce. She has coauthored 2 books.

Prof Rakesh K. Wats is Head of the Department, ETV, National Institute of Technical Teachers' Training Institute, Chandigarh.

## **Editorial Policies**

## **Double-blind Peer Review**

*New Horizons* follows a double-blind peer review process. It does not disclose the identity of the reviewer(s) to the author(s) and does not disclose the identity of the author(s) to the reviewer(s).

## **Publication Frequency**

New Horizons is published annually.

## **Submission Policy**

Submissions are accepted throughout the year to be included in subsequent issues. *New Horizons* does not levy any Article Processing or Article Submission Charges. Authors can submit papers by mail at newhorizonsmcm@gmail.com.

## **Publication policy**

Only original contributions should be submitted.

Contributions should be accurately referenced. If photographs, artwork, graphs, illustrations or any such materials are used from other sources (including electronic), proper referencing should be given. The responsibility of procuring requisite permissions from copyright owners of materials lies completely with the author(s).

Translations (if any) should be accredited.

Proper acknowledgment should be given to all sources that have been used in the paper.

Entries are scanned using plagiarism detection software to check originality of content before sending for blind review.

Only entries that have been approved post the double-blind peer review and editing process shall be published.

Authors have the right to reuse, archive and distribute their own articles after publication, provided the prior publication of the work in *New Horizons* is duly acknowledged.

Accurate information should be provided about the author(s) in order.

Papers submitted should not have been published earlier or be under consideration elsewhere at the same time.

#### **Ethics policy**

*New Horizons* provides a platform to disseminate latest research work across multiple disciplines and to acquaint the readers with advances in contemporary academics. The editorial team has a firm stance against plagiarism, data falsification, inappropriate authorship credit and other such unethical practices. All submissions are checked for plagiarism using anti-plagiarism software and if any submission is found to be plagiarized, it is not considered for publication. An author submitting plagiarized papers may also be blacklisted from future submissions. A stringent ethics policy governs the process of publication at each level.

The Editorial Board must ensure complete confidentiality under the Double-blind Peer Review. Information regarding the manuscript must not be shared with anyone other than the author and the reviewer. The reviewers must not know whose paper they are reviewing and similarly the author must not be disclosed the identity of the reviewer. Editors must excuse themselves from considering manuscripts where they have conflict of interest. Editors are responsible for deciding which papers will be published.

The Reviewer(s) assist(s) in improving the quality of the paper. It is important that they inform the editorial board in case they are reviewing similar papers as their reviews contribute significantly to the decision-making.

The Authors must send their research paper accompanied with a certificate declaring that the work is original and unpublished. The author can download the copyright certificate from the website www.newhorizonsjournal.com. Any manipulation with the intent to deceive or mislead the readers is a form of misconduct, which may lead to blacklisting of the erring contributor.

Authors are advised to record the findings of their research in their complete form so that their credibility can be ensured by the reviewers and readers alike. Authors may be asked to provide the raw/primary data for editorial review, and should be prepared to provide public access to such data, if necessary.

The author(s) shall be completely responsible for permissions/legalities pertaining to any research materials used for the writing of a paper submitted.

Authors should write a statement regarding conflict of interest, if any. The statement should describe all potential sources of bias, including affiliations, funding sources, and financial or management relationships, that might interfere with the interpretation of the work.

All funding sources for the project/study should be credited in the 'Acknowledgements section'. In addition, if a manuscript concerns a commercial product, the manufacturer's name must be indicated in the 'Materials and Methods' section or elsewhere in the text in an obvious manner.

The ethical standards of experiments on animals and human beings must be in accordance with the guidelines provided by the CPCSEA (Committee for the Purpose of Control and Supervision of Experiments on Animals) and ICMR (Indian Council of Medical Research) respectively.

All submissions dealing with human subjects must declare the approval status from the Institutional Ethics Committee in their respective institutions and the status of informed, written consent from the subjects. Studies involving animals need to be submitted with a clearance certificate from the Institutional Animal Ethics Committee. Animal experimental procedures should be as humane as possible and the details of anaesthetics used should be clearly stated. The manuscript must clearly identify any chemicals, procedures, or equipment that have any hazards inherent in their use. The journal will not consider any paper which is ethically unacceptable.

## Subscription Order Form

New Horizons - A Multidisciplinary Research Journal (ISSN 2277-5218) Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women, Chandigarh				
Type of Subscription (Tick) IndividualInstitution				
Name				
Address				
Tel./Mobile No				
E-mail				
Duration of Subscription				
Payment Details				
In favour of Principal, MCM DAV College, Sector 36-A, Chandigarh Payable at Chandigarh				
DD No Date				
Bank Amount				
Annual SubscriptionIndividual: Rs. 400/-Institution: Rs. 600/-				

Please send all subscription forms at the following address: The Principal, MCM DAV College for Women, Sector 36-A, Chandigarh, India 160036

# Mehr Chand Mahajan DAV College for Women

Sector 36-A, Chandigarh (UT) © 0172-2603355, Fax: 0172-2613047 website: www.mcmdavcwchd.edu.in